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ABSTRACT

SIR JOHN ELDON GORST AND
BRITISH SOCIAL POLICY 1875~1914

The period of Liberal rule in Britain between 1906 and 1914 is
justly remembered for its social reforms. The 'New Liberalism'" of these
years produced the social legislation which constituted the nucleus of what
is now the British '""Welfare State'. These measures represented a reversal

of the individualistic, laissez-faire doctrines of the nineteenth century,

a reversal effected partly through the efforts of social investigators,
partly as a result of hard-headed political expediency and the ambitions
of particular Government ministers, and partly the Liberal Government's
response to the threat of Socialism. These reforms also resulted from the
efforts of various individuals and many of them, particularly those of
Cabinet rank, such as Lloyd George and Winston Churchill, have received
recognition from historians for their efforts. Other equally concerned
and energetic reformers have virtually been ignored. One of these is Sir
John Eldon Gorst. Through examination of Gorst's speeches in the House of
Commons, his writings in the periodic press, and his communications to the
Iimes, plus reports therein of his various activities coanected with social
reform measures, it is shown that Gorst made a significant contribution to

late Victorian and Edwardian social legislation.
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INTRODUCTION

Turiog the quarter century-between 1880 and 1914, mounting
social, economic and political problems gradually effected a change in
attitudes concerning the role of the State in society which dramatically
transformed British social policy by the eve of the First World War. In
responding ko the various problems, successive British governments found
themselves being drawn into ever-increasing areas of national life until
governments themselves became prime sgents of social change. During the
pericd 1880~1914, the functions of the State expanded steadily, culminating
in a concentrated burst of social reform activity during the Liberal
Administration of 1906-1914. This period saw the intveoduction of school
meals and medical services for children, old-age pensions, and insurance
against health and uvnemployment. Minimum wages were fixed in certain
industries and labour exchanges were instituted. The enactment of these
measures owed much to practical politics, mest specifically, to successive
governments' reactions to the social, economic, and political developments
of the period and to their desire not to be outbid by their parlismentary
rivals. However, much of this legislation was patterned on ideas
formulated and promoted by social reformers and progressive peliticiang

during the final decades of the nineteenth century.l Many of these

1?or background to these various social, economic and political developments

see Keith Burgess, The Challenge of Labour: Shaping British Society., 1850-1930
(London, 1980), Chap. 2-4. H.V. Emy, Liberals, Radicals and Social Politics,
1892-1914 (Cambridge, 1973). Eric Evans, Sogial Policy, 1830~1914: Individualism,
Collectivism, and the origins of the Welfare State (Londom, 1978). J.R. Hay,

The Origins of the Liberal Welfare Reforms, 1906-1914 {London, 1975).
"Donald Read, England, 1863-1914 (Londor, 1979). Paul Thompson, The Edwardians:
The Remaking of British Society (London, 1975).




individuals have received recognition from historians for their efforts
while other equally concerned and energetic reformers have been largely
ignored. Included in the latter group is Conservative politician,

8ir John Eldon Gorst.

Gorst had a long and noteworthy political career. He gave
forty years of service to the Tory Party, thirty-three of them in
Parliament. Between 1868 and 1874 he served as Party Agent, during
which time he effected a reorganization of party machinery which resulted
in the resounding Conservative victory in the 1874 General Election.

He subsequently held the offices of Solicitor-General (1883-86), Under-
Secretary for India (1886-1891), Financial Secretary to the Treasury
(1891~92), and Vice-President of the Committee of Council on FEducation
(1895-1902). He was also a member of the Tory party's prominent parlia-
mentary ginger group, the Fourth Party, and was British Flenipotentiary
ta the 1890 Berlin Labour Conference. Throughout his career Gorst
actively promoted social issues, in the Commons, on public platforms, and
in the press, and his efforts had a marked influence upon the social
legislation of the late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries.

Certain aspects of Gorst's colourful career have been the subject
of individual histo:ical studies, His work in the reorganization of the

Conserzvabive Party has been examined in detail;2 the expleits of the

28&&, for example, James Cornford, "The Transformation of Conservatism
in the Late Nineteenth Century', Victorian Studies 7 (1963-64): 35-66.
E.J. Feuchtwanger, "J.E. Gorst and the Central Organization of the
Conservative Party, 1870-1882", Bulletin of the Institute of Historical
Research, 32 (1959), 192-208.




Fourth Party, a quartet of Parliamentarians which included the renowned
Randolph Churchill and future Prime Ministexr A.J. Balfour, have been
frequently recorded;3 and Gorst's role in the development of the

extensive educational reforms of the period 1896-1902 has been scrutinized.4
However, because of his undeniable success in reorganizing and invigorating
the Tory party machinery during the ‘seventies and 'eighties, historians

in general, "have been content to accept him as a good deed in a naughty
world, and he has passed into undergraduate history as a byword for an
imaginative approach to borough Conservatism which an insensitive party
orthodoxy foolishly chose to ignore".5 Consequently, Gorst's efforts to
obtain the reform and extension of British social welfare institutions,

which have been acknowledged by many of his contemporaries, have largely

been neglected by historians. In his work, Iorv Democracy, W.J.
Wilkinson has touched upon Gorst's social reform endeavours,6 while those
he put forth during Disraeli's last Administration have been noted by

Paul Smith;7 and Gorst's early twentieth-century agitation for increased

3See Winston S. Churchill, Lord Randolph Churchill (1906, London, 1952),
Chap. 3. H.E. Gorst, The Fourth Partv (London, 1906), R.R. James, Lord
Randolph Churchill (London, 1959), Chap. 3.

4See, for example, Eric Eaglesham, From School Beard to Local Authority
(London, 1956). Bermard M. Allen, Siy Robert Morant (London, 1934), Part 3.
See also, N. Daglish, "The Educational Work of Sir John Gorst" (Ph.D.
dissertation, University of Durham, 1974)}.

5J.R. Vincent, " 'A Sort of second~rate Australia': A note on Gorst and
democracy, 1865-8", Historical Studies (Australia and New Zealand), 15
(1973), 539-544.

GW.J. Wilkinson, Tory Democracy (New York, 1925).

7y, Smith, Disraelian Conservatism and Social Reform (London, 1967).




State responsibility for child welfare has been discussed by Bentley B.
Gilbert.8 However, as yet there has been no work devoted solely to the
examination of Gorst's contributions to Briéish social policy of the
later nineteenth and early twentieth centuries. One explanation for
this omission may be the absence of both personal papers and an auto-
biography but, whatever the reason, this neglect is regrettable because
Gorst's achievements in the area of social reform were even more
innovative and permanent than his successes in party organization. This
dissertation will attempt to justify this latter claim by providing a

comprehensive study of the social reform dimension of Gorst's career.

8

Bentley B. Gilbert, "Sir John Eldon Gorst and the Children of the Nation",
Bulletin of the History of Medicine, 28 (1954), 243-251., "Sir John Eldon
Gorst: Conservative Rebel", Historian, 18 (1956), 151-169.




CHAPTER I

THE EARLY YEARS

As W.T. Stead observed, '"Sir John Gorst was not born in the
purple".l The second son of Elizabeth and Edward Chaddock Gorst, John
Eldon Gorst was born at Preston on May 24, 1835 into an old established
Lancashire family which had been Tory since at least the second half of
the seventeenth century‘.2 Edward Gorst, who took the name of Lowndes upon
succeeding to the family property in 18533, was, at the time of his second
son's birth, a solicitor in Preston and Clerk of the Peace for the County
of Lancashire. As a child, Gorst was not banished to a public school but
remained at home to be educated locally at Preston Grammar School, after
which he entered St. John's College, Cambridge. There he distinguished
himself, becoming Third Wrangler in the Mathematical Tripos of 1857 and
being elected Fellow of his college in the same year.4 It was also during
those years, through participation in the activities of the Cambridge
Union, that Gorst developed the debating skills which were later to become

renowned within the House of Commons and upon political and public platforms

1”Character Sketch: December. Sir John Gorst', Review of Reviews 3 (1891):
575-585. Hereafter referred to as "Character Sketch".

2H.W. Clemesha, A History of Preston in Amounderness (Manchester, 1912),
p. 210. Dictionary of National Biography (Oxford, 1927), pp. 218-219.

3The eldest son of this branch of the Gorst family assumed the name Lowndes
under the testamentary injunction of Robert Lowndes of Palteron. See, Sir
John Bernard Burke, A Genealogical and Heraldic Listing of the Landed Gentry
of Great Britain, ed. Ashworth P. Burke, 14 ed. (London, 1925), p. 1130.

4Dictionarv of National Biography, p. 218. The Times, 5 April, 1916.

4.
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throughout Britain and abroad.5 This phase of his education completed,
Gorst decided upon the Bar as his profession and, following a European
holiday, began reading Law at the Inner Teﬁple. However, a few months
later his father fell seriously ill and Gorst abandoned his legal studies
and took a position as mathematics master at Rossall School, Lancashire,
in order to be close to his ailing parent:.6 Following the death of his
father, in 1859, Gorst decided against resuming his preparations for the
Bar and resolved to leave the "tame and unadventurous life in England" in
order to 'try a more active existence in the Colonies".7

This new existence Gorst now decided to seek abroad was that of
lay missionary in the South Seas and when, in late December 1859, he left
Liverpool aboard the White Star liner 'Red Jacket', bound for Auckland, it
was under the auspices of Bishop Selwyn,8 a fellow of St. John's, who
intended that the new recruit assist Bishop Patteson with his work among

the Polynesian natives.9 Confidence in Gorst's suitability for this task,

5Leslie Stephen, Life of Henry Fawcett, 4th ed. (London, 1886), p. 28.

6H.E. Gorst, The Fourth Party (London, 1906), p. 25. Hereafter referred
to as H.E. Gorst, Fourth Party.

7

H.E. Gorst, Fourth Party, pp. 25-26.

8New Zealand National Archives (hereafter referred to as NZNA), Gore-Browne
Papers 2/3, p. 24. Sir T. Gore-Browne to Sir Charles Clifford, 20 September
1862. George Augustus Selwyn (1809-1878), Bishop of New Zealand, 1841-1868.

9”Character Sketch", p. 576. Some years later, following his return to
England, Gorst offered a totally different explanation of the underlying
motives precipitating his departure for the Antipodes. 'My object in visiting
the Colony", he wrote, 'was to investigate for myself the question how half-
civilised people ought to be managed. From my arrival in May 1860, to my
departure in August 1863, this was my one employment and pursuit'. (Parlia-
mentary Papers, [hereafter referred to as PP], 1865, 37: 198-199. J.E.

Gorst to Sir Frederick Rogers, 20 December, 1864.) The explanation for this
discrepancy in Gorst's interpretation of his reasons for going to New Zealand
may be that, in retrospect, Gorst's latter claim corresponded more closely to
the actual nature of the work carried on by him there, where the majority of
his time had been spent as a Government Officer.



and his sincerifty in embarking upon it, was expressed by Rishop Patteson
himself shortly after Gorst's departure for New Zealand. "AlLl we have
heard of him promises well. He has great ability as a mathematician and
seems desirous of working away from the right mntive“.la During the voyage
out, between fulfilling the role of substitute ship's doctor and helping
suppress a mutiny aboard the 'Red Jacket', Gorst found time to fall in love
with fellow passenger Miss Mary Fiizabeth Moore, daughter of the Rev.
Lorenzo Moore of Christchurch, and when the ship docked in Melbourne, the
couple was engaged to be married.ll Gorst continued his journey to New
Zealand, arriving in Auckland on May 17, 1860. Shortly after his arrival
he met Bishop Selwyn and Gorst's first weeks in the colony were spent
assisting the Bishop in a variety of tasks, at the same time becoming
criented to his new envirvonment. During the month of June he helped the
Bishop prepare his Melanesian Mission College at Kohimarama to host a
conference convened by the Governor, Sir Thomas Gore-Browne, to explain to
the invited Maori chiefs the govermment's policies which had precipitated
the recent native uprisings at Taranaki. Later that month Gorst accompanied
Selwyn on an expedition to re-float the Melanasian Mission schooner,
"Southern Cross', which had gone aground near Whangarei north of Auckland.
Although this operation proved abortive, the vessel resisting all their
attempts to re~float it, the episode proved valuabie for Gorst. During the
two-week excursion he received instruction in the basics of the Maori
language from Blshop Selwyn, was introduced to Mazori village life, and
became acquainted with the versatility of the New Zealand civil servant in

the person of the government's local representative at Whangarei, a Mr,
g P B s

1e&lexander Turtibull Library Hew Zealand, MSS Collection, Bishop Patteson
to Sir J. Patteson, 23 March, 1860,

113.E. Gorst, New Zealand Revisited (London, 1908}, pp. 6-22.



Aubrey, who held every civil office in the settlement, including those of
postmaster, customs officer, harbour master, magistrate and policeman, a
role Gorst later admitted he had found "extraordinary at the time, little

thinking that I was to fill a similar post in Waikato".12 .

Late in July, Gorst returned to Australia for his marriage to
Miss Moore,13 and by early October, the voyage to New Zealand behind them,
the newly-married couple was preparing to journey to the mission station
at Waikato at the invitation of the Rev. Benjamin Yates Ashwell of the
Church Missionary Society. The timing of Gorst's wisit proved to be less
than auspicious. Coincidental with his return to New Zealand, the corpse
of an apparently-murdered Maori had been discovered south of Auckland,
rousing in settlers fears that the natives would fasten upon this incident
as an excuse for an attack upon the city. Having been assured by Ashwell
that the affair presented nc real danger to them, the Gorsts proceeded with
their trip as arranged. However, following their arrival in Taupiri, the
situation became sufficiently tense to cause Gorst to dispatch his bride
back to Auckland as a precautionary measure.14

It was during this crisis at the mission station at Taupiri that
Gorst first made the acquaintance of the Christianized and peace-loving
Maori chief, Wiremu Tamihana,15 with whom he formed a lasting friendship,
who was later to serve frequently as an intermediary between Gorst and

hostile Maoris.16

12J.E. Gorst, New Zealand Revisited, pp. 28-35.

13Keith Sinclair, "Introduction" in J.E. Gorst, Maori King, ed. K. Sinclair
(london, 1959), pp. ix-xxv.

laJ.E. Gorst, The Maori King, ed. K. Sinclair (London, 1864. Reprint ed.
London, 1959), pp. 3-4. Hereafter referred to as J.E. Gorst, Maori King.

lsAlso known by the name Te Waharo, after his father, and as William Thompson
by the Europeans.

16J.E. Gorst, Maori King, p. 7.




Following the peaceful settlement of the c¢risis, achieved
primarily as a result of Wiremu Tamihana's mediation,l? Gorst remained in
the Waikato area for several months and spent part of this period teaching
Maori boys at a school in Hopubopu, close by Taupiri, initiating his
educational work in the colony which eventually led to him b;csming a
“favourite of the Church of England Board of Native Education, the chairman
of which was Bishop Seiwyn”.lg

The crisis in which Gorst had become involved while at the mission
station at Taupiri was but one incident in a larger struggle being waged
between the settlers and the Maoris, which had erupted in tﬁé Taranakdi
province a month prior to Gorst's arrival in Auckland. This conflict arose out
of Ngatiatiawa chief Wiremu Kingi's resistance to further land sales to the
settlers. This opposition to the continuing sale of native land to the
Pakehaslg was widespread amongst the natives and had been a8 major factor in
the establishment of the Masori King in 1858, and there was a general fear
among the colonists that the land cause might be actively supported by the
Waikato tribe, resulting in the escalation of the dispute into a general war
between the Maoris and the settlexs.za

The entire King movement, which according to Gorst had been

generated by Maori discontent over Government indifference to native

Yibid., pp. 98-100

18“Letters and Journals of the Rev. John Morgan", (Typescript), Auckland
Institute and Museum, 17 December, 1863, quoted in Sinclair, "Introduction',
p. xi.

1 A . .
gﬁaarl term for white man or foreigner.

2OJ.E. Gorst, Maori King, pp. 1-2, pp. 47-48, p. 101.



griavanees,z1 was treated with contempt by the majority of the settlers,
regarded as "a nuisance and an obstruction” rather than - as the Maoris
claimed ~ a legitimate respense bo goverument mistreatment and apathy;
considered an irritant which, because of its potential threat to British
supremacy, must be suppressed.z2 The government's reaction to the resistance
of Wiremu Kingi had been the applicaticon of military force, resulting in the
Taranaki War. 1In Gorst's view this approach to the King movement was mis-
guided. Against the popularliy-held belief that there was "something
pre-eminently manly in gaipniang an end by downright strength", Gorst argued
that "There is one display of force ... that has never been dignified by
the name "manly', that of the strong towards the weak." He doubted if the
world at large would "think that there is much glory in a highly civilised
nation of 28,000,000 men crushing 50,000 'half-nasked’ savagesi"23
Having informed himself on the background to the development of the
King movement and through personal contact become familiar with the natives'
current situation, Gorst concluded that this manifestation of Maori
independence could be best eradicated through the introductiocn of an
extensive scheme of English education and law into the Waikato province,
thereby undermining the base of the movement which was located at the Maori
capital of Ngaruawhamia. '"If we had educated the natives in civilisation,

and fitted them for the enjoyment of these full rights, as British subjects
24

£t

... nothing would have been heard of ... 'King movements'", he asserted.

2lybid., pp. 47-53, p. 57.

ng.E. Gorst, Maori Kingz, pp. 1-6, p. 84.

“3Quoted in H.E. Gorst, Fourth Party, p. 28.

ZQJ.E‘ Gorst, Maori King, p. 26.
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These conclusions Gorst set forth in a series of three letters to

the Auckland newspaper, The New Zealander, which were published under the

pseudonym, “Fabius”.zs Gorst's initial letter met with an immediate negative
response in the form of a derogatory leading article in the other Auckland

newspaper, The Southern Crass.26 More positively, the letters so impressed

the New Zealand Governor, Sir T. Gore-Browne, that he considered engaging
Gorst for the government service, despite the fact that the latter's views
concerning the solution to the King problem "differed widely" from the
governor's own, and the opportunity to do so not having arisen during
Governor Gore-Browne's term of office, before his departure from New Zealand
he took the opportunity to "recommend him [Gorst] officially to Sir G.

Grey", Browne's successor in the caiony.Z?

The arrival of Sir George Grey in September 1861 "gave some hope
for a peaceful solution" of the Maori prablem.zs Foilowing his installation
in office, Grey declided upon a pacific approach to the native question in
the form of a new system of administration involving a4 measure of Maori
se1f~goverament29 and closely resembling the policies advocated by Gorst
in his "Fabius" letters. In this design he was aided by recent political

0
events in the colony. The commencement of Grey's second term as govﬁrnors

25H;E. Gorst, Fourth Party, pp. 27-29.

26€ited in Sinclair, "Introduction™, p. xii.

27NZNA, Core-Browne 2/3, p. 24. Sir T. Gore-Browne to Sir Charles Clifford,
20 Beptember, 1862.

2SJ.E. Gorst, Maori Kingz, p. 6.

291 B. Gorst, Maori King, pp. 133-34, pp. l44-145.

30 ' .
Grey s first term covered the period 1845-1853.
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followed closely upon the defeat of the incumbent Colonial ministry, which
had conducted the Taranki War, and the formation of a new ministry headed
by William Fox who had previously demonstrated himself to be a defender of
native rights.gi The similarity of outlook shared by the new Imperial and
Colonial administrators facilitated the speedy introduction of the new
scheme by the Governor and it was in connection with this new departure in
policy that Fox dispatched Gorst, in October 1861, to the Waikate district,
"ostensibly to imspect and report upon all the schools supported by the
missionary societies, and the natives, and at the same time to keep my ears

open, and learn all T could as to the state of things in general, and the
32

sentiments at present prevailing among Waikato chiefs as to peace or war."
By late October, Gorst was reporting to Fox that native resistance

fo government auvthority remained strong in the Waikate areaBB and, shortly

31J.E, Gorst, Magzi King, p. 150.

Bgéppandix to the Journals of the House of Representatives, New Zealand
(hereafter referred to as AJHR), 1862 E~1 Section II, Despatches from
Governor Sir George Grey to the Duke of Wewcastle, p. 12. J.E. Gorst,

New Zealand Revisited (London, 1908}, p. 160. It is not c¢lear who made the
initial decision to utilize Gorst's services in this way. It may have been
made by Grey, arising out of Gore-Browne's recommendations, or by Fox, based
upon a personal assessment of Gorst's ahilities znd suitability for the task
made following a reading of the "Fabius" letters. In any event, Gorst's
appointment appears to have been a popular one., ¥, Dillen~Bell, the Native
Minister in the Domett ministry which replaced Fox's administration in 1862,
observed that "Nothing was ever done by the preseant Government so good as
sending Gorst up to the Kingites of Waikate ... 4 thoroughly conscientious,
just, truthful, and highly-~educated man, which he is, will have more weight
with the Assembly than anyone else ... ." (NZNA, Gore-Browne Papers, 1/2/146.
F.D. Bell to T. Gore=Browne, 29 May, 1862.)})

3300mR, 1862, E~1, Section II, p. 14. J.E. Gorst to William Fox, 23
October, 1861.
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thereafter, the Governor appointed Gorst as Resident Magistrate in the Upper
Waikato and charged him "with the daty of fully explaining" to the Maori

chiefs "the scope and object of my pians".B%

Gorst, together with his wife
and baby son, now took up residence at Te Tomoto, Upper Waikato, and by
early December he had concluded his inspection of all the Waikato and Bay
of Islands native schools and completed a detailed report on their condition
for the Minister of Native Affzirs. Gorst's report was highly critical of
the government's role in Maori education.35 He enunciated a long litany of
deficiencies. The government exercised no control over the monies it
contributed to the religious bodies supervising native schools and exerted
"just so much influence as the fear of the withdrawal of the subscription
confers”. Although by law certazin conditions were to be fulfilled before
such grants were made, "these regulations ... are not always practically
carried out, and the Government has used no means for ascertaining orx
compelling their observance'. Despite legislation directing that "schools
be visited each year by an Inspector, the office has been honorary and
irreguler, and never discharged twice by the same person. Hig function is
simply that of reporting and though the duties have often been most ably
performed by gentlemen of high position in the ceolouy, I do not learn that

their reports ever produced action on the part of the GO?arnment“.36 Gorst

urged the government to upgrade and expand its native scheools in order that

SQﬁSHR, 1862, E~1, Section II, p. 45. Dispatches from Sir G, Grey to His
Crace the Duke of Newcastle, 8 December, 1861.

SSAJHR, 1862, E~4, Native Schools. Reports of Inspectors. Report of
J.E. Gorst, Inspector of Schools, pp. 3-11.

36AJHR, E-#4, Native Schools. Reports of Inspectors, pp. 2-1l. Report of
J.E, Gorst, Esq., Inspector of Schools, December 5, 1861.
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the children might be taught '"the decencies of civilization, as well as

the learning habits of industry“.sy .

This report exposed native schooling as one more facet of the
government's administrative indifference with respect to its indigenous
population, indifference which Gorst claimed had helped establish the Maori
King, and his recommendations reflected his continuing conviction - first
aired in his "Fabius' letters ~ that education could play an important
role in reducing Maori intransigence. Moreover, Gorst's report reveals
the thoroughness and degree of perceptiveness which he applied to the task
in hand, qualities which were evinced time and time again during his
subsequent political life, in situations ranging from his re~organization
of the Conservative party to his campaign for child feeding. The report
also exhibits Gorst's propensity never to mince words which later became
the hallmark of his parliamentary career.

Gorst remained in Te Tomoto as magistrate until June 1862, during
which time he grew increasingly disillusioned by the inefficacy of the
government's new scheme of native administration and the farcical nature of

his own office,Bs Although he arrived "armed with proper legal powers",

37AJHR, E-4, p. 11.

38

with the state of affairs in the Waikato (NZNA, Gore-Browne. 1/2. No. 121.
Sir Donald McLean to T. Gore-Browne, 26 May, 1862), and three days later
F.D. Bell wrote to the former Governor that "Gorst is getting extremely
dissatisfied with things in general" in that area. (NZNA, Gore~Browne
Papers. 1/2/146. F.D. Bell to T. Gore-Browne, 29 May, 1862.) Also, in

a series of letfers to Gore-Browne, written between January and September
of 1862, the Rev. J. Morgan of Orawhac repeatedly referred to the futility

.of Gorst's position as Resident Magistrate. (NZNA, Gore-Browne Papers.

1/2 d.) For references 1/2. ¥No. 121 and 1/2 d. above, I am indebted to
Kay M, Banderson of the New Zealand National Archives. &ee also, J.E.
Gorst, Macri King, pp. 158-171.

In May, 1862, Sir Donald McLean told Gore~Browne that Gorst was "'disgusted"
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his magistracy was ''repudiated and set at naught" by the Maoris, who "from
the first refused their consent to my exercising any kind of authority
among them".39 Prior to Gorst's arrival in the district the Runanga40 of
Ngaruawahia had passed an "abstract" resolution barring the installation of
Queen's magistrates within the Maori domain41 and, although thereafter the
Maoris took no direct action to expel him from the area - save for one
unsuccessful and inept attempt by Ngatimaniapoto Chief, Patene‘{b2 - Gorst's
authority was effectively negated by the subsequent enactment by the King's
loyal Runangas in Waikato of laws prohibiting, under severe penalties,
natives from resorting to European courts.43 So effective was this measure
that Gorst found his duties "limited to settling disputes among Pakeha
settlers ...”.44

Gorst ventilated his dissatisfaction in a general report on
conditions in the Upper Waikato issued by him in June 1862.45 A state of

"utter lawlessness and anarchy' existed among the native population, brought

about by the declining authority of the traditional internal Maori rule and

393.E. Gorst, New Zealand Revisited, p. 93.

4ONative court or assembly.

41J.E. Gorst, Maori King, p. 162.

4ZAJHR, 1862, E-9, Fapers Relative to Sir George Grev's Plans of Native
Government, Section III, pp. 3-4. Report from J.E. Gorst to the Colonial
Secretary.

43J.E. Gorst, Maori King, p. 16&.

44J.E. Corst, New Zealand Revisited, p. 197.

45AJHR, 1862, Section III, pp. 9-19. Commissioner's Report - Upper Waikato.
NZNA, Gore-Browne 2/4.
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the impotency of the Colonial administration. '"The great mischief of all

is not that the Natives choose to be governed by a King instead of by us',

he argued, "but that they are not in any real sense governed at all".

Gorst readily admitted that the initial high hopes he had entertained for

the Governor's new policies had been dissipated by the realities of practical
service in the field. Experience had shown that the ministry's new scheme

of administration could not diminish support for the King movement nor effect
a reconciliation between the government and the Maori population. That an
organized legislative system did not in itself guarantee law and order had
been demonstrated by the Waikato experiment. ''My residence in Waikato is
bringing me to look upon vigour and power as the highest qualities in
Government', he told F. Dillon Bell.46 Consequently, Gorst concluded that
the existing chaos could only be remedied through more positive government:
... but T mean vigorous Goverrment - I mean authority which is able to
protect life and property by enforcing obedience to the law. We do not

want additional laws -~ there is a very madness of law-making infesting

the country; we do not want Magistrates - they exist in abundance. It

is the last link between the sovereign and the subject, it is the

police which is defective.

Gorst quite expected that his report would incur his swift
dismissal from the Colonial service but, instead, the government pressed
him to attend a personal interview with Sir George Grey in Auckland.
Although the Colonial ministry had acknowledged the accuracy of Gorst's

report they had persisted in maintaining the administrational status quo

in the Waikato and, thus, he declined the invitation on the grounds he had

46NZNA, Gore-Browne Papers, 1/2/146, F.D. Bell to T. Gore-Browne, 29 May
1862.

47p\JHR, E-9, Section III, pp. 18-19.
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nothing new to add to his previous comments, and that if the government
disagreed with his views he was willing to resign. However, at the
government's insistence he subsequently met with Sir George Grey who
professed support for Gorst's viewpoint and persuaded him to return to
Waikato as Civil Commissioner, under the Governor'’s rather than the
Colonizal ministry's jurisdicticﬁ.és
In addition to his normal duties as Commissioner, Gorst was
entrusted with the Lmplementation of two special projects - the formation
of a native police force at Kohekohe, Lower District, and the establishment
of an industyial school at (Otawhao, Upper Waikato. The scheol was the
brainchild of Gorst who persuaded Grey to substitute it for his original
scheme for a police force at that location also, Gorst rationalizing that
50 overt a government institeution as the latter would simply result in its
immediate suppression by the militant King Maoris. The new plan was to
develop the Otawhao establishment into a police station at a later date.
Both projects were to form part of Grey's revised approach to native
administration, designed to secure the peaceful subjection of the Maoris
to British authority. The force of native yvouths at Te Kohekohe would be
"gradually and cautiously made use of, to suppress dangerous offenders ...
and establish a real system of law and order” in the arsa. The school, at
which both basic subjecte and trade skills were to be taught, would exhibit
to pative youth the advantages of physical comfort and civilization offered
by the government in exchange for "barbarous independence', thus working

as a "'trap to cateh the King's soldiers", thereby serving to undermine the

QSJ.E. Gorst, New Zealand Revisited, pp. 209-210, pp. 223-225.
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nationalist movement.

Gorst returned to the Waikato and immediately proceeded to
introduce Grey’'s new schemes. The venture at Te Kohekohe progressed little
beyond the planning stage, but the second enterprise at Otawhao was
successfully launched. An existing mission station at Te éwamuto,ﬁo
consisting of school house and 200 acres of land, was relinquished by Church
authorities and given over to Gorst for his new educational vencure,sl in
support of which “neither expense nor trouble was spared”.sz However, the
project soon aroused the susplicions of the Maoris who viewed ik, in combina-
tion with the proposed police force at Te Kohekohe, as part of a new scheme
for reducing the Waikato. The institution was promptly denounced by the
militant Ngatimaniapoto chief, Rewi Manipoto, and his supporters who urged

that Gorst be immediately expelied by force. The more moderate Waikatos,

égéjﬂk, 1863, E~4, Pepers Relative to Native Affairs. Section VI - Upper
Waikato, pp. 35-36. Memorandum by J.E. Gorst, R.M., on the Establishment
of a Police Station at Kohekohe, and an Industrial School at Otawhao,
J.E. Gorst, Maori Kipes, pp. 193-194. J.E. Gorst, New Zealand Revisited,
pp. 223~225.

SGThe Maori name of Otawhao.

5EJ.E, Gorst, Macri King, p. 19%. According to Gorst, the incumbent of
twenty vears, Rev. John Morgan, gave up his station with grace, so as not

to obstruct a praject which might benefit the natives. However, Morgan's
personal papers reveal that he deeply resented the way the Church authorities
treated him in this matter and, as a consequence, resigned from the Church
Missionary Society. 5See J.E. Gorst, New Zealand Revigited, p. 227.

Sineclair, p. xvi.

52&JHR, 1863, E~«1, Papers Relative to Native Affairs, pp. 1-2. Memorandum
by Native Minister F. Dillon Bell to Governor G. Grey, 30 April 1863.
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however, called for lawful and peaceful opposition to the school and at
their Runangas passed laws forbidding their youth from attending the
institution and prohibiting the sale of timber for the construction of its
new buildings. Despite this opposition, building commenced and a sufficient
number of native boys enrolled in the school as to permit it to open as
planned, and progress made during its first months of operation gave promise
for considerable future success.53

This initial hope remained unfulfilled, however, as Gorst's
project came to an untimely end as a consequence of renewed Maori insurgence,
In the winter of 1862-63 the land disputes, in abeyance since the Taranaki
War, were revived threatening a renewal of the conflict and causing both
sides to actively prepare for the expected confrontation. In their newspaper,
Te Hokioi, the King party accused the Governor and the settlers of deceit
in the land issue, charging them with ignoring legally-acquired native land
rights and questioning the Covernor's anticipated action against their King.
At Grey's suggestion, Gorst countered this Maori attack by establishing a
printing office at Te Awamutu and issuing a rival journal named Ie Pihoihoi
Mokemoke,54 the first number of which contained an article, in Maori, by
Gorst ~ "The Evil of the King's Government" - outlining the anarchy
prevailing in the Waikato and citing the King and his Council's inability

to maintain law and order as the root of the problem.55

53,7mR, 1863, E-1, pp. 1-2. J.E. Gorst, Maori King, pp. 195-202.

5%1te full title was Te Pihoihoi Mokemoke I Runga I Te Tuanui - “The Sparrow
Alone Upon the House Top", but it was generally known simply as Te Pihoihoi
Moke, which translates as "The Lonely Groundlark'". See Sinclair's footnote
in J.E. Gorst, Maori King, p. 217.

553 B. Gorst, Maori King, pp. 205-207, pp. 209-213. J.E. Gorst, New Zealand
Revisited, pp. 254-~256.
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The article incensed the more militant Maoris and reinforced
their belief that Gorst's activities at Te Awamutu were part of a calculated
scheme to overcome the King movement. Earlier, Grey had assured the Maoris
that he would not "fight against your King with a sword” but would 'dig
around him with spades, until he falls of his own accord". To the Maoris
Gorst now appeared the most active spade and his school the centre of the
digging and the decision was made to eject the Civil Commissioner and his
press from Te Awamutu.56 O March 24, Chief Rewi Maniapoto and a band of
Ngatimaniapotos descended upon the school, occupied the printing office,
and carried off the press. After first declaring their intention to expel
Gorst by force, they were persuaded to withdraw and allow him three weeks
in which to obtain Grey's authorization to leave Te Awamutu. However,
during this period of grace, in a letter to Grey, they reiterated their
intention to remove Gorst and warned the Governor that "if you say he is to
stay, he will die".57’

When informed of the revolt at Te Awamutu, Grey and Dillon Bell,
the Native Minister, advised Gorst to use his own discretion in deciding
his future course of action, but giving him full authority to abandon his

post should his life or the lives of anyone on the station be endangered.58

56J.E. Gorst, Maori Kinmg, pp. 219-220, p. 223. J.E. Gorst, New Zealand
Revisited, pp. 251-252.

57AJHR, 1863, E-1. Further Papers Relative to Native Affairs: Native
Disturbances at Te Awamutu, pp. 3~4. J.E. Gorst to F.D. Bell, 25 March,
1863. AJHR, 1863, E-1, p. 4. Memorandum by J.E. Gorst to Mr. Wood,

25 March, 1863. AJHR, 1863, E~1, p. 5. Rewi Maniapotoc to G. Grey,

25 March, 1863.

58AJHR, 1863, E-1, p. 7. F.D. Bell to J.E. Gorst, 27 March, 1863. F.D. Bell
to J.E. Gorst, March 28, 1863. NZNA Governor Archives. G36/3, p. 446, Sir
George Grey to J.E, Gorst, 28 March, 1863.
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Having ascertained from the moderate Maoris there was a ''universal consent
to get rid of the Government establishment at Awamutu', that the authority
of the King was at an end, and that the militants were in control and
determined to remove the Civil Commissioner by force, Gorst concluded that
"the experiment at Awamutu" was over. Consequently, on April 18, with
general war imminent, Gorst and his party departed for Auckland.59 Grey
considered the abandonment of Te Awamutu a temporary expedient and ensconced
its personnel at his private residence on the Island of Kawi, pending their
expected reinstatement at the school, but on July 12 government forces
occupied Kohera Heights, in the Maoris' alleged domains, signalling the
resumption of the Waikato War, nullifying these plans and Gorst's party was
returned to Auckland for dispersal.60

Immediately following his expulsion from Te Awamutu, Gorst stayed
for one week in New Plymouth with Bell, drafting minutes on the situation
in Waikateo for the Governor and then spent the next few months in Auckland
serving as Bell's private secretary. When, in August 1863, Bell departed
for Australia to raise a Colonial force, Gorst, who believed the Waikatos
to be victims of circumstance rather than willing participants in the war,
found this assignment abhorrent and agreed to accompany the Native Minister
only after being granted the option of returning to England if he so desired.
Before Gorst embarked for Australia, Bell and the New Zealand Prime Minister,

Alfred Domett, indicated to Gorst their intention to appoint him to the

59AJHR, 1863, E-~1, pp. 13-14. J.E. Gorst to F.D. Bell, 11 April, 1863,

pp. L4-15. J.E. Gorst to F.D. Bell, 14 April, 1863, pp. 20-21. J.E. Gorst
to F.D. Bell, 23 April, 1863. AJHR, 1863, E-3, Dispatches from the Secretary
of State and the Governor of New Zealand. Section I. Dispatches from Governor
Sir George Grey KCB, pp. 28-29. J.E. Gorst to F.D. Bell, 16 April, 1863.

6OJ.E. Gorst, Maori King, p. 247. J.E. Gorst, New Zealand Revisited, pp. 24-26.
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Legislative Council but, after only a few weeks brief stay in Australia,
Gorst departed for the United Kingdom without waiting for verification of
this offer.®!

Following his return to England in late December, 1863, Gorst
resumed his legal studies at the Inner Temple and, at the same time, set
about informing the public of the situation in New Zealand and publicizing
his personal solution to its problems. In the daily and periodical press
and in his book The Maori King, published in 1864, he denounced both the

Imperial and Colonial Governments for their policies in the colony.62

The inconsistency of the Imperial government, with its repeated changes of
administration and vacillation between indifference and haphazard regulation
had gradually destroyed the Maoris' confidence in British authority.63

The native wars were in essence struggles against "European aggression”,
argued Gorst. The Colonial administration had consciously taken steps to
"make the continuance of the war certain and the submission of the natives
impossible" for the benefit of the Auckland Province at the expense of the

imperial government. Moreover, the New Zealand government's policy of land

6]‘A.IHR, 1864, E-3. Further Papers Relating to the Native Insurrections, pp.
88~89, J.E. Gorst, "Observations and the Native Inhabitants of Ranglaowhia
and Kihlkihi", 21 May, 1864. J.E. Gorst, New Zealand Revisited, pp. 46-47,
p. 326. PP, 1865, Vol. 37, pp. 98-99. J.E. Gorst to Sir F. Rogers,

20 December, 1864. Sinclair, "Introduction', pp. xiv-xv.

62; . Gorst, "Our New Zealand Conquests', Macmillan's Magazine, 12 (1865):
168-175. Hereafter referred to as J.E. Gorst, "New Zealand Conquests'.

J.E. Gorst, Mgori King, passim. The Times, 24 December, 1863, p. 10. Ibid.,
6 May, 1864, p. 5. The Maori King analyzes the inception and development of
the King movement in New Zealand and recounts Gorst's personal experiences
with Maori nationalism, and the Imperial government's responses to it,

during Gorst's years in the colony.

63J.E. Gorst, Maori Kimg, Chap. &.
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confiscation was essential to that administration because ''they had enlisted
militia in Australia and other places by promising them a share of the
spoil”.64 In order to resolve the native question, Gorst advocated an end
to double government in the colony and the placing of all native districts
under direct Imperial rule. A central Council of Chiefs with law-making
powers, reinforced with a native police force, and under the direction of

a British Resident, could be constituted to conduct affairs in Maori
provinces.

Gorst was later to discard these views. By the close of the
eighteen sixties, events in both England and New Zealand combined to effect
a revision of Gorst's attitudes towards colonial rule. TIn 1869, with the
native rebellions still not finally quelled and the supposedly '"Separatist"
Gladstone government apparently poised to set the colonies adrift, Gorst
suggested, along with a plea for retention of the self-governing colonies
in the Empire, a different approach to colonial management. As the Maori
Wars had resulted, in part, from the "injudicious interference of the
Imperial Government', it was wrong of Britain to now expect the colony to
single-handedly retrieve a situation the former had helped to create.

While wholeheartedly supporting £he current government's policy of
evacuating Imperial troops from New Zealand as "'the first necessary step

in the pacification of the colony", he urged that the Imperial government
guarantee the coleonists a loan which would enable them to provide for their

own internal security and to assume sole responsibility over native affairs.

64J.E. Gorst, ""New Zealand Conquests', p. 168, pp. 170-171, p. 173.

65J.E. Gorst, Maori King, pp. 257-262.
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This granting of colonlal freedom would not invelve the dismemberment of

the Empire, as critics charged, but on the contrary, could result in the
preservation of its unity, argued Gorst. Just as in America the independence
of individual states was found to be compatible with the maiontenance of the

Union, "

... there is no reason why Great Britain, and the other enfran-
chised countries which acknowledge the sovereignty of the Queen, should
not continue in one free confederation’., Although he offered no detailed
scheme to be followed, Gorst's advocacy of a federal solution to the
colonial question places him amongst the earliest proponents of fedaraticn.66
Meanwhile, however, Gorst's efforts during 1863-1865 to promote
direct Imperial rule in New Zealand failed to effect a change in British
policy, or notably stir public interest in that colony, but his views were
angrily received there producing a tirade of criticism in the columns of
the daily press. It was suggested that Gorst's viewpoint was coloured by
his failure to obtain an appointment to the Legislative Council - a vather
illogical argument considering Ggrst had repeatedly criticized the govern~
ment’'s native policies whilst serving in the colony;67 ancther correspondent

intimated that Gorst's desire for an Imperial appointment was behind his

new scheme for native government;ﬁa and the Daily Scuthern Cross bluntly

asserted that Gorst penned the Maori King in order to demonstrate "he ...

65.E. Gorst, "What Ought to be the Legal and Constitutional Relations
between England and her Colonies?", Transactions of the National Association
for the Promotion of Social Science 14 {1870): 97-100. See also, C.A.
Bodelsen, Studies in Mid~Victorian Imperialism (New York, 1968), pp. 80-1C0.
€C.C. Eldridge, Victorian Imperialism (London, 1978), pp. 80~101. The Times,
29 July, 1869, p. 10

7por example, see AJER, 1862, E-9, pp. 18-19. AJHR, 1862, E-4, pp. 9-11.

686ited in Sinclair, "Introduction", p. xv.
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69

70
was an uncommonly clever fellow. Gorst's genuine concern’  for the

native population, evidenced by his tireless efforts on their behalf while
in the colony, amd his subsequent publicity campaign in England, along with
his service to the New Zealand government - which had prompted the colonial
administration to officisally acknowledge its gratitude and admiration
following the abandonment of Te Awamutu,?i were now apparently forgotten or
ignored.

Gorst's c¢all for direct Imperial control of native affairs sprang
from his deep distrust of the existing state of representative government
in the colony. In his view the New Zealand Assembly was merely a tool of

the avaricious colonists who utilized the legislature for persomal gain:

... the momeni # question is stated affecting any pecuniary interest,

the House becomes ... a mere Assembly of delegates from the various
provinces of the colony; each member well knows how he is expected to

vote, and knows also, that any ecceniricity finm voting on his part, would
evoke a speedy and unanimous call from his constituents for his resignation.

691&1&,, p. ¥v. Gorst's Maori King has now come to be regarded in a more
favourable light in New Zealand. According to 3inclair, the work can now be
considered "one of the very best of nineteenth-century accounts of life among
the Maoris" and seminal to the understanding of the development of the British
Empire in that century, whilst at the same time being of "relevance to the
modern world where nationalist movements, often anti~European in tendency, and
Imperial (er Imperialist) wars continue to occur'. See ibid., p. xvi.

70This concern was most forcefully expressed in The Maori King in which he
reveals a deep sympathy for and understanding of the Maori nation and Maori
grievances and a solicitude for their cause and the future welfare of the
New Zealand native population.

71Following Gorst's expulsion from the Waikato, F. Dillon Bell wrote in glowing
terms of the success of the project in Te Awamutu and of Gorst personmally.
After enumerating the goals of the scheme, Bell wrote: "Their prosecution was
confided to 2 man who, to a real interest in the Native people, united peculiar
abilities for the task: willingly relinquishing the advantages which private
fortune gave him in a country where wealth is so easily accumulated, and
content, a Master of Arts of Cambridge University, to live in the bush, almost
without society and without books for the sake of laying the foundations with

a few poor Bative boys, of a school that should replace the indolence and dirt
of a pa, by the industry, discipiine, and comfort of a civilised home". (See
ATHR, 1863, E~1, p. 1.}
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Moreover, the increasingly democratic nature of the Assembly had resulted
in its repeated dismissals at the hands of disgruntled constituents, thereby
destroying the Colonial government's viability as administrator of the
subject races.72 Tt is evident that Gorst believed that this form of
Ypopular government"” was responsible for the policies which provoked the
resurgence of Maori hostility amd the resumption of the native wars which
had abruptly ended his schemes, so successfully launched at Te Awamutu, for
the government and pacification of the Maori nation.

This experience with "popular” government led Gorst to actively
oppose parliamentary reform along democratic lines when, in July of 1866,
he stood as the Conservative candidate for Hastings at the general election.
Although Reform was not a national issue at this election73 and locally the
electorate was apparently most concerned with maintaining resistance to
"further concessions to the Romanists",74 Reform Bills had been introduced
in Parliament by the Liberals in 1854 and 1860, and by the Conservatives in
1859, and this general movement towards Reform, combined with his recent
experiences in New Zealand, evidently provocked GCorst's anti-democratic stand

at the election. ''Having witnessed the results of democratic government

in our Australasian Colonies I am opposed to the lowering of the franchise ...7,

he declared in his election address.75 In these colonies the colonists had

72J.E. Gorst, Maori King, p. 258.

7BSee Robert Stewart, The Foundation of the Conservative Party 1830-1867

(London, 1978), pp. 339-346.

74Hastings and St. Leonards News, 7 July, 1865, p. 2. Mr. North, the Liberal
incumbent, who was accused of supporting such concessions, was defeated.

75Hastings and St. Leonards News, 26 May, 1865, p. 2, p. 3.
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the main power in the election of members to the Colonial Assemblies and it
was lodged in one class - the labouring class, which was a great and
monstrous evil”. In his view, certain reformers were determined to change
England "into a sort of second-rate Australia'. If universal suffrage was
introduced at home, where the labouring masses were vastly inferior
economically to their counterparts in Australia, the nation would "oet

something a great deal worse' than in that country. '"Instead of lowering

the franchise they should try to raise the working man".76 He was, however,

willing to countenance an extension of the suffrage "provided it was not

one which would overthrow the present constituencies".77

76

Hastings and St. Leonards News, 9 June, 1865, p. 3. Gorst apparently
feared that any reduction in the franchise would ultimately lead to
universal suffrage and a form of economically-motivated electoral pressure
potentially more disruptive than that exercised by the colonists in New
Zealand.

77Ibid., 16 June, 1865. See also, ibid., 26 May, 1865, p.2, p.3,

9 June, 1865, p.3. Gorst no doubt had in mind a form of lateral extensiom
which would increase the potency of the traditional Conservative vote,
very much along the lines of the Tories' 1858 Reform Bill which, through
various devices, aimed to make the Tory strength in the counties more
effective. (See Stewart, pp. 354-358.) Gorst was also amongst those
willing to extend the franchise to females. In the May 20, 1867 debate

on the Representation of the People Bill, he voted in favour of J.S.
Mill's amendment to include women in the vote. (Parliamentary Debates
[hereafter referred to as PD], 3rd Series, 187 [1867]: 845.)
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Gorst's bid for a Commons seat proved unsuccessful78 and he,
therefore, resumed his preparations for the Bar, to which he was called
during the same year. However, in Spring of 1866, seemingly undaunted
by his defeat at Hastings, Gorst agreed to contest the Borough of Cambridge
seat at the April 24 by-election which had resulted from the disqualification
of one of the two sitting members.79 In this campaign Gorst again voiced
his objections to Reform, revealing his continuing resentment of the New
Zealand Assemblyso and mistrust of "popular government'.

This election occurring whilst the Liberal Reform Bill was before

the Commons resulted in the interjection of the suffrage issue into the

"8pesult: July 12, 1965:

Mr. Waldengrave-Leslie (Lib.) 749

Mr. Robertson {(Con.) 737
Mr. North (Lib.) 725
Mr. Gorst {(Con.) 591

Gorst's anti-democratic stance does not appear to have been a factor in his
defeat. His successful running mate, Robertson, whilst declaring "It was
not of the working men he was afraid; not of going too low - it was the
masters', at the same time "saw no particular advantage in lowering the
franchise ...". Although he agreed that the suffrage "might be greatly
extended" he did not knmow how it could be done, because it was necessary

to maintain some standard ..." He believed that "Lord Derby's scheme"
(the 1859 Reform Bill) would have provided "a great extension of the
Suffrage'. (Hastings and St. Leonards News, 6 June, 1865, p. 3; 16 June,
1865, p. 3.) From the outset Gorst was considered the underdog in this
election, which was seen as a contest between "three old combatants'.
Gorst's candidacy was viewed as the trial run of an aspiring politician.
"Mr. Gorst is quite right to try his way, and to introduce himself in the
constituency"”, observed one local newspaper editor, "but it is not likely
that a borough which has twice rejected so old and respected a resident as
Mr. Robertson, will elect on his first appearance, an untried stranger ...".

(Ibid., 16 June, 1865, p. 2; 2 June, 1863, p. 2.)

7% ambridge Chronicle, 21 April, 1866, p. 4.

8OHis highly critical "Qur New Zealand Conquests'' had appeared in Macmillan's

one month earlier.



28.

contest and Gorst's opposition to the lowering of the franchise now took

the form of a direct attack upon the current Bill. The proposed legislation
was merely an expedient to capture votes declared Gorst81 and he did not
believe the Bill would bring any benefit to the people. On the contrary,
the measure would serve to unbalance the Constitution by giving the working
class a preponderant influence, thereby opening the door to class representa-
tion. Consequently, if elected, he would oppose the Bill in Parliament,
"not from fear of the Working Class but because neither that nor any other
class should have undue preponderance in the country ... What was needed
was a balance of power - the poor should not be able to do without the

rich nor the rich to do without the poor”.82 Moreover, the Liberal Bill

was an inadequate measure, dealing solely with the lowering of the franchise

to the exclusion of other elements of Reform.83

81"The object of the Government's Franchise Bill is not so much to benefit
the people as to redeem the pledges rashly given to catch popularity by the
party that calls itself Liberal ...'", Gorst stated. (Cambridge Chronicle,
21 April, 1866, p. 5.)

Szcambridge Chronicle, 21 April, 1866, p. 5, p. 9.

831ye was quite willing that the question of Reform should be well and
carefully considered; but let us have an honest and complete Reform ... If
they wanted to bring in a Reform Bill why did they not bring in the whole
bill and nothing but the bill? Why put off the question of redistribution
of seats ...?, he said. "Let us have a bill which dealt fairly with all
those questions which Reform involved ...". (Speech at Nomination of
Candidates, 23 April, 1866. Speech at Conservative Meeting, 23 April,
1866. Supplement to the Cambridge Chronicle, 28 April, 1866.) Gorst
evidently shared the majority of the Conservatives' fear that the provisions
of this Bill would produce a situation in which a combination of county
leaseholders in the boroughs and the newly-enfranchised in the non-borough
towns and the suburbs would swamp the safe Conservative tenant farmers.
(See Robert Blake, Disraeli [New York, 19671, pp. 339-340.)




29.

In Gorst's view the working class needed social rather than
political reform.84 Amongst the many conditions requiring amelioration
were the situation of manual labourers, lack of education, low wages -
especially among agricultural labourers - and inadequate housing. Thus,
any suggestion that the workers' sole requirement for happiness was the
vote was abhoxrent to him. If he was a worker he would say "Don't degrade
the franchise to my level, but raise me to the level of the franchise".85
However, Gorst did not believe that legislation could effect economic
improvement. He was of the opinion that '"the people could not be made
richer by anything but labour, industry and frugality".86

Gorst's advocacy of economic improvement through self-help was

consistent with mid-nineteenth century society's laissez-faire attitude

towards social reform. The current accepted social philosophy, produced
from a synthesis of political economy and utilitariapnism, attributed
material advancement to the individual's pursuit of self-interest unencum-
bered by state intervention. At the political level, this philosophy was
subscribed to by Conservatives as well as Liberals, the traditional party

of laissez~faire, Tory paternalism of the early decades of the century

having largely dissipated. The limited social legislation enacted up to
this period, such as the Poor Law, Factory and Health Acts, was undertaken

to remedy only what was viewed as the most flagrant of social injustices

840ambridge Chronicle, 21 April, 1866, p.9. Speech at Barnwell, 23 April,
1866, Speech at Cambridge Theatre, 23 April, 1866. Supplement to the
Cambridge Chronicle, 28 April, 1866.

858peech at Barnwell, Cambridge. Cambridge Chronicle, 21 April, 1866, p.9.

6
8 Speech at the Lion, Cambridge. TIbid., 21 April, 1866, p. 9.
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and in the case of the Derby government's reforms of 1866-1867, safe
measures designed to appear as social concern for the working classes. In
the mid-sixties, even most social reformers could not conceive of collectivism
as a solution to social distress. Acceptance of the need fo? state inter-
vention in social affairs developed only gradually during thé latter half
of the century.87 Gorst was amongst the first Tory reformers to recognize
this need and during the early eighteen seventies began tco agitate for
social reform measures. Ancother Conservative reformer, Richard Assheton
Cross, who was later to achieve recognition for his social legislation
while Home Secretary between 1874 and 1880, displayed both antisocial
reform and anti-democratic tendencies.88

It would appear that Gorst's anti-democratic attitude was in tune
with the bulk of popular sentiment for he succeeded in gaining the support
of a sufficient proportion of the Cambridge electorate to narrowly defeat
his Liberal opponent at the polls.89 Following Gorst's entry into

Parliament on April 25,90 the House remained in session only until

87For nineteenth~century social philosophy, see Eric J. Evans, Social Policy
1830-1914: Individualism, Collectivism and the Origins of the Welfare State
(London, 1978). Derek Fraser, The Evolution of the British Welfare State
(London, 1973), Chap. 5. E.C. Midwinter, Victorian Social Reform (London,
1968). For mid-nineteenth century Conservative attitudes towards social

reform, see Paul Smith, Disraelian Conservatjism and Social Reform (London, 1976),
pp. 18-36, pp. 40-47, p. 130.

885ee Dennis J. Mitchell, "Richard Assheton Cross, a Political Biography'
(Ph.D. dissertation, University of Mississippi, 1976, pp. 68-78).

89Election result, 24 April, 1866. Gorst 774. Torrens 755. Cambridge Chronicle,
28 April, 1866, p.4. According to the Chronicle's editor, "The victory showed
that the majority of the electors of Cambridge were averse to the passing of
that dangerous measure ...'" (Ibid., p. 4).

Cpi4., p. 4.



31,

August 10 and he did not address the Commons during that time. When

Parliament met again on February 5, 1867, it was under a Conservative
administration91 destined to take its 'leap in the dark”92 with the second
Reform Act. Gorst witnessed the progress of the Reform Bill through the
House with mixed feelings.93 Party advantage dictated an extension of the
franchise at this time, a political expedient Gorst was prepared to accept,94
but when, during the Bill's passage through the House, the Opposition
proceeded to dismantle the restrictions designed to keep the working class
from effectively becoming the electoral majority, with which the Conservatives
had surrounded the measure, he felt obliged to sound a note of resistance in
the House.

A succession of Radical amendments having secured unsafeguarded

household suffrage in the Bill, Gorst now attempted to draw Parliament's

attention to what he believed were the dangers inherent in the proposed

91The Liberals resigned in June 1866, following the defeal: of their Reform
Bill and the Conservatives formed a new administration under Lord Derby.

92This phrase was first used, in 1860, by Philip Rose, Tory election
manager, in a letter to Lord Derby commenting upon the moderate Liberal
Reform Bill of 1860. (See Stewart, p. 358, p. 371.)

93"Character Sketch", p. 578. According to W.T. Stead, at this point
Gorst was not opposed to Reform per se but shared the opinion of those,
like Lord Salisbury (Second Marquess), who were agreeable to a lowering of
the franchise provided safeguards against democracy were preserved. {See
also, F.B. Smith, The Making of the Second Reform Bill [Cambridge, 1966],
p. 209.)

9qRobert Blake, The Conservative Party from Pee]l to Churchill (London, 1970,
Fontana Paperback edition, 1976), pp. 103-105. Hereafter referred to as
Blake, Conservative Party. T.E. Kebble, A History of Torvism (London, 1886.
Republished Edition with Introduction by E.J, Feuchtwanger, London, 1972,

p. 352.)




32.

franchise. The immediate electoral advantage which the party leaders
anticipated would flow from passage of the Bill were poor compensation for
its long-term effects, he warned. The most harmful consequence of the
measure "would be its demoralising effect upon men who would be compelled
to make themselves popular'. He dreaded the influence which "the opinions
of a constituency" would exert "upon young men whose political character
was not formed and who would have to make themselves popular'. He urged
the adoption of a minority representation clause because it would provide
a way "in which hereafter it might be possible for people who were unable
to make themselves popular with the masses to find their way into
parliament'. He reminded the Members that it was their boast that the
House "at present represented all classes, and could not afford to be
indifferent to the opinions of any class of their constituents, but after
this Bill passed they would represent only one class, and that, generally,
the 1owest”.95 Evidently, memories of the electoral pressures exerted by
a democratic electorate upon the members of the New Zealand Assembly
continued to influence Gorst's attitude towards Reform.

Gorst perceptively observed that his Tory colleagues would vote

for the Bill "only because they believed it must pass".96 Failure of the

9522, 3rd series, 188 (1867): 1073~1074. The minority clause supported by
Gorst which was an attempt to reverse the drift towards single votes of

equal weight, was closely akin to the Hare system of proportional representa-
tion backed by Radical J¥.S. Mill in Parliament and agitated for by the
Reform League. Both measures were "desperate attempts to preserve the
balance of class interest in the constituencies by minimizing the pressure
of the mob". (See F.B. Swmith, pp. 240-241.)

9?22, 3rd series, 188 (1867): 1558.
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measure would almost certainly have seen the initiative for electoral
reform pass to the Liberals, resulting in a Radical measure even more
detrimental to Tory interests.97 Thus, Disraeli was willing to adopt
Radical amendments in order to ensure passage of a Bill in which he was
able to retain the initiative in redistribution and the re-drawing of
constituency boundaries. He and his supporters calculated that the
possible electoral disadvantage resulting from the granting of household
suffrage in the mainly Radical boroughs would be offset by an increase of
Conservative strength accruing from the expansion of county seats.98

Gorst, however, did not share this confidence and accurately
predicted that if the Bill passed the Conservatives would be rejected by
the people at the next election. Because "the measure was one which greatly
disturbed the balance of political power, and gave to one class in the
country a preponderating power over the rest ...," presenting a threat to
the country's political future, Gorst announced his intention to oppose
Third Reading of the Bill: "Without a decent interval in which to change
his opinions he could not support the Bill further; if there were an

v 99

opportunity of voting against it he would do so Thus, during his

first term in Parliament Gorst displayed what a critic was later to describe

as that "rebellion against the bonds of party'which was to be "the chief ...

975, Smith, p. 89.

98Maurice Cowling, 1867: Disraeli., Gladstone and Revolution. The Passing of

the Second Reform Act (Cambridge, 1967), pp. 70-72. 1In the general election
of 1868, the franchise provisions of the Second Reform Act gave the edge to

the Liberals who were returned to office. However, as the Tories had
anticipated, redistribution had increased their representation in the counties.

9929, 3rd series, 188 (1867): 1557-1558.
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cause of his want of (political) success".lOO

Gorst's protests attracted little attention in Parliament and had
ne impact upon the Reform legislation in the House. During this period
Gorst gained what little recognition he achieved principally through one
of Disraeli's speeches in which he referred to ''the Honourable Member for
Cambridge who seems so proud of his extreme youth".lo1 However, during
1867 Gorst also became closely associated with party organization, through
his involvement in the formation of the National Union of Conservative and
Constitutional Associations, which was to effectively bring to an end his
brief term of political obscurity.

Gorst did not allow his personal antipathy to democracy blind
him to political reality. He no doubt recognized that the movement towards
parliamentary reform was irresistible and that, once it was enacted,
political survival would require the Conservatives to mobilize the support
of the newly-enfranchised urban workers. He predicted that "when the
constituencies of the country were enlarged by the present Reform Bill,

the victory would go to the party possessing the best organisation ...”.102

lOOArthur A. Bauman, ""Sir John Gorst'', The Saturday Review 123 (1916):
345-346.

lOlSir Edward G. Clarke, The Story of My Life (London, 1918), p. 96.

Gorst had come to Disraeli's attention initially as a result of the former's
attack upon the Colonial Under-Secretary, Sir Charles Adderley, for his
alleged insensitivity to the grievances of the colonists in Ceylon. Gorst's
speech so impressed Disraeli that he instructed Spencer Walpole to acquaint
the Member for Cambridge of the fact and Walpole duly told Gorst, "I thought
you would like to know that Mr. Disraeli was extremely pleased with your
smart attack upon Mr. Adderley”. See H.E. Gorst, Fourth Party, p. 31.
"Character Sketch'", p. 578.

102
Speech on the occasion of a meeting held to discuss proposed Conservative

Union, Monday, 29 April, 1867. Cambridge Chronicle, 4 May, 1867, p. 4.
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Thus, when, early in 1867, there developed within the Tory party a scheme
designed to organize support among the urban working class, Gorst was among
its initiators.

The basis for such an organization already existed.in the form
of a smattering of Conservative working-men's associations which operated
around the country, primarily in northern districts. Some were remnants
of the old Operatives' Conservative Societies, originally founded in
support of Oastler's democratic Toryism during the 1830s and 1840s; others
had developed during the second half of 1866 to counteract the influence
of Reform agitators.103 The introduction, and eventual passage, of the
Reform Bill, which ultimately added approximately one million householders
to the electorate104 - the majority of which were members of the urban
working and lower~middle classes - necessitated a more vigorous appreoach
to the organization of Conservative working men on the part of the Tories.
The party could scarcely presume that this new electorate would instinctively
recognize its identity of interest with the Conservatives. Thus, the
wooing of this new group of voters and its formation into a mass organization
of local associations, capable of dealing efficiently with the tasks of
registration and canvassing necessary to obtain maximum attendance at the

polls on election day, became of vital importance during 1867.105

lOBH.J. Hanham, Elections and Party Manapement: Politics in the Time of
Disraeli and Gladstone (London, 1959), pp. 105-106. R.H. Hill, Toryism and
the People 1832-1846 (London, 1929. Reprinted ed. Porcupine Fress,
Philadelphia, 1975), Chaps. 2-3. P. Smith, p. 116.

104R.T. McKenzie, British Political Parties, 2nd ed. (New York, 1967 ),
p- 146.

105p 1. McKenzie, pp. 146-147. P. Smith, p. 116.
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Efforts in this direction were initiated early in 1867, at the

behest of Lord Nevill,106 a party manager and supporter of Dz‘.sraeli,107

by a group of young 'Disraelian" Tories led by H.C. Raikes, the most active
of whom - in addition to Raikes - were W.T. Chorley, A.G. Marten, W.C.
Harvey, Edward Clarke and Gorst.108 At a méeting held at the office of the

Imperial Review, a weekly paper which Raikes had just begun publishing, a

provisional committee was created and plans were formulated for the estab-
lishment of a Conservative Working Men's Association in london and for a

nationwide Union of all such organizations. In April the Imperial Review

reported that both organizations were in the process of formation and
shortly thereafter the inaugural meeting of the Metropolitan Working Men's
Association took place in London, foylowed ten days later by a Manchester
meeting of representatives of the Conservative and Constitutional Associa-
tions of Lancashire, convened to co-ordinate measures for the organization
of the party. During the Autumn months Raikes and Gorst traversed the
country promoting the national organization and, finally, on November 12,
1867, representatives of 70 associations from 55 cities and towns met at
the Freemason's Tavern, London, to launch the new Union.109

Gorst occupied the Chair at this conference and in his opening

address set forth the purpose of the meeting, namely, ''to consider by what

106H. St.J. Raikes, The Life and Letters of Henry Cecil Raikes (London,
1918), p. 59.

10701arke, p. 96. E.J. Feuchtwanger, Disraeli, Democracy and the Tory Party

(Oxford, 1968), p. 123. (Hereafter referred to as Feuchtwanger, Democracy
and The Tory Party.)

lOSClarke, p. 97; Raikes, p. 60.

1OgClarke, pp. 97-98; H. St.J. Raikes, pp. 60-62,
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particular organisation we may make ... Conservative principles effective
among the masses".ll0 A proposal outlining the methods to be used to
achieve this object was presented by the honorary secretary pro tem,
Mr. Harvey. The new central union "will afford a centre of communication
and action between local associations” and "strengthen the hands of the
local associations where existing in their respective districts, and ...
encourage the establishment of associations in districts where they are
wanting", in order to "help disseminate the Conservative creed and
facilitate the recruitment of party Supporters".lll The meeting thereafter
drew up a constitution, elected officers - Gorst being amongst the Vice-
Presidents selected - and settled upon the National Union of Conservative
and Constitutional Associations as the name for their new organization.112
Gorst presided at this inaugural meeting because, as he explained
in his opening remarks, both Lord Holmesdale and Lord Dartmouth had found
it necessary to decline the invitations extended them to serve as Chairman
on this occasion.113 The absence of Conservative notables from this
founding conference reflected the party hierarchy's initial cool response

to the National Union. The Conservative leadership experienced misgivings

regarding this venture into mass organization among the working classes.

lloMinutes of the Proceedings of the First Conference of the National Union

of Conservative and Constitutional Associations, 1867, p. 3.

111Minutes of the Proceedings of the First Conference of the National Union

of Conservative and Constitutional Associations, 1867, pp. 5-6.

121y3d., pp. 7-78; pp. 89-90.

113Ibid., p. 3
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Party organizer Major, the Honourable C.J. Keith-Falconer, expressed his
hope that the party ''shall not be like Frankenstein, and have raised a
spirit that we cannot controll'” Disraeli ﬂalted the issue of a National
Union circular because he believed its terms committed the party too
strongly.lla According to H.C. Raikes, the members of the Conservative
Cabinet declined to serve the Union in any official capacity for fear

"they might be connected by the Radical press with some pamphlet or

. 115
publication, or some act of the Union which they might not endorse';

and those prominent Tories whose political positions depended upon influence

. . 116
were disinclined to adopt formal organisation.

Gorst's participation in the formation of the National Union
marked the commencement of his involvement in party organization, in which

he was to play an important role in the near future. The Tories' failure

1145 Smith, pp. 117-118.

llBMcKenzie, p. 155.

116¢;. Ivor Jenmings, Party Politics, 3 vols. (Cambridge, 1960-1962), 2,
148. J.R. Vincent has suggested that the lukewarm reception given to the
National Union by the Conservative Party hierarchy, especially 'the
absence of top brass from its first meeting', may have arisen from the
fact that this elite, "while keen to build up new forms of organisation
... wished to steer clear ... of a body in which Gorst had somehow become
a moving spirit", in view of the latter's attitude towards Conservative
Reform measures. (J.R. Vincent, "'A Sort of Second~Rate Australia': A
Note on Gorst and Democracy, 1965-8", Historical Studies [Australia and
New Zealand, April 1973]: 539-544.) However, it appears highly unlikely
that the Conservative leadership would consider as a threat a novice back-
bencher who, in Vincent's words, was "an unknown young lawyer'", of whom
even the anti-democratic Tory notables in the House "appear not to have
been aware''. (Ibid., pp. 541-542.) Moreover, it is doubtful that party
chieftains who were reluctant to support the Union because of Gorst's
participation in that association would, less than three years later,
acquiesce in the decision to entrust him with the key office of party
agent. (See below, pp.40-53 for an account of Gorst's tenure in this
office.)




39.

to regain power in the 1868 general election prompted Disraeli and some

of his more forward-looking associatgs to re-appraise the party's management

methods, leading them to conclude that Conservative central organization

was totally inadequate for the new era of household suffrage and large

popular constituencies.117 At this period, this organization was

unmethodical and loosely-structured, being shared by the Whips, the party

agent, Markham Spofforth, who was responsible for the daily work of party

management, and a variety of federal bodies including the National Union.118
The resignation of Spofforth, in March 1870, provided the

opportunity to introduce some new blood into central organization. Spofforth's

management of party affairs, which, according to Disraeli, had been conducted

"ot always with perfect _}'udgement”,119 had become the target for criticism

from within the party and it was resolved that his successor should be a

man of a totally different stripe, one capable of formulating a scheme of

party management more in tune with the needs arising out of the creation of

a new borough electorate.120 By April, Gerard Noel, the Chief Whip, was

117Hanham, p. 114, W.F. Monypenny and G.E, Buckle, The Life of Benjamin
Disraeli, 2 vols. (revised ed. London, 1929), 2, p. 524.

118Feuchtwanger, Democracy and the Tory Party, p. 106. E.J. Feuchtwanger,
"J.E. Gorst and the Central Organisation of the Conservative Party, 1870-1882"
Bulletin of the Tnstitute of Historical Research, 32 (1959), 192-208.
Hereafter referred to as Feuchtwanger, "Central Organisation'.

llgbisraeli to Cairns, 13 January, 1875, quoted in Feuchtwanger, Democracy
and the Tory Party, pp. 106~107.

12OFeuchtwanger, Democracy and the Tory Party, pp. 111-114. ‘'Central
Organisation', pp. 193-194.
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suggesting to Disraeli that Spofforth's former post could be more than

adequately filled by Gorst: "... we could not find a better successor

than Mr. Gorst ... I think that Gorst combines the necessary qualifications,

he is a gentleman, with a good manney ..., has had a legal education, and

is also very energetic in all he undertakes".lzl With Disraeli's approval,

Noel offered the position to Gorst but the latter was at first reluctant

to accept the appointment for doing so meant relinquishing his hopes for

an early return to the House of Commons, a stipulation clearly outlined

by Noel.l22 However, during these negotiations Gorst was apparently given

to understand that his efforts on behalf of the party would be rewarded

with the offer of an office in the government when the Conservatives were

again returned to power, and, thus, he accordingly agreed to serve as

Principal Agent.123
Perhaps to emphasize the new direction he hoped to take in party

management, Gorst did not occupy the office formerly used as Conservative

headquarters by Spofforth but, instead, established himself at 53, Parliament

St., Westminster, the home of the newly-reorganized Conservative Registration

Association, which over the course of the next year become known as the

Central Office. Gorst's chief goal as party agent was the formation of an

organization capable of harnessing to the Tory party the urban conservative

electorate, including both the newly-enfranchised working classes and the

121Hughenden Papers, B/xxi/N/114, Noel to Disraeli, 14 April, 1870.

lzzHughenden Papers, B/xxi/N/102, Noel to Disraeli, 2 April, 1870.
B/xxi/N/115, Noel to Disraeli, 22 April, 1870.

3According to Gorst's son, his father was assured by Disraeli that "If
the party comes to power ... you can look with certainty for some substantial
gratification of your laudable ambition'. (Quoted in H.E. Gorst, Fourth Party,
p. 32.)
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middle-class professionals and businessmen who were becoming alienated
from Gladstonianism, a potential source of future local leaders. This
infusion of urban political strength was essential if the Conservatives
were to undermine the Liberal domination of the larger boroughs, given a
substantial boost by the 1867 Reform Act's granting of household suffrage

to the urban workers - traditionally Radical supporters - which was a pre-

s . 124
requisite for any future Conservative electoral success. As Gorst

explained to the Chief Whip: "We are generally strong in the counties and

weak in the boroughs, and we shall never attain stable political power until

the boroughs are conquered".125

The type of difficulties confronting the party in its pursuit of
a "new Conservatism' were reflected in one of Gorst's first reports on
conditions in the larger borough constituencies, in this instance, Rochester,
which he compiled after only a few months in office:

The register has not been attended to for years; no Conservative agent
appears at the revision court. The mayor, the entire town council, the
overseers, assistant overseers, and rate collectors are all radicals:

both register and burgers-roll are no doubt affected by this circumstance.
The chief employers of labour are of the same party. ... There are no
Conservative large employers of Labour. Mr. Nicholson (a retired Banker),
Mr. Manclark and other of the gentry who take interest in the county
elections take little in borough elections ... The Chapter has been
'antediluvian' and exercised no influence at all.l26

124Blake, Conservative Party, pp. 146-148. Feuchtwanger, Democracy and the

Tory Party, p.91l, p.114. The granting of household suffrage established a ratio
of electors to population in the English boroughs at one to eight, and in the
counties at one to fifteen, at the time of the 1868 General Election. 1In the
Scottish boroughs, the ratio was one to nine, in Scottish counties one to
twenty-seven (F.B. Smith, p. 239). In the 1868 electoral contest the
Conservatives were successful in only 25 out of 114 seats for boroughs over
50,000 and won only 4 out of 25 London seats. (Blake, Disraeli, p. 512.)

125Hughenden Papers, B/xxi/N/120a, Gorst to Noel, 22 September, 1870.

lzGHughenden Papers, B/xxi/G/234, J.E. Gorst to B. Disraeli, 25 July, 1870.
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In order to eradicate these forms of political and organizational weakness,
the Central Office, under Gorst's supervision, worked to establish local
associations, primarily in the larger boroughs,127 which were to function
as constituency electoral organizations by assuming responsibility for the
selection and management of local candidates at election time128 and, at the
same time, propagate the Comnservative doctripe, chiefly among the newly-
enfranchised working classes.l29 To facilitate the formation of ihese new
bodies, Gorst travelled around the country making persocnal contact with
Tory leaders in the constituencies urging them to form committees from
which the local associations might develop.130

At first the activities of the Central Office closely duplicated
the work being undertaken by the National Union, under Secretary Leonard

Sedgwick's direction, resulting in some confusion at constituency level, a

state of affairs which, according to Gorst, constituted a '"method of

1271n the smaller boroughs and the counties, where electioneering remained
largely influence-based, there was as yet little scope for the development
of new organizational methods. 1In 1873, Disraeli did establish a separate
committee of prominent Conservatives to oversee safe seats, presumably
chiefly in the counties. (Feuchtwanger, "Central Organisation', p. 197.)

128Disraeli told Gorst that priority in the new scheme of electoral organization
was to be given to the advance selection of candidates at constituency level.
(H.E. Gorst, The Earl of Beaconsfield [London, 1900], p. 125.) Hereafter
referred to as H.E. Gorst, Beaconsfield. See also, Monypenny and Buckle,

2, 524-525,

129FeuchtWanger, "Central Organisation', p. 197.

130H.E. Gorst, Beaconsfield, p. 126. ''Character Sketech', p. 579.
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proceeding ... not calculated to create confidence on the part of the
country associations in the central organisation of the party”.lBl This
difficulty was surmounted by the resignation of Sedgwick, the appointment of
Gorst as Honorary Secretary of the National Union, in 1871,132 and the
subsequent transfer of National Union headqu;rters to the Central Office
premises at 53 Parliament St., from where, during the next few years, the
two bodies worked in close co—operation.133
Gorst was convinced that the future electoral success of the Tory
party rested with working-class Conservatism, the so-called Tory Democracy,
which he rather mistakenl& assumed formed the core of Disraeli's domestic
policy',l34 and it was towards the newly-enfranchised workers in the boroughs
that the main thrust of his organizational efforts was directed.135 However,
Gorst's enthusiasm for working-class Toryism was not shared by certain

influential sections of the party, particularly the county squirearchy, as

the cool reception given the formation of the National Union illustrated.

13Lorst to H.C. Raikes, 8 March, 1871, quoted in H. St.J. Raikes, p. 63.

132Report of the National Union of Conservative and Constitutiona]l Associations,

presented at the Fifth Annual Conference of the Union, June 2, 1871: 1871
Annual Conference Report. 1872 Annual Conference Report, p. 7.

133E.3. Feuchtwanger, "Central Organisation', pp. 196~197.

134Hughenden Papers, B/xxi/G/259, Gorst to Disraeli, 4 April, 1878. Blake,

Conservative Partv, p. 145. For Disraeli and Tory Democracy see: James Cornford,
"The Transformation of Conservatism in the Late Nineteenth Century'", Victorian
Studies, 7 (1963): 35-66. Richard W. Davis, Disraeli (Boston, 1976), pp.
170-181; P. Smith, pp. 2-3; Stewart, pp. 358-366.

l35Feuchtwanger,"0entra1 Organisation"”, p. 197.
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Moreover, the defeat of 1868 was perceived to be the bitter fruits of Tory
democracy by large numbers of Conservatives, which, in addition to weakening
Disraeli's position in the party, served to discredit further Gorst's policy
in their eyes. Consequently, Gorst received virtually no encouragement
from party management in his efforts to rally the support of urban workers
to the Conservative cause; only Disraeli and Cairns among the party
hierarchy concerned themselves with Central Office activities.136
Gorst believed that the principal source of increased working-
class support was to be found in the northern industrial boroughs,
particularly those of Lancashire where the party had gained additional seats

in the 1868 election.i>’

Based upon his close personal acquaintanceship
with the County Palatine, Gorst concluded that the operatives of Lancashire
were "genuine bona fide Conservatives' and this county the "stronghold of
the party'. Because in the urban centres such as London, Birmingham and

a number of smaller boroughs, where the craftsmen laboured in small-scale
industries producing goods for the wealthier sections of society, the
workers were largely under the sway of radical influences, Gorst reasoned
that "It was amongst the employers of large staple trades like cotton and
shipbuilding that we must look in the first instance for conservative
workmen".138

Although Tory gains in Lancashire at the 1868 general election

gave credence to Gorst's assumptions, they had not succeeded in convincing

136Feuchtwanger, "Conservative Organisation”, p. 197. TFeuchtwanger, Democracy
and the Tory Party, pp. 3-8. H.E. Gorst, Beaconsfield, Chap. 8 and pp. 84-87.

137

Hanham, Chap. 14

l38Hughenden Papers, B/xxi/N/120a, Gorst to G. Noel, 22 September, 1870.
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opponents of Tory Democracy within the party of the viability of borough
Conservatism. Thus, when, in autumn 1870, representatives of urban
Lancashire's Tories pressed him to have their party leader visit the
county,139 Gorst seized the opportunity to promote such a visit in the
belief that Disraeli's participation in a large public demonstration of
working-class support would consolidate his leadership position within the
party and fire public imagination, while at the same time serving to
illustrate the strength of popular Toryism and its attraction for working
men, and the value and effectiveness of Gorst's organizational methods.140
Gorst also anticipated that Disraeli's attendance would bring political
benefits in the form of a Conservative swing in the neighbouring large
boroughs of Yorkshire's West Riding.141

In November 1870, Gorst informed Disraeli that he would shortly
receive an invitation to attend a ''County Demonstration' in Lancashire,
"signed by every class in every part of the County", which the operatives
in particular had been most enthusiastically Supporting.142 However, this
was overly optimistic. While the middle and working class Conservatives
in the boroughs were genuinely eager to receive their leader, certain
sections of the county gentry, still bitter towards Disraeli on account of

the Reform Bill, were opposed to any such visit.143 Only one month later

139Hughenden Papers, Bf/xxi/N/120a, Gorst to Noel, 22 September, 1870.

lqOFeuchtwanger, "Central Organisation", pp. 198-199.

141Hughenden Papers, B/xxi/N/120a, Gorst to G. Noel, 22 September, 1870.

14ZHughenden Papers, B/xxi/G/235, Gorst to Disraeli, 19 November, 1870.

143Hughenden Papers, B/xiii/109a, Algernon Egerton to Disraeli, 25 December,
1870, quoted in Feuchtwanger, Democracy and the Tory Party, p. 9.
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Corst himself was obliged to acknowledge to his leader, "in south west
Lancashire ... there was lukewarmness' towards the proposed visit, whilst
again stressing the extent of working-class enthusiasm for the event.
"Among the working classes of Preston, Bolton, Blackburn, Accrington,
Clitheroe, Darwen, Burnley - the men by whom the Lancashire borough elections
were carried - there is a very strong desire that a workingman's meeting
should take place at either Blackburn or Preston. They want to see and
hear you and they want you to see the newly-enfranchised electors of your
own creation. Amongst them at least you would receive a genuine thanks
for the Reform Bill of 1867 ...”.144

The lack of unanimity amongst Lancashire Tories, and the reluctance
of Lord Derby to sanction the proposed demonstration, convinced the county's
Conservative leadership that a visit by Disraeli would be inopportune in

1870, 14°

a conclusion apparently also reached by the party leader himself

for he declined the proffered invitation shortly thereafter.146 Consequently,
the project hung fire for over a year, awaiting the development of a
favourable consensus on the question, and the demonstration eventually took
place in Manchester on April 3, 1872. Imn the interim, Gorst worked
assiduously to promote the event. In April 1871 he passed along to

Disraeli a resolution issued by the Lancashire invitation committee

expressing its regret that circumstances in the county had prevented the

144H.ughenden Papers, B/xxi/G/236, Gorst to Disraeli, 22 December, 1870.

145Feuchtwanger, Dempcracy and the Tory Party, p. 9.

146Hughenden Papers, B/xxi/G/237, Gorst to Disraeli, & April, 1871.
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proposed visit from taking place and reiterating their desire to have him
attend a meeting in the county,147 and following a visit to the area in
December of the same year, Gorst assured his chief that "The people are as
eager as ever for your promised visit, but they thoroughly understand your
position as leader of the party, and they will wait confidently and
patiently until you yourself give the signal for such a demonstration as
they contemplate".148 Once the decision to hold the meeting was finally
made, Gorst played a key role in formulating the arrangements, which
included consultations with influential Manchester Tories, meetings with
local party leaders around the county, and the preparation of detailed
information on individual constituencies to assist Disraeli respond to
addresses delivered by their representatives at a monster rally in
M’anchester.]'49

Disraeli's visit proved to be an immense personal triumph which
succeeded in strengthening his leadership position.lso Moreover, this
success, and the volume of work undertaken by Gorst in preparation of the
event, reflected both his political insight and the efficacy of his
organizational system.151 However, opposition which had served to delay

the demonstration for over a year after it was first proposed indicated

the degree of mistrust with which a large proportion of the party viewed

147Hughenden Papers, B/xxi/G/237, Gorst to Disraeli, & April, 1871.

148Hughenden Papers, B/xxi/G.239, Gorst to Disraeli, 8 December, 1871.

lagFeuchtWanger, Democracy and the Torv Party, pp. 118-119.

1SOMbnypenny and Buckle, 2, p. 532.

1SlH.E. Gorst, Beaconsfield, p. 135.
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Gorst's ideal of popular Toryism.152

Important as it was, the Manchester demonstration represented
only one aspect of Gorst's organizational endeavours during the early
'seventies. While the preparations for the Lancashire visit were proceeding
he continued to conduct the day~to-day operations of the Central Office
which embraced a formidable amount and variety of tasks including the
compilation of national registration and election statistics, assistance
with the candidate selection at constituency level, promotion of and
assistance with the formation of new local Associations, and the publicatiocn
of National Union pamphlets on diverse political questions.153 In the
summer of 1871, Central Office established a Conservative Central Press
Associationl54 to help foster the Conservative provincial press and, in
order to further publicize the Tory viewpoint. Gorst also served as
political representative for the London Conservative daily, the Standard,
which he provided with authoritative information relating to party policy.155
Under Corst's direction the activities of the Central Office developed
slowly but steadily after 1870. Less than two years after his appointment
as Principal Agent, Gorst was able to inform Disraeli 'that during the past
year no less than 69 new Conservative Associations ... have been formed in
England and Wales ..., and there are at the present moment 420 Associations,
the great majority of which are in good working order, and most of which

have largely increased their number of members since last year".ls6

l52Freuchtwanger, Democracy and the Tory Party, p. 120.

153H.E. Gorst, Beaconsfield, pp. 126-131. Hanham, pp. 359-361.

154Hughenden Papers, B/xxi/G/238, Gorst to Disraeli, 23 September, 1871.

lSSFeuchtwanger, Democracy and the Tory Party, p. 120.

156Hughenden Papers, B/xxi/G/240, Gorst to Disraeli, 12 February, 1873.
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Central Office enterprise was also reflected in a2 series of Conservative
by~election victories occurring between 1871 and 1873.157

However, despite these achievements the progress of Central
Office's organizational work fell short of what Gorst had anticipated. By
1874 only thirty-three of the forty-nine borﬁughs with a population
exceeding 50,000 possessed official Conservative Associations. Of the
remainder, eight were under the jurisdiction of registration associations,
three were regulated by Conservative clubs, in another three a solicitor
functioned as agent, and two were without any Conservative organization
whatsoever.158 Moreover, the majority of the traditionmal elements within
the party continued to be openly antagonistic towards, or remained aloof
from, Central Office activities. Thus, notwithstanding Gorst's crucial
role in party organization, the leadership made no attempt to establish a
rapport with him159 and he was not kept fully informed of policy decisions
on matters falling within Central Office areas of concern, as events during
the Ministerial crisis of 1873 illustrated.160

Following the Liberals' defeat in the House in March 1873, Gorst
informed the Standard that Disraeli was prepared to form a goverament, an
assumption he based upon what he divined to be the general feelings of the
party, having been kept "entirely in the dark as to the copinions and wishes

n 161l

of the Leader'. However, Disraeli refused office and the resulting

disparity between Gorst's expectations, as expressed in the Stapndard, and
P y P » etanddra,

l57R.T. McKenzie, p. 263.

158y nham, p. 115

159Hughenden Papers, B/xxi/G/249, Gorst to M. Corry, 19 February, 1874.

16OFor background to this crisis see Blake, Disraeli, pp. 527-529.

lélﬂughenden Papers, B/xxi/G/241, Gorst to M. Corry, 17 March, 1873.
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the actual course of events not only reflected the extent to which he was
excluded from the mainstream of party affairs but, in his eyes at least,
also served to lessen his credibility as an-authoritative source of
information on party policy. Consequently,.Gorst bluntly, and with ill-
concealed bitterness, requested Disraeli's secretary, Montague Corry,
that he be kept better informed of party decisions in order that he might
fulfil his obligation to the Standard "in a manner consistent with my own
honour'". Gorst also made known his dissatisfaction over the lack of
communication existing between himself and the Conservative hierarchy:
"Since I have been political representative of the Standard I have never
been ... thoroughly 'en rapport' with the leaders of the Party as I
expected to be when at Noel's request I reluctantly accepted the position”.l62
Here perhaps can be seen the beginnings of a disillusionment with his
position as party agent, his treatment during the Ministerial crisis no
doubt having diminished the expectations of political advancement he had
earlier expected would be derived from the post.

Despite his dissatisfaction, Gorst carried on his duties at
Central Office with his customary diligence which included keeping Disraeli
informed on a variety of matters, amongst them proposed National Union
publications, by-election prospects, and the progress of the Liberal

government's negotiations with leaders of the Nine Hour Movement, the

162Hughenden Papers, B/xxi/G/249, Gorst to M. Corry, 19 February, 1874.

The leadership's reluctance to familiarize Gorst with key Conservative
issues was apparently increased as a result of his association with the
Standard. This newspaper represented the views of the new Conservatism

of the commercial middle ¢lass which was anathema to certain aristocratic
and landed elements within the party (Feuchtwanger, "Central Organisation',
pp. 199-200.)
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latter information being obtained from a Tory M.P. contact of Gorst's in
the West Riding.163 Gorst continued to pay particular attention to the
furtherance of borough Conservatism. When, in Spring of 1873, Disraeli
contemplated opposing Forster's Education Bill, Gorst counse{led against
such a move on the grounds that it would alienate an important section of
the party, namely, those in the boroughs and populous county ridings, who
were ""zealous and active promoters of Education"”, and who Gorst anticipated
would supply the future electoral strength of the party. "I confess that
the idea of defeating the Government and having an appeal to the country
on this question fills me with dismay. We cannot carry the English
majority we hope for without the active help of those, who on the question
will be opposed to our policy".164
Early the following year Gladstone unexpectedly dissolved
parliament presenting Gorst with the opportunity to demonstrate the
efficacy of the organization he had worked so tirelessly to perfect since
1870. The premise upon which he had structured party re-organization -
the potential of borough Conservatism - received overwhelming justification

from the Tory victory at the general election which gave them an overall

majority of 50 seats, their first majority in over twenty years.l65 Of the 114

163H.ughenden Papers, B/xxi/G/244, Gorst to Disraeli, 11 September 1873:
B/xxi/G/245, Gorst to Disraeli, 23 September, 1873; B/xxi/G/247, Gorst to
Disraeli, 19 January, 1874.

164Hughenden Papers, B/xxi/G/243, Gorst to Disraeli, 21 June, 1873. A
party council convened to discuss the Bill also advised Disraeli against
his proposed action, leading him to give way on the issue. (P. Smith, p. 180.)

165Blake, The Conservative Party, p. 77. According to W.T. Stead, immediately
prior to the election Gorst predicted precisely such a majority, a calculation
received with derision by the "old gang" at the Carlton Club who dubbed the
figure "Gorst's Champagne Estimate” on the grounds that it could only have
been arrived at following "liberal libations of champagne'. (''Character
Sketch", p. 579.)
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boroughs with populations over 50,000, where the majority of working-class
voters were to be found, the Conservatives took 44, compared to 25 in 1868.
The party also obtained a higher proportion of seats in the "industrial!
counties than in the English counties as a whole. Moreover, substantial
gains were made in the former Liberal strongholds in middle-class areas

of London and its environs: in addition to the city itself, suburban Surrey,
Kent and Essex swung to the Tories, whilst Middlesex and Westminster each
elected two Conservative members.166 Although this triumph could not be
credited solely to Gorst's endeavours, they were a crucial factor in the

67

revival of 1874,l and "... Disraeli always regarded the victory ... as

68

largely due to his (Gorst's) arrangements".1
Despite the role played by urban Conservatism in restoring the
Conservatives to office, its representatives were noticeably absent from

the seats of power when Disraeli's new government was formed in February

1874. Ministerial positions went almost exclusively to members of the

166Hanham, p. 92, note 2, pp. 225-226. Donald Southgate, '"From Disraeli
to Law", in The Conservatives: A History from their Origins to 1965, ed.
The Rt. Hon. Lord Butler (London, 1977), p. 183. P. Thompson, '"Liberals,
Radicals and Labour in London 1880-1900", Past and Present, no. 27 (1964):
74. (Thompson erroneously gives 1875 as the date of this election.)

167Hanham, p. 222. For a discussion of other factors contributing to the
victory see Blake, Disraeli, pp. 533-558. Hanham, pp. 227-228.

168W.S. Churchill, Lord Randolph Churchill, new ed. (London, 1951),
p. 114,
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traditional ruling class.169 Only two representatives of the industrial
and commercial middie~class received such appointments: Richard Cross
became Home Secretary and, outside the Cabinet, W.H. Smith received the
post of Financial Secretary to the Treasury.170 Gorst himself was left
entirely out in the cold; he received no recognition whatsoever for his
services to the party.l71
Gorst's official engagement as Principai Agent terminated
following the general election, and he now looked to the party to reward
him with a government office and assistance in securing an early re-entry
into Parliament, in fulfillment of the promise supposedly made to him at
the time of his appointment in 1870. An opportunity to discharge this
latter obligation soon arose. In May 1874 a vacancy cccurred at Midhurst
and a recommendation from the Tory leadership would have placed it in
Gorst's hands. However, the new Chief Whip, apparently with Disraeli's
approval, threw the party's support behind another aspiring candidate,
172

Admiral Hornby. Not unnaturally, Gorst felt himself to have been

treated shabbily in this affair. '"Now I would have given way in a moment

169W.T. Stead describes this process more colourfully: '"The old aristocratic
gang, which had sulked in its tent during the time Mr. Gorst was toiling

and moiling in the constituencies, returned with a rush as soomn as the
spoils of office were within reach and established themselves in full
possession of the field'". ("Character Sketch", p. 580.)

17OEven these concessions to middle-class support were resented by some
aristocratic and squirearchial elements within the party. For example,
Lord Randolph Churchill very soon dubbed the pair "Marshall and Snelgrove"
and they became the butt of his sarcasms on "bourgeois placemen'. (See
Viscount Chilston, W.H. Smith (London, 19653, pp. 83-86.)

171According to his son, '"'There was some talk afterwards of a dinner and
the presentation of some plate, but nothing came of it". (H.E. Gorst,
Fourth Party, p. 34.)

172Hughenden Papers, B/xxi/G/251, Gorst to Disraeli, 7 May, 1874.
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to Admiral Hornby, if T had been asked to do so for the good of the cause,

but I think that my claim to consideration of the Party should have been

recognised and not ignored", he complained to Disraeli.173

As the months elapsed following the election without bringing
Gorst any offer of preferment, he grew increasingly resentful towards the
party leadership. Upon receiving a rejection to his request for the
consideration of his brother for a minor post at the Treasury, he
acknowledged to that department's Financial Secretary, W.H. Smith:

I am by this time so accustomed to the refusal of every request I make
of the Conservative Government, whether on political or personal grounds,
that I am peither surprised nor mortified at the announcement that the
promise made to me on my brother's behalf is not to be fulfilled.

... I greatly deplore the forgetfullness which all the members of the
Government exhibit of those men, to whose exertions they largely owe
their present positions ... and I cannot see how we are to keep our
party together, unless those who have worked and made sacrifices for

the party in the days of adversity are to have some share in the
advantages which attend success.l’

This treatment at the hands of the party leadership also prompted Gorst to

complain to Hart Dyke regarding the general distribution of rewards by

party management: ... looking back on the nine months that we have been

in office, I cannot but perceive that all our patronage has been divided
between the personal friends of the ministers and ocur political opponents;

nothing whatever has been done to reward those who have shared with us the

labours and troubles of opposition ...", a practice which Gorst asserted

had produced "general discontent ... among their most faithful adherents".175

173Hughenden Papers, B/xxi/G/251, Gorst to Disraeil, 7 May, 1874.

lMﬂughenden Papers, B/xxi/D/463c, Gorst to W.H, Smith, 11 November, 1874.

175Hughenden Papers, B/xxi/D/463b, Gorst to W.H. Dyke, 19 November, 1874.
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When, in January 1875, the resignation of the Tory Member for
Chatham provided another chance for the Conservatives to compensate Gorst,
the party hierarchy opposed his candidature.176 Despite their opposition,
Gorst on this occasion succeeded in obtaining the nomination, was
successfully elected, and entered the House on February 18, 1875177
"with a somewhat cynical determination to say his say and go his own way

without regard to the convenience of party chiefs".178

176H.E. Gorst, Fourth Party, pp. 34-35.

l77Chatham News, 16 January, 1875. Ibid., February 20, 1875.

178"Character Sketch", p. 580.



CHAPTER II

THE QUEST FOR TORY DEMOCRACY: GORST AND
PARTY ORGANIZATION, 1875-1885

Gorst's success at the polls in 1875 brought no accompanying
reward of office from the Conservative Government. Finally, in November
1875, ten months after his return to the House, he was offered a minor
government position, that of Secretary to the Local Government Board.
However, after a few days' reflection he declined the offer, being
convinced that with the President of the Board also in the Commons the
post would lead only to "political extinction".l Thereafter, no further
offers were made to Gorst and he later expressed regret at not having made
a personal appeal to Disraeli for preferment at that time.2 This came to
light during an exchange of letters between Gorst and Disraeli, now Lord
Beaconsfield, which took place in the aftermath of the Prime Minister's
final cabinet re~shuffle of 1878 in which Gorst had again been excluded
from office., Beaconsfield reportedly told Gorst, "I have always been
accustomed to people pestering me for appointments, and could not understand
you keeping away. You have been very badly treated, and I am extremely

sorry for it."3 Gorst hastened to re-assure Disraeli that he exonerated

1Hughenden Papers, B/xxi/G/254, Gorst to Disraeli, 20 November, 1875;
ibid., B/xxi/G/259, Gorst to Disraeli, & April, 1878.

2Hughenden Papers, B/xxi/G/259, Gorst to Disraeli, 4 April, 1878.

3Quoted in H.E. Gorst, The Fourth Party (London, 1908}, p. 34.
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his leader from any vestige of responsibility for his mistreatment:

I am sorry that my letter of Saturday last was so ill-expressed as to
convey anything like a 'reproach'. I have never supposed that you
were either responsible for, or even cognizant of, the way in which
the party managers have since 1874 behaved towards me: and I have
regarded their hostility as a natural consequence of my steadfast
adherence to those popular primciples in politics, which you taught
me, which won the boroughs in 1874, and which though for the time being
in discredit must ultimately prevail.

I am to blame for not having asked for an interview with you before
declining the offer you so kindly made me in 1875. I then believed
that, for a person like myself without social interest, the acceptance
of such an offer meant political extinction.

Disraeli was certainly "cognizant" of the party management's
hositility towards Gorst. He had apparently acquiesced in Dyke's decision
to by-pass Gorst at the time of the Midhurst vacancys, and on at least two
occasions thereafter had received from Gorst correspondence outlining the
leadership’'s continuing disregard of him.6 Gorst had apparently fallen
victim to Disraeli's conservative strategy of the post-election years. In
order to preserve his newly-eminent position and party unity, both largely
products of the 1874 electoral victory, Disraeli created a mainly patrician
government, traditional in Tory administrations: half the Cabinet were
peers, the Whips were drawn from the landed gentry, and preferment in
other areas was given chiefly to representatives of the great Tory families.
Consequently, "men without aristocratic connections, but with considerable

claims on grounds of merit, political weight, or services to the party in

4Hughenden Papers, B/xxi/G/259, Gorst to Disraeli, 4 April, 1878.
5Hughenden Papers, B/xxi/G/251, Gorst to Disraeli, 7 May, 1874.

6Hughenden Papers, B/xxi/G/257, Gorst to Disraeli, 30 March, 1876. 1Ibid.,
B/xxi/G/258, Gorst to Disraeli, 3 March, 1877. 1In his letter of March 1876,
in which he sought Disraeli's consideration for a rumoured vacancy at the
Treasury, Gorst reminded his leader that "I am the only person engaged in
party management in 1874 to whom our accession to office has brought no
political advancement as yet."
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many cases received no preferment".7 Among this latter group were to be
found many middle-class borough members, representatives of the urban
Conservatism espoused by Gorst. Disraeli's failure to act on Gorst's
behalf was thus compatible with his current policy with regard to non-
aristocratic elements within the party.

Meanwhile, whilst working to establish his legal practice, Gorst
continued to serve the party management informally, although his official
engagement as party agent had ended with the victory of 1874.8 However,
circumstances soon rendered this arrangement increasingly unworkable.
Relations between Gorst and the party management, already strained because
of their indifference to his requests for preferment, were to deteriorate
further as a consequence of changes occurring in central organization after
the general election. Gorst now found himself being consulted less and
less as the Whips gradually assumed control over electoral management, thus
negating much of the work carried out by Gorst and his colleagues between
1870 and 1874, particularly with regard to the boroughs.9 Gorst's reaction
was expressed in a letter to Disraeli shortly after the November 1874

municipal elections:

7E.J. Feuchtwanger, Disraeli, Democracy and the Torxy Party (Oxford, 1968),
pp. 16~17 and Chap. 3. Hereafter referred to as Feuchtwanger, Democrac
and the Tory Party.

8after the election, Gorst had "consented, at Sir W. Dyke's request and out
of personal regard to him, to remain in a sort of undefined position until
some fresh arrangement could be made". (Hughenden Papers, B/xxi/G/258,
Gorst to Disraeli, 3 March, 1877.)

9Hughenden Papers, B/xxi/G/258, Gorst to Disraeli, 3 March, 1877.
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. These returns show that whereas in the contests of 1873 we won 112
seats and lost 83, in the contests of 1874 we have won 93 and lost 100

.. I do not dissent from your view that the mass of the people is, or
may be made, Tory. But masses cannot move without leaders; and in
English Boroughs we are grievously deficient in Tory leaders. Those
of the higher classes in Boroughs who take part in politics have
everything to lose and nothing to gain by attaching themselves to the
Tory party; and we therefore find wealth, influence, ability, and all
local political forces arranged against us.
I am in hopes that the power and patronage which the possession of office
has given us might have been to some extent at least so used as to create
in the Boroughs a permanent Tory faction.
Gorst went on to complain that the party management, none of whom were
Borough members, were either unable to appreciate the situation or had
resigned themselves to an erosion of borough electoral strength.

However, the leadership was not prepared to take Gorst's warnings
seriously. When they were brought to the attention of Dyke he brushed
them aside. Although he was obliged to admit that the returns appeared to
support Gorst's view that the party was losing ground, he assured Disraeli
that Gorst's diagnosis of the situation was overly pessimistic. He
apparently felt that the latter's conclusions were coloured by what he
perceived to be mistreatment by the party leadership, citing Gorst's
complaints concerning the direction of party patronage and his failure to
obtain office for his brother as examples of Gorst's resentment, Despite
the friction between them, Dyke apparently found Gorst too valuable an
associate to dispense with his services at this time for he concluded his
letter to Disraeli with the admission, "He is I am bound to say of great
use to me with all his crotchets and since our talk the other day he writes

me a cheerful letter and he is working hard now at the St. Ives Election ...

Things are so quiet now that I am much disposed to keep Gorst in hand,

10Hughenden Papers, B/xzxi/D/463a, Gorst to Disraeli, 2 December, 1874.
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crotchets and all".ll

The municipal elections of 1875 resulted in further reverses
for the Conservatives, and further calls to action from Gorst,12 all of
which went unheeded by Disraeli and the party management. This indifference,
together with their continuing insensibility towards Gorst's requests for
preferment, intensified his criticism of the party management, increasing
the acrimony between them. At the same time, Gorst's behaviour in the
House following his re-entry into Parliament in February 1875, succeeded
in further alienating the leadership. As he had intimated whilst on the
Chatham hustings ("if returned ... he should always be sufficiently
independent to say what he thought”13), Gorst refused to toe the party line.
On two occasions he led the Opposition into the lobby against the Govern-
ment.14 Consequently, early in 1877 the decision was made to dispense with
his services and, after being notified of this by Dyke, Gorst wrote to
Disraeli outlining his grievances and warning him again of the perilous

state into which party organization had fallen since 1874:

During this period I have found myself without any power and with continually
decreasing influence, having had little or no voice in the selection of
candidates and the management of elections; and I have had the misfortune

to witness the whole system, to establish which so much trouble was taken,
gradually fall into decay. Our organisation in 1877 is greatly inferior to
what it was in 1874; and the attempt to renovate and improve it has not

come a day too soon. But to succeed in the attempt you must put a stop to
that which has been the chief cause of all the mischief that has occurred

- the system which Sir W. Dyke has been required to follow - of managing
elections at the Treasury. I always thought this a most unwise policy on

11Hughenden Papers, B/xxi/D/463, W. Dyke to Disraeli, 8 December, 1874.

IzHughenden Papers, B/xxi/G/253, Gorst to Disraeli, 10 November, 1875;
B/xxi/G/255, Gorst to Disraeli, 22 November, 1875.

13Chatham News, Feb. 13, 1875.

14"Character Sketch: December. Sir John Gorst", Review of Reviews, 3 (1891):
580. Hereafter referred to as "Character Sketch".
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the part of the late government, and since we have been in office
experience has justified that opinion. Instead of the management being
vested in my office, under Sir W. Dyke's control, I have been consulted
intermittendly. ... The established principle of non-interference with
the local leaders has in many instances been neglected; and these

leaders have been constantly offended and alienated both in distribution
of patronage and in other matters.

In order to mitigate these problems, Gorst advised Disraeli to divorce
electoral management from the Treasury. He suggested that an independent
M.P. be placed in charge of party management, but that a finance committee,
other than any one individual, oversee electoral expenditures. Gorst
concluded with the admonition that if nothing was done the Conservative
organization at the next general election would be as inferior to that of
the Liberals as it was superior in 1874,

Once again Gorst's counsel was ignored and his prophesies of
disaster were soon to be proved correct. His replacement at Central Office,
W.B. Skene, was ineffectual and the Whips' practice of controlling electoral
management from the Treasury continued through 1879, at which time
organization collapsed completely when Dyke fell ill from over-work and
the 1880 general election was conducted amid dislocation and disarray.16
The election result, a resounding Liberal victory, undoubtedly owed something
to the Conservative leadership's neglect of the party machinery following

Gorst's departure in 1877.17 Gorst himself survived the swing to the

Liberals, retaining his seat at Chatham, albeit with a reduced majority,l8

lSHughenden Papers, B/xxi/G/258, Gorst to Disraeli, 3 March, 1877.

164 nham, pp. 362-363.

17T.O. Lloyd, The General Election of 1880 (London, 1968), pp. 79-81.
Election Results: Conservatives 237; Liberals 353; Irish Nationalists, 62.

18

F.S. Craig, British Parliamentary Election Results, 1885-1918 (London,
1974), p. 82.
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and the Gladstone Parliament which followed was to witness the further
development of both his political independence and his commitment to Tory
democracy which had marked his apprenticeship in the House between 1875
and 1880.

Rumblings of discontent with party organization echoed through
Conservative circles in the wake of the 1880 election fiasco. There were
numerous complaints that the liaison between Tory headquarters and the
constituencies was highly ineffective.19 According to one defeated
Conservative candidate, and future Solicitor-General, the party machinery
at this period suffered grave defects: '"Election affairs had gone to the
dogs ... The care, the experience, the personal supervision which Mr.
Disraeli, assisted by a few practised hands, had bestowed upon the prepara-
tions for the general election of 1874 disappeared. A weak but widespreading
centralisation enervated the vigour of the provincial organization".zo
During the National Union's post mortem of the defeat, held during its
annual conference of that year, Gorst concluded that "compared with the
organization of their opponents they were left far behind".21

The advantages to be derived from efficient organization were
evidenced by the Liberal victory. Moreover, the distinct possibility of

the extension of the franchise to the counties in the not too distant

future made the overhaul of Tory party organization an urgent necessity.

19See "Consexrvative Reorganisation", Blackwood's Edinburgh Magazine 127 (1880):
804-810; "A Tory View of the Election', Nineteenth Century 7 (1880): 905-916.

2OSir Edward Clarke, The Story of My Life (London, 1918), p. 95.

21Minutes of the 1880 Conference of the National Unjon, quoted in T.0. Lloyd,
p. 80.
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Consequently, when the Conservative Cabinet assembled for its final meeting
it resolved to take ''some serious steps to improve our organization' and a
standing committee, headed by W.H. Smith, was established to consider the
problem.22 The chief results of this body's deliberations, to which Gorst
contributed,23 were the appointment of a permanent committee to oversee
party organization and the re-appointment of Gorst as party agent. The new
committee, which eventually became known as the Central Committee, was
composed of ind;viduals experienced in party management ~ the Whips and a
number of party officials and prominent Tory politicians - plus a represen-
tative of the National Union, with the Principal Agent, Gorst, as executive
officer and W.H. Smith as Chairman. Tt was essentially just another
version of the ad hoc election committees utilized by the party in the
contests of 1868 and 1874 resurrected in more formal guise.

The decision to re-engage Gorst was apparently made with some
reluctance; memories of the acrimony which had developed between Gorst and
the party managers during the final stages of his previous term of office
as party agent obviously remained fresh. There were, however, compelling
arguments in favour of his reinstatement. The party was sorely in need of
his expertise and, in addition, it was thought that his recall would work
to conciliate borough leaders currently venting their anger in the National
Union Council over the election defeat.zlF Consequently, the Tory hierarchy

relinquished their initial cbjections and re-appeointed him agent.

22Iddesleigh Papers, Add. MS5,500 63A, Northcote's Diary 20, (4pril 1880),
quoted in Feuchtwanger, Democracy and the Tory Party, p. 143.

23Ibid., 5, 21, 26 May, 1880, cited in Feuchtwanger, Democracy and the
Tory Party, p. 1l44.

24James Cornford, "The Transformation of Conservatism in the Late Nineteenth
Century', Victorian Studies 7 (1963-64): 35-66,
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Nevertheless, Northcote proposed that Gorst's re-instatement should be
initially an "experimental arrangement', apparently allowing for a trial
period during which the party could assess his performance in office.25

However, the party management's willingness to accede to Gorst's
terms during negotiations conducted between'them, prior to his re-
engagement, reveal that despite their reservations, they still wanted to
have Gorst in harness once again. At a meeting held between Northcote,
W.H. Smith and Gorst in early July 1880, the offer of the position of
agent was made to the latter along with the promise that "if he gave his
assistance in re-organizing the electoral machinery of the constituencies,
and the party were successful, his services would be recognised by the
offer of office for which he might be eligible'. Gorst at once declined
the offer because, as he pointed out to Northcote and Smith, the same
assurance had been given to him before the victory of 1874 "and the only
offer he got was an Under-Secretaryship with the Chief in the Commons, thus
practically shelving him". Smith hastened to reassure Gorst that he could
expect a Law Officer's appointment consistent with his qualifications, and
he now agreed to serve on a part-time basis on the condition that the future
offer "should be one which would not silence him in the House or deny him
the chance of showing his own ability and claim for further political
promotion".26

At a subsequent meeting between the three, Gorst succeeded in

obtaining further concessions to his independence. The Central Committee

had intended to keep control of party monies in its own and the Whips'

2sHambledon Papers, PS6/617, Northecote to W.H. Smith, 15 May, 1880.

26Hambledon Papers, Ps6/626. Notes of an interview between Sir S. Northcote,
W.H. Smith and Mr. Gorst, 7 July, 1880.
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hands, allowing Gorst jurisdiction over candidate selection, but at his
insistence Smith was obliged to grant him some measure of authority over
finances. Thus, Smith's original proposal stating Gorst was ''mot to be at
liberty to promise any money' was changed to read "Mr. Gorst should in all
cases initiate proposals though he should héve no power to do this without
the sanction of the committee".27

Personal differences proved to be one impediment to the
development of a rapport between Gorst and party management. In the wake
of the 1880 election an analyst of the Conservative defeat had suggested
that the much-needed party reorganization ought to include the appointment
of a London agent ""of high social position, the equivalent of the Chief
Whip, so that he could mix with the wealthy supporters of the party".28
This reflected the desire of the Tory traditionalists, including some
members of the party management, to preserve the party as a bastion of the
landed gentry supported by an electoral system based upon wealth and
influence.

Gorst failed to match this party image; his middle-class background
rendered him out of step sccially with a large section of the party and most
of its management, the latter being a close~knit group of predominantly
country gentlemen. Gorst did not enjoy the confidence of the great landed
families and was thus denied access to upper-class social life, the milieu

for the development of those contacts with rich and influential Tories

which many in the party considered essential to successful party management.

27Hamb1edon Papers, PS6/646. Memorandum on Party Organization by W.H. Smith,
undated.

28"Conservative Reorganisation", p. 808.
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However, political differences rather than personal dissimilarities
were the crucial factor in the development of animosity between Gorst and
party management. During July 1880, when Gorst was resuming his duties as
party agent, Dyke's successor as Chief Whip, Rowland Winn, assumed office
and the widely~differing political ocutlooks of these two individuals very
soon led to disagreements over policy. Winn was a Tory of the old school;
his political experience had been gained in the influence-dominated, small
electorates in the counties and he feared and resisted democratic and
radical tendencies. Thus his viewpoint contrasted sharply with that of
Gorst who, in the wake of the 1880 debacle, was more than ever convinced
that the fortunes of the Tory party rested with Tory Democracy: only by
seeking and obtaining the support of the middle and working-class electorates,
particularly in the boroughs, would the Conservatives obtain future Success.29

Consequently, Gorst and Winn were very quickly at odds over
electoral methods, particularly with regard to the deployment of party funds.
Gorst, who was strongly opposed to corrupt practices and determined to
dissociate Central Office from its methods, complained to Smith regarding
the activities of one T.C. Shaw, a party agent at Sheffield and Winn's

protege:

I will do my best to 'menager' Winn and his protege Shaw. My objection
to the latter is more complex than the former supposes. Chiefly he is
prone to corrupt practices, which accounts for his being in such request
among corrupt constituencies. What Winn's phrases about not appreciating
the money etc. spent for Birmingham come to is that I won't fight
corruption by corruption. To this I plead guilty: it is our policy to
force the Government to pass an Act that will stop as much corruption as
possible, and if Harry Thynne and his friends will have corrupt practices
on our side they must have them locally, not fostered and organised from
headquarters by Mr. Shaw or anybody else. ... I am quite in favour of
treating Winn and the old identity with consideration, but they can

29Feuchtwanger, Democracy and the Tory Party, pp. 56-57. Viscount Chilston,
W.H. Smith (London, 1965), pp. 159-160.
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hardly expect us to take their modus operandi as our model or accept
Dyke's judgment of character as infallible.30

The limitation of corrupt practices, as advocated by Gorst, by reducing

the power of influence and corruption and increasing the role of the party
organization in election contests, would provide the Central Office with

a greater voice in candidate selection, a development clearly in accordance
with Gorst's concept of party management.

On the question of corrupt practices Gorst had the full support
of Northcote,31 but was opposed by W.H. Smith, who later objected to the
Corrupt Practices Bill on the grounds that its passage, by reducing expen=~
diture on elections and thereby creating the necessity for voluntary help,
would place the party at a disadvantage to their opponents who, unlike the
Conservatives, had the trade unions, dissenting chapels and other Radical
organizations working for them.32 Gorst's convictions also met with
little sympathy amongst the "old identity", the members of the 1880 electoral
committee such as Lord Abergavenny (formerly Lord Nevill) and Henry Thynne,
who preferred the prevailing system of influence and corrupticn and to
whom the Tory Democracy advocated by Gorst was anathema.

To these tensions arising from corrupt practices were also added
friction resulting from Gorst's continuing independence in the House of

Commons, particularly his activities as a member of a Conservative ginger

30Hamb1edon Papers, PS6/639, Gorst to W.H. Smith, 8 September, 1880.

31Feuchtwanger, Demgeracy and the Tory Party, p. 149.

324 H. Smith to Lord Salisbury, August 14, 1883, quoted in H.J. Hanham,
Elections and Party Management (London, 1959), p. 247.
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group known as the Fourth ?arty.33 This small clique of freelancers,
consisting of Sir Henry Wolff, lord Randolph Churchill, Arthur Balfour and
Gorst, rose to prominence during the Gladstone Parliament of 1880-1885.

The Fourth Party was created out of the turmoil of the first stages of the
notorious and protracted Bradlaugh controvefsy, early in the opening
session of the new Parliament. Radical Liberal Charles Bradlaugh, whose
writings and speeches advocating atheism, birth control and republicanism
had earned him the contempt of many within the middle and upper-classes,
sought to avoid the usual oath of allegiance required of new members of
Parliament, claiming the right to affirm instead. When a select committee,
appointed by the Speaker to examine Bradlaugh's request, ruled against

him, he publicly announced his intention to take, to him, the meaningless
oath. The apparent willingness of the Liberal Ministers to acquiesce in
Bradlaugh's manoeuvre prompted the Fourth Party to oppose Bradlaugh's
attempt to take his seat in the Commons, Wolff, Gorst and Churchill providing
the debating skills, Mr. Balfour contributing mainly voting strength. What
began as personal, independent resistance on the part of these individuals
very quickly developed into concerted group action as they perceived the
advantages to be gained from a unified campaign. In debate after debate
upon Bradlaugh's status, the Fourth Party adopted obstructionist tactics

which won the support of the House and succeeded in having the Radical

337he origin of the group's designation as the "Fourth Party" is unclear.
Sir Winston Churchill suggests the name derived from an interjected
conversation in a House of Commons' debate: upon an M.P.'s remarks that
there existed "two great parties in the State”, Mr. Parnell interposed,
“Three", whereupon Lord Randolph Churchill retorted, "Four". (Winston

S. Churchill, lLord Randolph Churchill (New Edition, Londom, 1951), p.122).
For other explanations see: W.L. Arnstein, The Bradlaugh Case (Oxford,
1965), pp. 44-45; H.W. Lucy, Memories of Eight Parliaments (London, 1908),
p. 255, hereafter referred to as H.W. Lucy, Eight Parliaments.
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repeatedly barred from Parliament.34

In the playing out of this drama, the Fourth Party colleagues
formed an informal alliance to assault Bradlaugh's stance; at the conclusion
of the battle they had been forged into an identifiable political unit
constituting a vocal, independent Oppositioﬁ to the Government. Once this
liaison was formed, the Fourth Party very rapidly expanded its activities
beyond the Bradlaugh issue, taking every opportunity to attack the Gladstone
Ministry in the Commons. The Government's legislative proposals and its
Imperial and foreign policies were systematically subjected to Fourth~Party
assault.35 By the end of August 1880, Wolff, Churchill and Gorst together
had contributed a grand total of 247 speeches and asked 73 questions in
the Commons, Gorst personally having delivered 105 of the former and put
forward 18 of the }.atter.36

In executing these tactics, the Fourth Party sought not only to
embarrass the Liberals but alsc to supply some vigour to a Coanservative
Opposition demoralized by its electoral defeat and apparently unable to
present an effective parliamentary counter attack against the Government.
However, according to Gorst's son, his father's decision to cast his lot
with the Fourth Party was made ''not only because he perceived the tactical

advantage of such a combine in the absence of an effective and united

34Arnstein, Chaps. 4,5 and 8. H.E. Gorst, The Fourth Party (London, 1906),
p. 43, pp. 51-68. Hereafter referred to as H.E. Gorst, Fourth Party;

W.H. Lucy, Peeps at Parliament (London, 1903), pp. 168-171; Sir Henry
Drummond Wolff, Rambling Recollections, 2 vols. (london, 1908), 2, p. 258.
Following the general election of 1885, Bradlaugh was allowed to take the
oath without challenge and in 1886 he successfully steered an Affirmation
Bill through Parliament.

35H.E. Gorst, Fourth Party, pp. 119-131.

36H.W. Lucy, A Diary of Two Parliaments (London, 1886), p. 87, hereafter
referred to as H.W. Lucy, Two Parliaments.
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Opposition', but because he believed that his colleagues shared his desire
to revive Tory-democratic ideals within the party.37

It was also the Fourth Party's intention to highlight the
weakness of the Tory party's Commons' leadership, particularly that of Sir
Stafford Northcote whose authority they repﬁdiated and to whom they were
openly disrespectfu1.38 Northcote, who had assumed leadership of the
Commons upon Disraeli's elevation to the Lords, was an agreeable, unassuming
man whose earlier service as Gladstone's private secretary had rendered him
excessively deferential to the Liberal premier and, consequently, no match
for him in Parliament.39 Disraeli himself admitted to Wolff that he would
have remained in the Commons had he known that Gladstone would return as
Liberal leader. Northcote's repeated failure to take the initiative in
the House during the first session eventually prompted the Fourth Party to
launch a direct attack upon the Conservative leader, without specifically
naming him, in a speech delivered by Balfour at a party meeting at the
Carlton Club in August 1880, whilst Wolff made a formal complaint to
Beaconsfield concerning Sir Stafford's over-cautious and indecisive

, 40 .
behaviour. Meanwhile, frustration with the leadership's continuing

37H.E. Gorst, Fourth Party, p. 74, pp. 245-246.

38y nston Churchill, pp. 124-125; H.E. Gorst, Fourth Party, p. 130;
H.W. Lucy, Two Parliaments, pp. 76-77; Edith Vane-Tempest-Stewart,
Marchioness of londonderry, Henry Chaplin (London, 1926), pp. 160-161.

39Winst0n Churchill, pp. 123-126; H.E. Gorst, Fourth Party, pp. 3-4;
Sir Henry Drummond Wolff, 2, 253.

4OWinSton Churchill, pp. 125, 131.
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irresolution led the group to ever-increasing parliamentary independence.
By early September, Lord Granville was reporting to the Queen that "Sir
Stafford Northcote has lost all authority over a portion of Comnservative
M.P.'s ...".41

Not surprisingly, the party managément considered Gorst's Fourth-
Party activism incompatible with his official position as party agent.

His participation in the group's attacks on Northcote in Parliament were
in direct conflict with his role as loyal officer to a Central Committee
answerable to the official Conservative leadership for party business
outside the Commons.42 Consequently, attempts were made to break up the
rebel clique. Gorst, however, was quite unrepentant and determined to
continue actively involved with the Fourth Party and to remain independent
of officialdom. In September 1880, he complained to Smith: ''... There

is a regular intrigue going on on the part of Bourke and others against
Lord Randolph Churchill, Wolff and myself. They tried to detach Balfour
from us but failed. We mean to stick together and we shall be loyal to
Northcote if he is loyal to us. But self-preservation is the first law of
politics as well as nature and contingencies may happen which will end in
your being obliged to take the place of leader in the Commons whether you
like it or nol:".43

Shortly afterwards, Northcote himself, under cover of regular

management correspondence with Gorst, asked for a cessation of the Fourth

41Quoted in The Letters of Queen Victoria, ed. George E. Buckle, 2nd Series,
1862-1885, 3 vols. (London, 1928), 3, 143, note 2.

42Feuchtwanger, Democracy and the Tory Party, p. 148.

43Hambledon Papers, PS6/639, Gorst to W.H. Smith, 8 September, 1880.
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Party's parliamentary activities. After a discussion of party business,
Northecote cautioned Gorst: "I am inclined to think that the Fourth Party
has done enough for its fame, and that it will be the wiser course for its
members now quietly to take their places in the main body where they will

“.44 Gorst's reply was cordial but

have work enough and to spare ...
uncompromising. He lauded the group's steadfastness and loyalty to the
party, whilst avoiding any mention of their dissolution.45 However, on
the same day he wrote to Churchill commenting on Northcote's actions and
revealing his determination not to yield. "I got a letter a day or two
ago from the Goat46 which nearly gave me a fit ... After some banalities
about organisation he went on to propose the dissolution of the Fourth
Party ... I have replied that we shall prove one of his best instruments
of political warfare ...; that each of us feels stronger for the support
and wiser for the counsels of his fellows; and that we are all determined
to back him up loyally in fighting the combination of Whigs and Radicals
who oppose us ...".47 However, after reflecting further upon Northcote's

letter, Gorst conceived a plan to turn his leader's suggestion to the

Fourth Party's advantage, and he immediately outlined his plan to Churchill:

44Balfour Papers, BL. Add. MS. 49791, ££.1-4. Northcote to Gorst, 11
September, 1880.

45Iddesleigh Papers, BL. Add. MS. 50041, ££.25-38. Gorst to Northcote,
15 September, 1880.

46he "Goat" was the Fourth Party's name for Northcote. It was originally
coined in reference to his beard but later became the designation for all
Tories the Fourth Party considered 'weak-kneed". (Winston Churchill, p. 124.)

47Churchill Papers, 11, Gorst to Churchill, 15 September, 1880. Gorst also
wrote similar letters to Balfour and Wolff. (Balfour Papers, BL. Add. MS.
49791, ££5-6, Gorst to Balfour, 15 September, 1880; H.E. Gorst, Fourth Party,
pp- 132-133.)
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Suppose we were to treat the proposition of the Goat as a serious one
and after mature deliberation accept it, that we should at his request
give up the idea which we had never seriously entertained of a separate
Fourth Party, and consent at his invitation to take our 'places in the
ranks'. We could then next session, all four of us plant ourselves in
a body on the second bench immediately behind Northcote. There we
should have him completely under our thumb...: we should cut him off
from his satellites... In short, we should invade the front bench,
make prisoner of the Goat and set him up as our leader .48
Gorst's main reason for opposing Northcote was the latter's inability to
provide an effective Opposition, the consequence, so Gorst believed, of
over-reliance upon the advice of subordinates, particularly Richard Cross
and W,H. Smith. Thus, if his plan succeeded, placing the Fourth Party in
a position to implement Tory Democracy, he was willing to accede to
' , 49
Northcote's stewardship.

Gorst's colleagues, however, were not prepared to accept
Northcote's leadership, even under Fourth Party control, and rejected his
suggestion.so Balfour's opposition stemmed from his desire to avoid
strengthening Northcote's position to the detriment of his uncle's, Lord

5 .

Salisbury's, prospects as Beaconsfield's successor, L and both Churchill

and Wolff believed Northcote too mediocre ever to cope effectively with

the demands of 1eadership.52 Consequently, Gorst conceded to his colleagues

“8Churchill Papers, 12, Gorst to Churchill, 16 September, 1880.

49H.E. Gorst, Fourth Party, p. 215.

5OChurchill Papers, 10, Gorst to Churchill, 21 September, 1880.

51H. Drummond Wolff, 2, p. 258.

52H.E. Gorst, Fourth Party, p. 134, p. 215. Some years later, Churchill
confessed to Charles Dilke that he regretted not having adopted Gorst's
plan because it would have rendered their endeavours more effective.
(Stephen Gwynn and Gertrude M. Tuckwell, The Tife of the Right Honourable
Sir Charles Dilke, 2 vols. [London, 1917], 1, pp- 267-268.)
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on the issue and the Fourth Party maintained its independent Opposition
role. Gorst did, however, continue to keep Northcote informed of Central
Office activities and to offer him suggestions concerning the direction of
Conservative policy, and on this level at least their relationship remained
a cordial one.53

Meanwhile, following his return to Central Office, Gorst resumed
his earlier practice of corresponding with Beaconsfield on organizational
matters and their relationship remained unruffled by the friction which
marred his association with party management.s4 Gorst believed that
Beaconsfield approved of the Fourth Party's parliamentary independence.55
In August 1880, Beaconsfield had made one of his infrequent visits to the
Commonts to view the group in action and was apparently very impressed by
their tactic356 and following a meeting with Beaconsfield at Hughenden,
early in November, Gorst triumphantly reported to Churchill that his
Lordship had praised their energy, expressed great confidence in their

ability, offered them his advice and assistance and suggested that "just

53Hambledon Papers, P6/644, Northcote to W.H. Smith, 21 December, 1880;
Tddesleigh Papers, Vol. 29, BL. Add. MS. 50041, f£f, 39-40, Gorst to Northcote,
30 October, 1880; ibid., ff, 41-42, Northcote to Gorst, 1 November, 1880.

54Hughenden Papers, B/xxi/G/260-264, Gorst to Beaconsfield, 30 September,
4 November, l4 December, 29 December, 1880. 24 February, 1881.

SSH.E. Gorst, Fourth Party, pp. 147-151.

56W.F. Monypenny and G.E. Buckle, The life of Benjamin Pisraeli, 2 vols.
(New ed. London, 1929), 2, 1460-1461.
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at present we need not be too scrupulous about obeying cur leader'.

However, Beaconsfield had also admonished Gorst to have the Fourth Party
"courteously inform Northcote ... of any step we are about to take in the
House of Commons and listen with respect and attention to anything he may
say about it"; because "An open rupture between us would ... be most
disastrous".57 This would seem to indicate that Beaconsfield was willing
to condone Fourth Party attempts to rejuvenate a demoralized Conservative
party but not at the expense of party unity.s8

Despite the demands of his parliamentary duties and Fourth Party
activities, Gorst continued to apply himself conscientiocusly to his work at
Central Office, as his letters to Beaconsfield during the Autumn and Winter
of 1880-1881 reveal.sg However, the current political situvation being
unconducive to bold initiatives on the part of the ConservativesGD meant
that the bulk of Central Office activity was restricted to routine
organizational work.61 However, the party management was evidently inclined
to attribute Conservative malaise to what they perceived to be Gorst's
neglect of party organization. In April 1881, Gorst wrote to Smith in
defence of his organizational policies, apparently in reply to the latter's

criticism of his performance. In Gorst's view, revitalization in the

57Churchill Papers, 23, Gorst to Churchill, 9 November, 1880.

58Robert Blake, Disraeli (London, 1966), pp. 729-730. Hereafter referred to
as Blake, Disraeli.

59Hughenden Papers, B/xxi/G/260-264, Gorst to Beaconsfield, 30 September,
4 November, 14 December, 29 December, 1880; 24 February, 1881.

60Feuchtwanger, Democracy and the Tory Party, p. 152.

618ee, for example, Hughenden Papers, B/xxi/G/264, Gorst to Beaconsfield,
24 February, 1881. Also reproduced in Hanham, pp. 359-361,
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constituencies was dependent upon local initiative rather than Central
Office stimulus: '"... I will have the work we are doing in stimulating
local effort pushed on. I do not however expect much practical result.
Political activity seems to me to depend on causes too wide and deep to
be controlled ... We may to some extent guide political activity when it
does arise into useful channels ~ but create it - no. We can gain
thoroughly reliable information as to the state of the constituencies and
we can let the local leaders know that there is a body at headquarters to
communicate with. Further than this we cannot go until local feeling
awakes".62

This episode served to accentuate the tensions existing between
party management and Gorst, tensions reminiscent of their difficulties of
the 'seventies which had precipitated his dismissal from office.
Consequently, he now evidently became concerned over his future prospects
with the party. Thus, following a conversation with Smith during which
the question of recompense for Gorst's services seemingly arose he hastened
to reject any offer of monetary reward, evidently fearing that such a
payment would prejudice his claims to future political office.63 Smith,
however, immediately seized the opportunity to press exactly such a settle-

ment on Gorst, at the same time indicating that he would be expected to

. . ; . 6
give more time and effort to his duties under the new arrangement. 4 No

doubt because of his past experiences with the party in the matter of

political rewards, Gorst apparently concluded that this offer did indeed

62 ambledon Papers, PS7/21, Gorst to W.H. Smith, 20 April, 1881.

63Hambledon Papers, PS7/40, Gorst to W.H. Smith, 27 May, 1881.

64Hambledon Papers, 10/3, W.H. Smith to Gorst, 21 June, 188l.
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represent the only compensation he was likely to receive and, thus, he now
agreed to a pecuniary settlement.65
Perhaps because of financial necessity,66 or simply out of
justifiable chagrin at his continuing exclusion from political office,
Gorst determined to extract maxXximum financial benefit from his position.
The party offered him one thousand guineas for the year 1881-1882, which he
accepted, assuming that a similar sum would be paid him retroactively for
the year 1880-1881. However, party management presented him with a cheque
for only half that amount stating that this payment was outside their formal
agreement and was proffered to him as a gesture for services rendered to the
party. After several unsuccessful attempts to obtain the full amount to
which he believed he was entitled, Gorst finally relindquished his claim.67
Following this disagreement, Gorst found himself on the defensive
once again in response to continuing criticism from the party. Within a
few weeks Smith was reprimanding Gorst for absenting himself from Central
Office without informing his colleagues there and suggesting that this
involved a dereliction of duty on Gorst's part,68 degpite having received a

letter from him just one week earlier in which Gorst outlined the extensive

85 yambledon Papers, PS7/52, Gorst to W.H. Smith, 23 June, 1881.

66The demands of political office effectively prevented Gorst from establishing
a lucrative legal career and this lack of income combined with the expenses

of parliamentary life, seems to have kept Gorst in modest circumstances
throughout his political career. His friend, Charles Dilke, described him

as being "a poor man all his life'. (8. Gwynn and G.M. Tuckwell, p. 565.)

67Hambledon Papers, 10/3, W.H. Smith to Gorst, 21 June, 1881; PS7/52, Gorst
to W.H. Smith, 23 June, 1881; PS7/59, Gorst to W.H. Smith, 15 July, 1881;
PS7/60, W.H. Smith to Gorst, 16 July, 1881; PS7/61, Gorst to W.H. Smith,

18 July, 1881; PS7/63, Note by W.H, Smith on reply to Gorst's letter of
July 18 (undated).

68Hamb1edon Papers, PS7/81, W.H. Smith to Gorst, 17 August, 1881.
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organizational work he had undertaken in the month previous to his departure
for holidays, including preparations for a promotional tour of constituencies
in Northern England, Ireland and Scotland.69 In addition, when Gorst
returned from this tour70 he found that management dissatisfaction with him
had spread to a small but influential group of his constituents in Chatham
who were seeking to deny him the parliamentary nomination for that borough

in the future. This prompted him to solicit, apparently successfully, the
intervention of Lord Salisbury on his behalf,71 the latter being one
Conservative notable with whom Gorst appears to have been still on amicable
terms.

Meanwhile, notwithstanding Gorst's promotional efforts, there were
few indications of Tory rejuvenation at the constituency level during Autumn
and Winter of 1881-1882, further increasing management's discontent with
organizational methods.73 The Central Committee apparently moved to usurp
Gorst's authority, particularly his privileges in the delicate area of
electoral finance granted him at the time of his re-appointment in 1880, a
move he strenuously resisted.74 By the late Summer of 1882, Gorst's frustra-

tion with the leadership's continuing commitment to class interest at the

69Hambledon Papers, PS7/79, Gorst to W.H, Smith, 10 August, 1881l. Both
Feuchtwanger and Viscount Chilston suggest that Gorst's action in absenting
himself from Central Office at this time indicates a weakening of his commitment
to his official duties, arising from his monetary dispute with the party
(Viscount Chilston, p. 164; Feuchtwanger, Democracy and the Tory Party, p. 154.)
However, Gorst's letter of August 10, 1881, to Smith shows that he continued to
involve himself actively in organizatiomal work at this time.

70

Churchill Papers, 52, Gorst to Churchill, 21 October, 1881.

7lSalisbury Papers, 41, Gorst to Salisbury, 5 December, 188l.

7ZSalisbury Papers, 40, Gorst to Salisbury, 26 November, 1881; ibid., 42, Gorst

to Salisbury, 15 December, 1881; 44, Gorst to Salisbury, 30 December, 1881.

73Feuchtwanger, Democracy and the Tory Party, pp. 154-155.

74Hambledon Papers, HA 10/4, Gorst to W.H. Smith, 24 February, 1882.
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expense of Tory Democracy, in the running of the Comservative organization,
prompted him to contemplate a public critique of the party's ineptness as
a political institution and a denunciation of its self-seeking, oligarchic
1eadership.75

Gorst's censure of Conservative management and party organization
duly appeared as an unsigned article entitled "Conservative Disorganisation'

in the November 1882 issue of the Fortnightly Review. Once again, Gorst

recapitulated the many criticisms he had been making since the early
'seventies. The Conservative party continued to be a bastion of the upper
classes, its leadership existing in an environment in which "a sense of
their own importance and of the importance of their class interests and
privileges is exaggerated, and to which the opinions of the common pecple
can scarcely penetrate"”. In order to survive as a political power the
party must become a "'popular party”, he argued. The majority of upper-class
Tories were unconcerned with party organization; since the great victory of
1874 social influence had again become predominant in the party, resulting
in a heightening of class distinctions and the neglect of borough interests
and, as a consequence, those areas had swung to the Liberals in 1880. If
the Conservatives persisted in adhering to these methods as a means of
returning to political power, 'they had a long time to wait', concluded

Gorst.76

75Churchill Papers, 76, Gorst to Churchill, 10 September, 1882.

76“Conservative Disorganisation”, Fortnightly Review 32 (1882): 42-45.

The article was signed "Two Conservatives' and Gorst's collaborator is
thought to have been his Fourth Party colleague, Sir Henry Drummond Wolff.
(See R.T. McKenzie, British Political Parties, 2nd ed. [New York, 1963],
p. 168; J.H. Robb, The Primrose League 1883-1906 [AMS Press ed. New York,
19681, p. 30; W.J. Wilkinson, Tory Democracy [New York, 1925], p. 90.)
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Not surprisingly, party reaction to this attack was extremely
hostile77 and, once its authorship was established, it served to end Gorst's
second te%m as party agent. At a meeting of the Chelsea Conservative
Assocjation a resolution was passed condemning Gorst's conduct towards the
party leaders. This decision, strongly endorsed by the meeting's chairman,
Sir Claude Hamilton, was sent by him to Northcote who thereupon forwarded
the resolution to Gorst. Upon receipt of Northcote's letter, Gorst tendered
his resignation to Northcote,78 at the same time informing Salisbury of his
action.79

Thus, as in 1877, Gorst's departure from office was prompted by
the basic incompatibility existing between himself and party management,
resulting primarily from political rather than personal differences.

Gorst's continuing commitment to popular Conservatism and the party leaders'
persistent promotion of upper~class interests to the neglect of Tory
Democracy had once again created an acrimonious situation which rendered
Gorst's position untenable.

As party agent, Gorst had been a thorn in the side of the Tory
hierarchy. His resistance to party discipline, combined with his outspoken

parliamentary criticisms of Conservative policies and leadership, particularly

77This reaction was evidently so strong that Randolph Churchill thought

it politic to publicly denounce the article, intimating that its authors
were not ""Two Conservatives" but, rather, two dissatisfied Whigs.

(Minutes of the 1882 Conference of the National Union, cited in T.0. Lloyd,
p. 81.)

781ddesleigh Papers, BL. Add. MS. 50041, £.11l4, Gorst to Northcote,
17 November, 1882,

7gs.sa\l:i.sbury Papers, 50, Gorst to Salisbury, 17 November, 1882.
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after 1880, had earned him a reputation as a ''malcontent Tory".so Once

released ?rom his official duties, and the restraints they entailed, he
was to prove an even more formidable adversary of traditional Toryism.
Having once again failed in his efforts to obtain the Conservative
hierarchy's support for the development of Tory Democracy, Gorst now adopted
new tactics to achieve this goal. If party management was unwilling to
reform the Tory machine so as to permit its borough supporters a larger
share in organization and the rewards of office then, Gorst concluded, the
entire organization of the Tory Party must undergo a ''radical revolution”
in order to effect the change.al
The vanguard of this "revolution" was to be the National Union,
the representative organ of the Conservative rank and file around the
country, and Gorst now entered upon a campaign to make that body pre-
eminent in Tory party organization. The "revolution" had in fact been
brewing for several years. Following its inception in 1867, the National
Union had served chiefly as a propaganda organ for the party rather than
a vehicle for Tory Democracy as Gorst, one of its founders, had intended.
One year prior to his resignation from the party agency in 1877, Gorst,
at the Union's tenth annual conference, had proposed measures be adopted
to democratize the Union Council, but was overruled.82 Thereafter, Gorst

and his supporters among the conference delegates, mainly middle-class

8OBernard Holland, Life of Spencer Compton, Eighth Duke of Devonshire,
2 vols. (London, 1911l), 2, p. 269.

81 . , . .
"Conservative Disorganisation', p. 43.

82Minutes of the Tenth Annual Conference of the National Union, 1876.
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Conservatives of which the Union's local associations were now increasingly
composed,?3 utilized the annual meetings as a platform from which to issue
their repeated demands for party reorganization.84 Provincial Tories'
discontent with party management had intensified following the defeat of
1880 and their criticism had contributed to the leadership's decision to
appoint the Central Committee to supervise and rejuvenate party organization.
However, the Committee had retained for itself the direction and management
of party machinery and the control of party funds, while maintaining the
National Union in its traditional role of "handmaid to the party”,85 much
to the dissatisfaction of the growing numbers of middle~class urban
Conservatives in the constituencies.86 Consequently, Gorst's criticisms

of Tory party machinery, as outlined in "Comservative Disorganisation',
were sympathetically received by many of these newer elements in the party
and it was from their ranks that he was to receive backing for his campaign

to obtain a more vital role in party management for the National Union.

83Robert Blake, The Conservative Party from Peel to Churchill (London, 1970;
Fontana Paperback ed. London, 1976), p. 151. Hereafter referred to as
Blake, The Conservative Party; McKenzie, p. 169.

84See Minutes of the Tenth, Eleventh and Twelfth Annual Conferences of the
Mational Union, 1876-1879.

85he Union's function was so designated, in 1873, by its then Council
Chairman, H.C. Raikes. See Minutes of the Seventh Annual Conference of the
National Union, 1873.

86As Ostrogorski observed, the middle-class business and professional men
who were now finding their way into the party were intensely dissatisfied
with the "hole~and-corner management of affairs'. (M. Ostrogorski,

Democracy and the Organization of Political Parties, trans. Frederick Clarke,
2 vols. [London, 1902}, 1, 267-268.)
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Gorst's campaign was conducted in concert with Randolph Churchill,
who devised the strategy designed to-bring Gorst's aspirations for the
Union to %ulfillment.87 This plan involved nothing less than making the
Fourth Party "masters" of that body by garmering the support of its local
party organizations and, thereafter, utilizing this backing to capture its
Council which could then be used to wrest from the hands of the Central
Committee control of candidate selection and administration of party
funds.88 Gorst apparently intended that, once acquired, this authority
could be employed to democratize party organization in order to reduce
the power of social influence and allow borough Conservatives a larger
role in party affairs. For Gorst, this transformation was a matter of some
urgency for he anticipated that the County members who formed the bulk
of the parlaimentary party were destined to political extinction at the
next election, as a result of their resistance to the upcoming Franchise
Bill, leaving the smaller group of borough members to provide "the nucleus
of the Tory party of the future".89

Although he professed to share Gorst's goal of Tory Democracy,90

87Churchill Papers, 146, Gorst to Churchill,2 August, 1883.

88Iddesleigh Papers, BL. Add. MS. 50041, Bartlett to Northcote, 20 September,

1883, quoted in Feuchtwanger, Democracy and the Tory Party, p. 174; Churchill

to Wolff, 28 September, 1883, quoted in R.R. James, Jord Randolph Churchill
(London, 1959), p. 132, hereafter referred to as R.R. James, Randolph Churchill;
A.J. Balfour, Chapters of Autobiography, ed. E. Dugdale (London, 1930), p.159;
Winston Churchill, p. 237.

89Churchill Papers, 105, Gorst to Churchill, 29 January, 1883.

.9%¢e Lord Randolph Churchill, "Elijah's Mantle", Fortnightly Review 33 (1883):
1~3. Churchill wrote and spoke about Tory Democracy and the value of working-
class Conservatives but he produced no specific programme to assist this group.
His own interpretation of Tory Democracy, given in a cynical moment, was

"mostly opportunism, I think". (Quoted in Blake, The Conservative Party, p. 153.)
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the desire for persconal aggrandizement appears to have been the principal
motive behind Churchill's participation in the National Union struggle.91
Churchill apparently contemplated using Fourth Party dominance of the
National Union Council to transform that organization into a policy-
determining caucus, along the lines of National Liberal Federation, which,
following the defeat of the Central Committee, might be used to support
his bid for party leadership.g2

Churchill's opposition to Northcote had originally prompted the
former to promote Lord Salisbury as sole leader of the party.93 He employed
this strategy initially in conjunction with Wolff, but not Gorst, in the

94

National Union Council following Beaconsfield's death in 1881, and
thereafter, in Spring of 1883, in the columns of the Eimgg.gs However,
shortly afterwards he was intimating that he himself was willipng to assume
the 1eadership.96 This development was received by Gorst with considerable

misgivings. He wished to transform party organization, not overthrow its

leadership, believing Churchill should aim to "succeed rather than supplant

91Balfour, P. 159. According to Arthur Balfour, "the ingenious idea
occurred to Lord Randolph, that if by judicious management he could dominate
the institution (the National Union) and endow it with new powers, it might
effectually further his political ends".

92Cornford, p. 48; R.R. James, Randolph Churchill, p. 132,

93Upon Beaconsfield's death in 1881, Salisbury had assumed the leadership
of the party in the Lords, whilst Northcote retained that position in the
Commons, and they were regarded as joint-leaders of the party.

94Iddesleigh Papers, Add. MS. 50040, H.S. Northcote to Sir S. Northcote,
30 April, 1881, quoted in Feuchtwanger, Democracy and the Tory Party, pp. 167-168.

9 The Times, 2 April, 1883, p. 8; ibid., 9 April, 1883, p. 8.

96Lord Randolph Churchill, pp. 1-3.



85.

Northcote”.97 However, loyalty to his Fourth Party colleague, and the

fact he was already persona non grata with the party leadership, led a

N

somewhat reluctant Gorst to join Churchill in his battle for control of

the party machinery.98 Churchill also received the backing of Wolff but
not Balfour. The latter's relationship with the Fourth Party had always
been an ambivalent one99 and now, when Churchill's leadership aspirations
became apparent, he immediately moved to dissociate himself from the group
as he had no desire to support a campaign which threatened the position
of his uncle, Lord Salisbury.loo
Churchill and Gorst launched their campaign to achieve mastery
of the National Union at the annual conference held in Birmingham in
October, 1883. Prior to the opening of the conference, Gorst and Churchill
had circulated among the delegates a letter requesting support for their
candidates for Council,lo1 and on its second day Churchill delivered a
speech to the assembly attacking the Central Committee and issuing a ecall
102

for popular control of the party. His sentiments seemingly echoed

those of many of the delegates who had grown increasingly resentful of the

97H.E. Gorst, Fourth Party, p. 247. Following the publication of Churchill's
letter in the April 2 edition of the Times, a Memorial expressing confidence
in Northcote was drawn up by Stanhope and a group of back-benchers loyal

to their leader, and was signed by Gorst. (Cited in R.R. James, Lord
Randolph Chuxchill, p. 125.)

98H.E. Gorst, Fourth Party, pp. 242-247.

99Mrs. George Cornwallis-West, The Reminiscences of Lady Randolph Churchill

(London, 1908), p. 93; H.E. Gorst, Fourth Party, pp. 44-45; Lady St. Helier,
Memories of Fifty Years (London, 1909), p. 273, p. 282.

100H.E. Gorst, Fourth Party, p. 249; D. Walker-Smith and Edward Clarke,

The Life of Sir Edward Clarke (London, 1939), p. 152.

10

lyambledon Papers, PS8/84, Northcote to W.H. Smith, 26 September, 1883.

lOZWinston Churchill, pp. 241-242.
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Committee's bureaucratic regulation of party machinery for they responded

by carrying a resolution authorizing the new Council to obtain for the

National Union "its legitimate influence in party organisation”.lo3
Yet, despite their canvassing and the apparent success of

Churchill's personal overtures, in the subsequent election for the Council

the Fourth Party were unable to achieve a working majority.lo4 However,

at the Council's first meeting on December 7, Churchill successfully

proposed the appointment of an Organization Committee authorized to take

the necessary steps to implement the 1883 annual conference resolution

seeking greater influence for the Union, and was duly elected its chairman.

He thereupon commenced negotiations with Salisbury aimed at transforming

these aspirations into reality. These negotiations continued inte January

1884 without agreement being reached but on February 1, Churchill strengthened

his own position, and that of the National Union vis-a-vis the Central

Committee, when he succeeded in getting himself elected chairman of the

Union Council following the resignation of Lord Percy from that position.lo5
While these initial skirmishes between the leadership and the

Organizing Committee were being conducted, Gorst was absent from England,

having left in November, 1883, for a three-month business trip to India.106

103Gorst to Wolff, 3 October, 1883, quoted in H.E. Gorst, Fourth Party,
pp. 257-258.

lUL}Edward Clarke, The Story of My Life (London, 1918), p. 215; H.E. Gorst,
Fourth Party, pp. 257-258.

105Winston Churchill, pp. 244~245.

1064 rehill Papers, 206, Gorst to Churchill, 7 November, 1883; ibid., 209,
Corst to Churchill, 9 November, 1883; ibid., 230-240, Gorst to Churchill,
December 1883-February 1884. Gorst was visiting India in his capacity of
advisor to the Ministers of the Nizam of Hyderabad, a service he had performed
for the previous ten years. On this occasion he was to consult with the
Ministers on government affairs attendant upon the coming-of~age of the
current Nizam. (See, Ibid., 209, Gorst to Churchill, 9 November, 1883.)
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Churchill, whose decision to utilize the National Union as a vehicle for
his leadership aspirations had to some extent been motivated by the fact
that his Eolleague-in-arms, Gorst, possessed intimate knowledge of the
workings of the party machinery,lo7 was greatly perturbed by Gorst's
absence while the campaign was in progress and prior to his departure had
made an unsuccessful attempt to dissuade him from leaving, arguing that
his expertise would be sorely missed.lo8 Gorst, however, professed the
contrary view, suggesting to Churchill that "in the National Union you will
have much less difficulty with Northcote and the Central Committee in my
absence because the element of personal jealousy will be eliminated and
Stanhope will capitulate to you far more readily than he would to you and

me co-~joined".109

lOyFeuchtwanger, Democracy and the Tory Party, p. 163.

lOSChurchill Papers, 209, Gorst to Churchill, 9 November, 1888: H.E. Gorst,
Fourth Party, pp. 260-261.

1090hurchill Papers, 209, Gorst to Churchill, 9 November, 1883. Feuchtwanger
suggests that Gorst's decision to visit India at this crucial point in the
campaign is possibly a reflection of his reluctance to support the former's
bid for power. (Feuchtwanger, Democracy and the Toxy Party, p. 168). This
assessment is in conflict with Gorst's sentiments as expressed to Churchill.
However, it is very likely that Gorst's reasons for embarking on the trip
were completely free from political considerations, his assurances to
Churchill being perhaps an attempt to restore the latter's confidence in his
chosen course of action in the face of a fait accompli. Preparations for the
visit had apparently been underway prior to the Birmingham Conference, a
further indicator of its dissociation from the Watiomal Union controversy.
(Churchill Papers, 206, Gorst to Churchill, 7 November, 1883; ibid., 209,
Gorst to Churchill, 9 November, 1883.) Gorst's principal motive for making
the trip appears to have been financial. He was being paid a fee ofgfl,OOO
per month for his services and had already received a a52,000 advance before
his departure, making it virtually impossible for him to withdraw from the
arrangement. (See Churchill Papers, 210, Wolff to Churchiil, 10 November,
1883.)
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Gorst's return in early March, 1884, coincided with the commence-
ment of a critical stage of the Fourth Party's struggle for control of the
Council which followed upon Churchill's election to the Council chairmanship.
The ensuing battle waged during the Spring and Summer of 1884, becoming
increasingly bitter as Churchill's demands for National Union control of
policy, election expenses, and candidate selection were rejected by the
leadership who remained determined to retain these functions for themselves.
By late March, Gorst was evidently eager to achieve a settlement. Reluctant
from the first to support Churchill's leadership bid, he now apparently
became greatly concerned over the direction the campaign was taking - the
tactics used to supplant Percy as Council Vice-Chairman he found particularly
regrettable - and his anxiety proved deep enough to prompt him to attempt
to accelerate the reconciliation process through a personal interview with
Northcote.llo

Meanwhile, negotiations were underway between Churchill and the
leadership and by late Spring both sides were indicating a willingness to
compromise. At the beginning of May a settlement appeared likelyll1 but
at this stage the opponents of Churchill on the Union Council temporarily
gained the upper hand and, unaware that an agreement was in the offing,
passed a resolution expressing their desire to reach an accommodation with
the Central Committee, despite Churchill's objections to this manoeuvre.

Regarding this action as a want of confidence in his leadership, Churchill

now resigned the Council Chairmanship but this resulted in an upsurge of

11OSalisbury Papers, Northcote to Salisbury, 28 March, 1884, quoted in
"Feuchtwanger, Democracy and the Tory Partv, p. 182.

lllBalfour, pp. 165~166.
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popular opinion in his favour and the rallying of local Conservative
associations in his support, and in May the Council unanimously re-elected
him Chairﬁan. Following his re-instatement|, Churchill appeared to be in
an even stronger position than before from which to continue the struggle
and he now resolved to make his move to capture the Council at the upcoming
annual conference of the Union to be held in July 1884.112

TIn the interim, developments in Parliament exacerbated the
dispute. The Fourth Party were currently championing the Liberal Government's
Reform Bill over which the Conservatives were divided, leading Northcote
to fear that, given the backing of the local associations, many of which
were pro-Reform, Churchill's challenge to the leadership under the banner
of Tory Democracy would lead to schism in the party in the event of a
general election fought on the Reform issue.113 Consequently, Northcote
sought to obtain postponement of the National Union Conferencell4 and when
this failed, attempted a last-ditch reconciliation with Churchill, but did
not succeed.l15 Salisbury, however, apparently welcomed the opportunity to

meet Churchill's challenge head-on at Sheffield, for he co-operated with

the anti-Churchill faction in the preparations for their confrontation with

lle.E. Gorst, Fourth Party, pp. 285-290.

W3y ortheote expressed his fears to Salisbury: ".. we may come to a split

and the line of cleavage may alter and some new adjustment of party forces
may take place". (Salisbury Papers, Northcote to Salisbury, 3 June, 1884,
quoted in Feuchtwanger, Democracy and the Tory Party, pp. 185-186.)

lMSalisbury Papers, Northcote to Salisbury, 22 June, 1884, quoted in
Feuchtwanger, Democracy and the Tory Party, p. 186.

1155i+ Stafford Northcote to lord Randolph Churchill, 10 July, 1884, quoted
in Winston Churchill, p. 274.
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the Fourth Party.116

The elections for the new Council were held on the opening day of
the conference. When the ballots were tabulated the Fourth Party appeared
to have scored a decisive victory. Churchill led the polls and both Gorst
and Wolff were elected; a total of 22 of Churchill's nominees were successful,
compared to 19 from the opposition. The Fourth Party were jubilant. However,

closer inspection of the results revealed that certain of those elected had

appeared on both slates whilst three had appeared on neither.ll7 Churchill's

majority was slim at best. The opposition had been defeated but Churchill
did not have effective control of the Council. The cutcome was, in fact,
a stalemate, virtually a return to the situation prevailing six months’

earlier at the start of the Fourth Party's campaign. Thus, upon reflection,

both parties recognized the necessity for reconciliationll8 and, with Wolff

acting as mediator, they swiftly came to terms: 'Churchill and Salisbury,
recognising each other tacitly as equals, agreed that they would work in
harmony, that the Central Committee would be abolished, that Sir Michael

Hicks-Beach ... would become Chairman of the Council, and that the Primrose

League would become officially recognised".ll9

116Winston Churchill, p. 273.

117Edward Clarke, p. 217.

1lSSeveral explanations are offered as to the reasons behind this decision

to reach an agreement. See A.J. Balfour, pp. 168~171; Winston Churchill, pp.
276-277; H.E. Gorst, Fourth Party, pp. 303-305; R.R. James, Randolph Churchilil,
pp. 154-155.

119R.R. James, The British Revolution: British Politics, 1880-1939, vol. 1.

From Gladstone to Asquith, 1880-1914 (London, 1976), p. 77. The Primrose League
had been founded by the Fourth Party in 1883 as a means of "moulding into a
compact body the more active and energetic partisans of the newer and more demo-
cratic school of Conservatism ..." (The Reminiscences of Lady Dorothy Neviil,

ed. R. Nevill [London, 1906], p. 330.) Because of its association with the Fourth
Party, the League had been coolly received by the Tory leadership but it now
received their formal approval. However, although its army of volunteer workers
became a valuable asset to the party, it thereafter lost much of its Tory Demo-
cratic flavour. (See J.H. Robb, The Primrose League, 1883-1906 [New York, 1968].)
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These negotiations were conducted "without Mr. Gorst either being
consulted or informed". For him, the election 'victory’ had appeared to
mark the attainment of his prime objective, the National Union's acceptance
of Tory Democracy as its guiding principle, and, confident that the future
belonged to the Fourth Party, he had departed Sheffield immediately following
the conclusion of the Conference to spend a few days of well-earned rest on
the Isle of Wight. Churchill informed him of the terms of reconciliation
only after the arrangements had been completed, apparently contravening an
agreement he had made earlier with Gorst promising not to take any step
without the latter's approval.120

Not surprisingly, Gorst was astonished to hear of the agreement121
but, apparently, his first impression of it was that it had effected no

dramatic reversal of the Fourth Party's fortunes and, thus, his immediate

response to the fait accompli was cordial. He commended Churchill's decision

to decline the Chairmanship as "a good stroke of policy" on the grounds that
"We shall have much more power as independent members of Council criticising
the acts of the Executive and we are almost certain to get our own way
whenever we like to interfere', at the same time expounding upon their
considerable successes: "... We have destroyed the Central Committee: we
have revolutionised party management: and defeated the leaders in their

attempt at Sheffield to suppress us".l22

1204 E. Gorst, Fourth Party, pp. 302-303, pp. 311-312

12155d., p. 303, pp. 311-312.

'lZZChurchill Papers, 455, Gorst to Churchill, 27 July, 1884.
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Gorst's cordjality was also born of political necessity., Because

of the leadership's enmity towards him, resulting from his role in the

National Union controversy,123 Gorst obviouély realized that any further
effort on his part to implement Tory Democracy would be strenuously
resisted by the party and, thus, his only possibility for success lay in
working in harmony with Churchill. Gorst's recognition of the situation
was clearly expressed in his reply to Churchili:

I have no hope of being able to carry out my ideas. The leaders I can
never trust again; I cannot like you throw myself on Tory Democracy.
With you the thing was difficult: without you it becomes impossible.
After the experience of the Central Committee and W.H. Smith, I know
the forces are too strong to contend with and I am not disposed to
recommence a fruitless struggle.124

Shortly thereafter, however, perhaps following a closer examination

of the terms of the pact, Gorst concluded that Tory Democracy had been

sacrificed by Churchill in exchange for personal advancement.125 Although

the Central Committee had been abolished it was to be replaced by a
traditional executive of Whips and the Party Agent who, in their capacity
as representatives of the Conservative leadership, would have control over

party affairs, whilst the National Union was to continue its earlier function

123Ever since Churchill initiated his tilt at the party leadership, with

his letter to the Times in Spring 1883, many within the party had regarded
Gorst as the Machiavellian influence behind the attack. "Gorst is, I feel
convinced, the real motive power in this business, the clever intriguer ...",
Viscount Barrington observed to Northcote in April 1883. (Iddesleigh Papers,

Add. MS. 50041, Barrington to Northcote, 4 April, 1883, quoted in Feuchtwanger,
Dempcracy and the Tory Party, p. 169.) As early as June 1884, Gorst had
predicted the direction the "0ld Gang's'" animosity would take. "Seeing that
Randolph is too strong and popular to be crushed, they will now make you and

me object of their attacks'. (Gorst to Wolff, 4 June, 1884, quoted in H.E. Gorst,

Fourth Party, p. 294.)
124

Churchill Papers, 455, Gorst to Churchill, 27 July, 1884.

125H.E. Gorst, Fourth Party, pp. 304-305, p. 12,
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of '"handmaid" to the party in Parliament.126 Thus, Gorst's goal to achieve
for that organization a more vital role in party affairs remained unfulfilled.
Gorst was\now understandably angered by what he saw to be Churchill's
betrayal of both the principles of Tory Democracy and Gorst's personal
interests. During the campaign, Gorst had supplied Churchill with invaluable
advice and assistance and had risked his own political future by loyally
supporting him throughout the difficult period of negotiations with the
party management. His reward was the surrender of his objectives by
Churchill and the odium of the Conservative establishment.

Gorst demonstrated his opposition to the settlement by refusing
to attend the dinner given by Salisbury to celebrate the accord, and

12
relations between Churchill and himself now became increasingly strained, !

their dissention even provoking them into open conflict in the Commons.128

126McKenzie, p. 173. 1In his reminiscences of the agreement, Balfour later
observed, "We are told that Tory Democracy triumphed. Yet ... the functions
of the National Union, which was to be its organ, remained unchanged."

(A.J. Balfour, p. 168.)

127A.J. Balfour, p. 172. Edward Clarke, p. 218; H.E. Gorst, Fourth Party,
p. 312.

1280n the second reading of the Reform Bill, an amendment designed to delay
temporarily its passage as a means of protecting Conservative interests, and
placed on the table by Churchill but presented in his absence by Stanhope,
was denounced by Gorst. Next day Churchill responded by publicly castigating
Gorst from the floor of the House. (See W.H. Lucy, Two Parliaments, pp. &437-
438; Winston Churchill, pp. 288-289.) According to Gorst's son, his father
opposed the amendment in order to show that the events of July had in no way
diminished his commitment to Tory Democracy. Gorst wished "to prove to the
Conservative party and to his former colleagues that there had been no
yielding of principles on his part ...". (H.E. Gorst, Fourth Party, p. 313.)
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Their relationship was never to regain its original harmony. Moreover,

although to all appearances the Fourth Party continued to function right

up until the formation of the Salisbury Government in 1885,129 it was

"yirtually broken up and dissolved from the moment when the capitulation

was carried out without the knowledge and consent of one of its three

members".130

Notwithstanding his estrangement from Gorst, upon the formation
of the new Conservative Government in 1885, Churchill pressed Salisbury to

provide a position therein for his former ally:

I do feel very uneasy indeed about Wolff and Gorst and cannot think that
I have submitted to you their position as regards myself with the urgency
which they are entitled to expect from me ... Gorst's disappointment is
intense. He knows his powers, hig position in the House, his hitherto
barely recognised claims and it makes me perfectly wretched to feel that
it must occur to his mind that his failure to obtain that for which so
many persons of knowledge consider he is fitted for in every way, is due
to lukewarmness on my part .13

_However, not to have made such an appeal for this colleague who had
contributed so much towards his success would have exposed him to accusations
of callous ingratitude, and its attendant political repercussions - the

possibility of which Churchill was evidently fully aware:

If T did not kmow what the general feeling of the House of Commons will
be as regards myself on this point I would have hesitated to trouble you,
but T am certain that if with respect to these two cases things remain
in the position vou gave me to understand this morning they would be, I
shall be considered to have failed my friends, and my powers., whatever
they may be, of being useful to your Government will be impaired.l32

129See A.J. Balfour, pp. 172-173; R.R. James, Randolph Churchill, Chap. 6;

H. Drummond Wolff, 2, 272-273.

130H.E. Gorst, Fourth Party, p. 31l.

13lSalisbury Papers, 112, Churchill to Salisbury, 16 June, 1885.

13271:d. (Emphasis added).



95.

Solely as a result of Churchill's patronage, Gorst was appointed Solicitor-
General,133 a minor office but one which carried with it a knighthood.
\Gorst's participation in the National Union controversy effectively
sealed his political fate. As "Lord Randolph Churchill's position was too
strong to be assailed ... the full vengeance of the leaders eventually fell

upon Mre. Gorst”.134 Because ''time after time, he was the creative force

and impetus behind a particular action or manoceuvre'” of the Fourth Party,135

the Conservative hierarchy considered him "the dangerous man among thEm”.]'S6
Consequently, they were now determined to exclude him from the
party's inner circles. Thus, during subsequent Conservative administrations,
Gorst found himself occupying a succession of secondary parliamentary
offices, condemned for the remainder of his career never to ''obtain that
political success to which he was entitled by reason of his undoubied

talents".l37

Had Gorst been willing to accept the settlement and renounce
Tory Democracy, the leadership might have eventually forgiven and forgotten;
but this Gorst would not do. His commitment to his political philosophy

was too strong, and became even stronger as his parliamentary career progressed.

133H.E. Gorst, Fourth Party, p. 317.

B4pid., p. 317.

l35Andrew Jones, The Politics of Reform, 1884 (Cambridge, 1972}, p. 73.

136Char1es Whibley, Lord John Manners and His Friends, 2 vols. (London, 1925),
2, 202.

137Wilkinson, p. 76.
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His plan to utilize the National Union as a vehicle for Tory
Democracy having failed, and denied the opportunity to directly influence
Tory policy by virtue of his exclusion from the highest councils of the
party, Gorst was now obliged to employ alternative methods in his fight
to have the Conservative party embrace the Tory Democratic creed. Although
only in the second rank of politicans, ten years of vigorous and frequently
independent, parliamentary activity had gained for him a prominent
parliamentary position. He now began to use this position to harrass
successive Conservative governments, in and out of Parliament, with demands
for measures designed to transform the Tory party into "a national party
to whom the masses of the people could look with confidence for the

, L. 1
protection and furtherance of their interests'. 38

138H.E. Gorst, Fourth Party, p. 36.




CHAPTER TII

THE QUEST FOR TORY DEMOCRACY:
GORST AND SOCIAL REFORM, 1875-1890

Gorst's pursuit of Tory democracy through the legislative process,
following the failure of his National Union campaign, represented not a new
departure in his policy but, rather, the continuation of a course of action
he had been actively prosecuting throughout the previous decade. Gorst's
philosophy encompassed much more than the democratization of party organiza-
tion and the subversion of antiquated party methods. His Tory democratic
ideal was in essence that outlined by Disraeli in his address to the
National Union at the Crystal Palace in June 1872, in which he set forth
his concept of national and popular Conservatism. Declared Disraeli on
this occasion, the principles of the Tory party involved not only the
maintenance of the institutions of the country and the upholding of the
empire but, also, ''the elevation of the condition of the people".1
Disraeli's speech, together with others expressing similar sentiments which
he had delivered in Lancashire earlier in that year, apparently deeply
affected Gorst: "... he was greatly impressed by the reality of Disraeli's
sympathy with the working class, and by the keen understanding he displayed
of the minutest circumstances of their humble lives. It gave him a genuine

"

s . - . - . 2
insight into his chief's political ideals ...". However, whereas Disraeli's

commitment to social progress sprang primarily from his calculation of

l'I‘he Times, 25 June, 1782, p. 8

2
H.E. Gorst, The Fourth Party (London, 1906), p. 72. Hereafter referred to
H.E. Gorst, Fourth Partvy.

a7.
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benefits to be derived from support of working-class interests,3 Gorst's
quest for social justice was more deeply rooted, Although he assuredly
recognize& and appreciated the party advantage to be gained from embracing
the cause of working-class welfare, Gorst was, according to Lady Dorothy
Nevill, "undoubtedly animated by a sincere passion for social reform".4
Even one of his severest critics felt obliged to acknowledge that Gorst's
"genuine sympathy with the suffering of poverty, the fruit of his deep
religious feelings', lay at the root of his political philosophy;s and
Gorst's son relates that his father entered the Fourth Party "because he
believed that his colleagues shared with him the keen determination to
revive Disraeli's policy of social reform ...".6 Thus, following Gorst's
by-election victory in 1875, his devotion to what he perceived to be
Disraeli's philosophy of social progress found expression in agitation for
social legislation in the House of Commons.

When Gorst re-entered Parliament in February 1875, the year-old
Conservative Government was in the process of enacting the most extensive
series of social reform measures to be produced by a British administration

prior to that of 1906, However, this reform activity represented not the

3Paul Smith, Disraelian Conservatism and Social Reform (London, 1976}, pp.
157-161.

4Ralph Nevill, Life and Letters of Lady Dorothy Nevill (London, 1919), p. 109,

Hereafter referred to as Nevill, Life and letters,

SArthur A. Baumann, "Sir John Gorst', The Saturday Review 123 (1916), 345-346.
6H.E. Gorst, Fourth Party, p. 246, However, Lady Dorothy Nevill expressed

the view that social reform '"made no particular appeal to either of his
colleagues", e.g., Churchill and Wolff, (See Nevill, Life and Letters, p. 109.)
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implementation Af a Disraelian programme of Tory Democracy but, rather,
the party's ad hoc response to the exigencies of the hour., Despite his
expressed’ desire "for the elevation of the condition of the people”,
Disraeli entered office in 1874 without any coherent domestic policy in
mind, Consequently, although he encouraged its creation, the formulatiom
and management of subsequent Tory social legislation devolved upon a small
group of his ministers, of whom the Home Secretary, Richard Cross, was to
prove the most productive, Thus, in the absence of a definite social
programme, the Conservative reform measures emerged as a series of piecemeal
feforms whose birth and character resulted from a variety of factors.7

The motives prompting Tory initiative in social reform were
complex, In the 1874 election campaign fear of alienating the reform-wary
middle classes, whose votes they hoped to garner in the contest, prevented
the Conservatives from making a special appeal to the working classes or
placing too much emphasis upon social measures pertaining to their interests,
except in the case of candidates in the large urban and industrial consti-
tuencies. However, once returned to office, the party recognized the
necessity of making some effort to reward working men who had contributed
to their electoral success in order to ensure their continued support in
the future, a factor considered to be particularly crucial with respect to
the populous urban boroughs. Furthermore, the enactment of judicious social

reforms was considered an effective ploy in forestalling the growth of

7Smith, pp. 198-202, pp. 257-259, For a detailed examination of the contribu-
tion of Cross to this legislation see Dennis J, Mitchell, "Richard Assheton
Cross: A Political Biography". (Ph.D. Dissertation, University of Mississippi,
1976}, Chap. 3.
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dangerous working-class d15content.8 Moreover, the Tories, aware that
their victory at the polls to some extent resulted from the reaction of
middle~c1;ss voters against the conduct of the previous Liberal administra-
tion, which had '"harassed every trade, worried every profession and assailed
every class, institution and species of property"9 through its domestic
policies, were committed to providing a respite from "incessant and
harassing 1egislation".10 Consequently, they now embraced social reform

as an area of parliamentary activity open to their efforts, while at the
same time being largely non-partisan in nature and, thus, not likely to
create political turmoil. In addition, several of the measures tackled by
the Tories were already under formulation at the various government depart-
ments when the party took office, others were extemporaneous products of
official enquiries, while still others represented the consolidation of
earlier legislation.

Further impetus for the Conservatives' drive for social legisla-
tion was provided by the emerging climate of opinion concerning social reform
and the government's role in its implementation., As early as 1869, Sir
Stafford Northcote had expressed the view that "social questions are assuming

such large dimensions that they cannot be adequately dealt with except by

8Smith, pp. 200-201, p. 203

9Quoted in H.J. Hanham, Elections and Party Management (London, 1959), p. 221.

lO”Disraeli's Election Address", The Times, 26 January, 1874, p. 8.

11Robert Blake, Disraeli (New York, 1967), pp. 552-558. Hereafter referred
to as Blake, Disraeli; Smith, pp. 200-203, pp. 257-265,
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the employment of the central administrative machinery";12 and, speaking
in Parliament in Spring of 1874, Disraeli observed that ''the disposition of
the country is favourable, beyond any preceding time that I can recall, to
the successful consideration of the social wants of the great body of the
people".13 These arguments reflect the changing attitude towards the role
of the state, and the scope of the tasks it could justifiably undertake in
social and economic matters, which was beginning to take place among
thinking men in Britain in the eighteen seventies. The considerable
extension of government intervention in both social and economic fields,
which had occurred during the previous forty years,l4 had served to bring
about the growing realization that, in the face of the continuing problems
being generated by urban industrial society, the state's traditional role
as "holder of the economic ring'", intervening only to prevent greater evil,
was no longer a viable one. Government intervention. in socio-economic
questions was increasingly accepted as a positive good and the most
appropriate solution to an ever-increasing range of social and economic
problems.

However, despite the various benefits which the Conservatives
anticipated they would derive from their venture into social reform legisla-

tion, the party as a whole lacked enthusiasm for the enterprise and was

lZSir Stafford Northcote, "Opening Address", Transactions of the National
Assoeiation for the Promotion of Social Science (1869), 1-27,

13

PD, 3xd Series, 219 (1874): 259.

lhDuring the so-called "age of laissez-faire', between 1840 and 1970, British
governments had enacted a succession of socio-economic legislation which
included the Poor Law Amendment Act of 1834, factory acts, and education and
public health legislation. (See Ursula R.Q. Henriques, Before the Welfare
State: Social Administration in Early Industrial Britain (London, 1979);
David Roberts, The Victorian Origins of the British Welfare State (New Haven,

Conm., 1960).
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anxious to limit the scope of the measures to be adopted, At a time when
increasing numbers of informed members of society were coming to appreciate

the need for the tempering of individualism and laissez-faire through

~

judicious state intervention, many Conservatives were experiencing a
strengthening of their commitment to Government non-interference in socjo-
economic affairs., By the early 'seventies, the party's absorption of large
numbers of those members of the commercial and industrial middle-class
seeking & nostrum for growing working-class militancy and Liberal Radicalism
had served to reinforce the marked strain of Liberal-Conservatism already
existing within its ranks. This resulted in a further decline of its Tory
paternalism already diminished by the backlash against the 1867 Reform Act
and the threat presented to the traditional dominance of property and the
stability of the social order by evolving working-class consciousness and
organization. At the moment of their return to power in 1874, "the
Conservatives looked less than ever like the trustees of paternalism and
the organic view of society, as they took up the cudgels of individual
Iiberty and freedom of enterprise against the bogies of collectivism and
socialism“.l5

The Conservatives' attachment to the individualistic creed, when
combined with their suspicion of centralization, the inescapable constraints
of prejudice and vested interest within Toryism, and the traditional
reluctance shared by both parties to spend the ratepayers' and taxpayers'
money, served to inhibit the party's social policy., The philosophy guiding

the Conservative administration's social legislation was exemplified in

15 1ake, Disraeli, pp. 552-556; Smith, pp. 203-206.
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Cross's speech to the Edinburgh Conservative Working Men's Association in
October 1875. He assured his audience that the Govermment wished '"to
promote, és far as lies in our power, the improvement of the social condition
of the people ..." but he cautioned them that acts of Parliament were of
limited efficacy in accomplishing this amelioration. His intention was to
show people '"how they can improve themselves'. In a genuflection to
Benthanism, he stipulated that the Conservative policy was intended "to give
the greatest amount of happiness to the largest possible number that is
consistent with the actual rights of the few”.16 However, in the case of
the Tories, this ideology was modified to ensure the limitation of the
greatest happiness for the greatest number to that happiness which did not
detract from the rights of the propertied minority.17

Upon assuming office in 1874, the Conservative government was
obliged to deal with labour issues, their consideration rendered necessary
by the increasing political power of organized labour and the working-class
contribution to the Conservatives' electoral success, particularly in the
north.l8 Taking over Radical A.J. Mundella's private member's bill designed
to reduce the hours of labour in the textile industry, Cross adapted it to
meet the Government's own specifications and brought it into Parliament as
the Factories (Health of Women) Bill in May 1874. The bill, which met with
little opposition and went through third reading without debate, emerged

as the Factory Act of 1874 which established the ten-hour day and raised

16"Parliament Out of Session', The Times, 18 October, 1875, p. 8.

Yirchell, p. 98.

Bsmith, pp. 208-214.
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the age for half-time employment from 8 to 10 and for full-time from 13

to 14.19 Having earlier assured Parliament that the ten-hour provision
would apply only to women and children, because "as far as adult males

were concerned there could be no question that freedom of contract must

be maintained, and men must be left to care for themselves", Cross presented

his bill as being consistent with laissez-faire principles, assuring the

House that his provisions would incur as little violation of the doctrines
of political economy as did the current factory acts.20 Yet, reducing the
working hours to ten for females and young persons meant, in practice,
curtailing the working hours for male workers also. "It was a good case
of a Conservative minister doing in fact what he could hardly have attempted
to justify in theory”.Zl

The session of 1875 saw the passage of further reforms, including
additional labour measures. This period saw the enactment of two important
Trade Union Acts: the Conspiracy and Protection of Property Act and the
Employers and Workmen Act; the Public Health Act, which consolidated and
systematized existing legislation; the Artizans Dwelling Act, which
empowered local authorities to replace deficient insanitary dwellings with
adequate housing; an Agricultural Holdings Act, a Friendly Societies Act,
and a Sale of Food and Drugs Act. In addition, the 1876 session produced

three more measures, the Rivers Pollution, Merchant Shipping and Education

195D, 3rd Series, 219 (1874): 455, 1415-1471; 220 (1874): 302-339,
672-673.

20pp, 3rd Series, 218 (1874): 1793-1794; 219 (1874): 1420.

2lgnith, p. 214.
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Acts.22

The practical significance of these measures, however, was less
impressivé than the simple tabulation of the Acts suggests. Developed
piecemeal and conceived and executed in a spirit of pseudo-Liberalism,
the reforms were of varying quality and efficacy. Only the Conservatives'
labour measures, the Trade Union Acts, which effectively settled the
status of labour for the remainder of the century, can be considered a
resounding success.23

Thereafter, the Tory government's preoccupation with social
reform dissipated. Beginning in 1877, increasing emphasis upon foreign
and Imperial affairs, and their drain on revenues already weakened by
economic depression, combined with a gradual reaction on the part of many
Conservatives against what they regarded as excessive concessions to
working-class interests in the wake of the 1867 Reform Act, sexved to
impede the development of additional Tory reforms and the remainder of

Disraeli's second ministry yielded only one social measure of note, the

22For background to this legislation see Maurice Bruce, The Coming of the

Welfare State (London, 1961), pp. 135-136; W.M. Frazer, History of English
Public Health, 1834-1939 (London, 1950), pp. 114-120; P.H.J.H. Gosden,

The Friendly Societies in England, 1815-1875 (Manchester, 1961), Chap. 7;
Enid Gauldie, Cruel Habitations: A History of Working-Class Housing, 1780-1918
(London, 1974), pp. 275-281; George Howell, Labour Legislation, Labour
Movements and Labour Leaders, 2nd ed., 2 vols. (Londom, 1905), 2, Chap. 35;
Nigel Middleton and Sophia Weitzman, A Place for Everyone: A History of

State Education from the End of the 18th Century to the 1970s (lLondon, 1976),
pp. 72-73; Christabel Orwin and Edith H. Whetham, History of British
Apriculture, 1846-1914 (London, 1964), pp. 170-173; P. Smith, Chapters 5 and
6; John N. Tarn, Five Per Cent Philanthropy: An account of housing in urban
areas between 1840 and 1914 (Cambridge, 1973), pp. 77-81.

23For an evaluation of the working of these various Acts see Gauldie,

pp. 276~278; Middleton and Weitzman, p. 73; Orwin and Whetham, pp. 170-173;
Smith, pp. 257-260.
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1878 Factory Act which consolidated earlier legislation into a unified
24

scheme.

\Gorst appears to have made no significant parliamentary contribu-
tion to the passage of the bulk of this 1egislation,25 a seemingly surprising
gbstention in view of his subsequent involvement in the development of
British social policy. However, his lack of participation may have
resulted from frequent involuntary absences from the House occasioned by
the demands of his extra-parliamentary duties which were particularly
onercus during this period. Between the years 1875 and 1877 Gorst's
official duties as Principal Agent undoubtedly occupied a large proportion
of his time. During 1875, when the majority of the Conservative social
measures were under debate in the Commons, Gorst was deeply engrossed with
the municipal elections being contested around the country. His conviction
that the party's future rested upon borough Conservatism prompted him to
work assiduously for the promotion of Toryism at the local level, whilst
urging the party leaders to give more attention to municipal elections and
to regard them as an indicator of the fluctuations in public opinion.

During Gorst's initial years as Agent, municipal elections had
produced a succession of Tory victories, foreshadowing the general election
triumph of 1874. However, the municipal elections of that year brought a

reversal of this trend, inducing Gorst to once again pressure the party

Z4grith, Chapter 6.

25Gorst did, however, give his verbal support to the Government's proposed

social legislation in his by-election speeches during January and February,
1875, promising to make "the elevation of the condition of the people ...

one of his cardinal principles so far as legislation was concerned ..."
(Chatham News, 6 February, 1875. See also, ibid., 23 January 1875, 30 January
1875; 13 February, 1875.)

26y anham, pp. 388-389.




107.

leaders to use their influence to stimulate local associations, but without
Success.27 Consequently, during 1875, he worked through Central Office to
nurture borough Conservatism with a view to stemming its decay but the
adverse results of the 1875 municipal contests, carefully collated by him
and presented to Disraeli, confirmed his fears of continuing Conservative
decline.28

Meanwhile, the time which Gorst could allot to attending the
Commons was further eroded by the duties entailed in fulfilling his role
as honorary secretary of the National Union and by his efforts to establish
simultaneously a legal practice, rendered necessary by his relatively
impecunious state.29

One Conservative reform which did elicit Gorst's active involvement
during the period was the merchant shipping measure. When Gorst took his
seat in the Commons, in February, 1875, the Government had just introduced
its Merchant Shipping Bill designed to secure greater protection for seamen
against loss of life at sea. The Bill's principal provision was an attempt
to place responsibility of safety upon the shoulders of the individual
shipowner by rendering him accountable feor unlimited liability with regard
to damage to persons or property resulting from his consciously dispatching

unworthy ships to sea. This proposal followed the recommendations of the

27Hughenden Papers, B/xxi/D/463a, Gorst to Disraeil, 2 December, 1874;
ibid., B/xxi/D/463, Dyke to Disraeli, 8 December, 1874.

28Hughenden Papers, B/xxi/G/253, Gorst to Disraeli, 10 November, 1875;
ibid., B/xx1/G/255, Gorst to Disraeli, 22 November, 1875.

29”Character Sketch: December. Sir John Gorst', Review of Reviews 3 (1891),
575-585. Hereafter referred to as ''Character Sketch'.
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1874 Report of the Royal Commission on Unseaworthy Ships which advocated
that shipowners, not the government, must bear the responsibility for the
safety of shipping.30 The Conservatives were more than eager to comply
with this directive for they sought to limit as far as poss%ble state
intervention in private enterprise,3l preferring to follow the lead of the
previous Liberal government whose Merchant Shipping Acts of 1871 and 1873
had vested in the shipowners the responsibility for the seaworthiness of
their vessels.32

The Conservative measure was attacked by the shipowners, who
were fearful that the Government's scheme of unlimited liability would
bring them to financial ruin, and by the allies of the seamen who argued
that the proposal was inadequate.33 The chief agitator for the latter
view was Liberal M.P. for Derby, Samuel Plimsoll, who claimed that the
over~insuring of ships, followed by overloading to guarantee their sinking,
was the greatest contributor to loss of life at sea and who, between 1870
and 1874, had conducted a campaign for greater government control over
shipping which had included the introduction into Parliament of three
bills designed to end overlcading and unseaworthiness by the enforcement

of compulsory survey and load line.34

30Final Report of the Royal Commission on Unseaworthy Ships (Cmnd. 1027),
PP, 1874, 34: 1-19. (All citations of Parliamentary Fapers in this thesis
refer to the microcard version of the Papers. See, Great Britain, House
of Commons. British Sessional Papers. New York: Readex Microprint, 1731~.)

3lgnich, pp. 230-231.

323, and 35 Vict., Chap. 110. 36 and 37 Viet., Chap. 85.

3322, 3rd Series, 222 (1875): 125-138.

3%22, 3rd Series, 204 (1871): 153; 214 (1873): 273-274; 218 (1874): 191. See

also Howell, 2: 263-283; D. Masters, The Plimsoll Mark (London, 1955). Neville
Upham, The load Line, National Maritime Museum Monographs. No. 33 (lLondon, 1978).
A.C. Warner, "The Plimsoll Agitation: A Chapter in Nineteenth-Century Social
History" (Ph.D. dissertation, Harvard, 1960). This latter work was, unfortunately,
not available to the author of this dissertation.
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Faced with this opposition and the consequent likelihood of
continued parliamentary obstruction to the Bill, and unable to sidetrack
the measure because this would leave the way open for Plimsoll to bring
in his rival b111,35 the Government introduced two amendments devised to
pacify both opposition groups, the shipowners by withdrawing unlimited
liability, the sailors' friends by allowing for voluntary observance of the
load line. Compulsory load line and survey were again rejected because,
as the President of the Board of Trade, Adderley, pointed out, such legisla-
tion "might supplement the necessary perils of the sea by the graver perils
of Government protection still more treachercus and disastrous than the
sea itself".36

Although these concessions served to soften opposition and increase
support for the Bill sufficiently enough to allow it to pass second reading
without division,37 Plimsoll's supporters, amongst Whom were a substantial
group of Conservative M.P.s including Gorst, remained committed to the
Derby Member's scheme for obligatory load line and survey. In debate
during committee stage of the Bill, Gorst urged the Government to adopt
Plimsoll's proposals as a means of ridding the seas of unseaworthy vessels,
thereby leaving a manageable number of ships to regulate resulting in safer
conditions for the seamen.38

As the session advanced and the slow progress of the Bill brought

it into competition for parliamentary time with the Agricultural Holdings

3smith, p. 233.

36pp, 3rd Series, 223 (1875): 474a.

371pid., 3rd Series, 223 (1875): 474a-573.

381pid., 3rd Series, 225 (1875): 109~110.
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measure, which the Prime Minister was eager to enact, the Government
decided to defer the Merchant Shipping Bill. This action prompted Plimscll
to launch a scathing attack on the government from the floor of the Commons,
which was followed by mounting agitation in his support from around the
country. The Conservatives were accused of insensitivity for advancing
the Agricultural Holdings Bill ahead of legislation for the protection of
seamen. Alarmed by the intensity of the opposition to the Shipping Bill's
deferment, the Tories elected to introduce a limited measure designed to
reduce loss of life at sea pending a re-examination of the entire question
in the following session.39
The Unseaworthy Ships Bill, tabled in the Commons on July 28, 1875,
strengthened the powers of the Board of Trade to detain unseaworthy ships
and made provision for the intensification of survey, this inspection being
allowed upon the request of twenty-five percent of the ship's crew, the
legislation to remain in operation for one year.40 Once again the provisions
of the Bill fell short of Plimsoll's demands and the consequent pressure
from his supporters on both sides of the House for the adoption of a load
line eventually obliged the Government to concede on this point,Al although

the exact position of the load line on the ship was to be decided by the

e s 2 . , '
individual owners.4 This concession enabled the Government to pass the

39Masters, Chapter 17; Smith, pp. 235-236.

“0pp. 3rd Series, 226 (1875): 145-149.

411bid., 3rd Series, 226 (1875): 379-431. Disraeli feared that defeat on

the issue would involve grave political risk because, as he confided to Lady
Bradford, "My position is difficult ... if I were defeated in the House, I

could not dissolve, for, in the present fever, I should probably get

worsted". (Disraeli to Lady Bradford, 28 July, 1875, quoted in W.F. Monypenny
and G. Buckle, The Life of Benjamin Disraeli, 2 vols. (London, 1929), 2, p.725.)

42

PD, 3rd Series, 226 (1875): 575-588, 617-625.



111.

emergency bill, But, as Disraeli admitted, not without difficulty: ''We
pulled through, but not triumphantly; had the Opposition had a leader
adequate to the opportunity, we might have been much humiliated. A4s it
was it needed much tact and vigilance to mitigate, or conceal, our
concessions".43

During the parliamentary recess the Government worked to prepare
a revised shipping bill to replace the temporary Unseaworthy Ships Act.
Although ministers remained unwilling to accept Plimsoll's scheme, being,
for example, resolved to retain the Act's provisions for individual choice
in the placing of the load line, the furor which had accompanied the
passing of the stop-gap measure had convinced them that shipping legislation
could no longer be based exclusively upon the concept of "responsibility"
but must include a substantial dose of govenment regulation.44 Consequently,
in February 1876, the Govermnment brought in two bills to amend the Merchant
Shipping Acts, one to tackle the basic problem of marine insurance - most
specifically, the over-valuation of ships for insurance purposes - the
other to make permanent the provision of the temporary act .of 1875, whilst
at the same time providing additional reforms including one to deter the
dangerous practice of deck loading.45

Little progress was made with the marine insurance bill but the

general Merchant Shipping Bill was subjected to prolonged and spirited

43Di5raeli to Lady Bradford, 3 August, 1875, quoted in Monypenny and Buckle,
2, p. 727.

445mith, pp. 238-239.

43pD, 3rd Series, 227 (1876): 163-179.
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debate.46 The absence from the Bill of provisions for compulsory survey
and a verified load line led Plimsoll to denounce the measure and to
introduce his own amendments to rectify these omissions.47 Gorst gave

his full support to Plimsoll's amendment,48 and launched his own criticism
of the proposed legislation. He was particularly critical of the Govern-
ment's failure to incorporate into the Bill measures to deal with the
relations between seamen and their employers and he urged that they
mitigate the severe penalties imposed upon seamen for breach of contract
by brinéing them under the provisions of the 1875 Labour Af:.ts.49 In
Committee, Gorst proposed an amendment to extend this protection to seamen
but withdrew it when the Chancellor of the Exchequer indicated that the
Government would itself introduce a clause pertaining to the question.
Gorst promised, however, 'that ... if the Government did not bring forward

20 Gorst's proposal secured the support of

such clauses, he would'.
Opposition members such as Burt, Mundella, Macdonald and Forster but

received no backing from the Conservative bem:hes.f’1 When the Government

continued to disregard the issue, Gorst moved the insertion of a clause

46pp  3rd Series, 227 (1876): 163-186, 428-466; 228 (1876): 519-551, 627687,
884-912, 1147-1161, 1367-1377, 1580-1622, 1779-1809, 1879-1885, 1913-1949;
229 (1876): 53-96, 208-235, 1054-1082, 1334-1337.

%71hid., 3rd Series, 228 (1876): 627-638.

“8141d., 3rd Series, 228 (1876): 660-662.

“9141d., 3rd Series, 227 (1876): 435-437; 228 (1876): 519-525; 229 (1876):
221-222.

5OIbid., 3rd Series, 228 (1876): 519-525, 539.

Slybid., 3rd Series, 228 (1876): 525-538.
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to deal with breach of contract and its harsh penalties as applied to
seamen but the Conservative administration again successfully deflected
the challenge by claiming it lay outside the scope of the current Bill and
by assuring the House that the question of the relation of seamen to the
Employers and Workmen Act would certainly be dealt with in the following
session.52

Despite repeated attacks from its critics the measure survived
debate, the Government's only important defeat occurring at the division

33

on Plimsoll's amendment to abolish deck loading in winter, and the Bill

4 However, the Commons' decision on Plimsoll's

finally passed on May 26.
amendment was reversed by the Upper House which, under ministerial
direction,55 replaced the clause with one permitting deck loading in the
winter months under certain conditions.56 Thereafter, at Northcote's
request, the Lords kept back the Bill to ensure as brief an interval as
possible between its passage there and its return to the Commons in order
to reduce the time available for criticisms of the deck-loading and other
amendments carried out in the Upper Chamber.57 When the amended Bill was
finally returned to the Commons, Gorst denounced the Government for

utilizing the Lords for the purpose of substituting amendments devised by

the Board of Trade officials for those effected by the Commons but he

5222, 3rd Series, 229 (1876): 221-227.

331bid., 3rd Series, 228 (1876): 1590-1622, 1921-1943; 229 (1876): 1077-1079.

54Ibid., 3rd Series, 229 (1876): 1334-1377.

333mith, p. 241.

5622, 3rd Series, 230 (1876): 1132.

3TMasters, p. 240; Northcote to Richmond, 1 July, 1876; Goodwood Papers,
box 31, cited in Smith, p. 241.
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declined to support a Plimsollite motion calling for rejection of the
Bill, not wishing to "incur the responsibility of wrecking the whole Bill
because he disapproved of the conduct of Her Majesty's Government in

submitting these Amendments at the end of the Session. He thought it

would be better to let the Bill pass under protest".58 This last-ditch

attempt on the part of the Plimsollites to have the amended Bill rejected

failed and the measure passed the Commons on August 12.59

As the Disraeli Parliament wore on without the Conservatives
having made any notable progress towards dealing with the reforms excluded
from the 1876 Act,60 Gorst publicly reproached the Government for failing
to redeem their pledge to address the problem of breach of contract as it

related to merchant seamen.61 When a bill dealing with the question was

finally brought before Parliament in 1878,62 he denounced the measure

because the benefits of the Employer and Workmen Act were to apply to
sailors only for the period between their making an engagement and their

joining the ship, arguing that the Act should apply to seamen at sea as

well as on shore.63

8pp, 3rd Series, 231 (1876): 1172.

59For the debate see ibid., 3rd Series, 231 (1876): 1162-1184. This legisla-
tion confirmed the owners' load line as established by the Unseaworthy

Ships Act, a provision which fell short of Plimsoll's proposal for an
officially fixed line. This weak provision remained in effect until the
passage in 1890 of An Act to Amend the Merchant Shipping Acts relating to
Load-line which included a clause establishing a verified load line, the
line becoming known as the Plimscll mark. (See Vict. 53 and 54, Chap. 9.)

60The Maritime Contracts Bill of 1876 was re-introduced only to be withdrawn
yet again, whilst pressure of parliamentary business prevented the introduction
of a measure to deal with the relation of seamen to the Employers and Workmen
Act (Smith, p. 278.)

61

PD, 3rd Series, 232 (1877): 380; 236 (1877): 723-724.

©21h1d., 3rd Series, 237 (1878): 304-307.

831bid., 3rd Series, 237 (1878): 309-310, 609-610.
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Unable to surmount the difficulties hindering passage of the bill,
the Government was eventually obliged to postpone the measure but its
replacement, prepared for presentation in 1879, was not brought forward
during that year,64 notwithstanding Gorst's continued agitation for
Government action,65 and it finally succumbed to the dissolution of March
1880. When the issue of breach of contract and sailors' discipline was
taken up by the incoming Liberal Government, early in the first session of
the new Gladstone Parliament, Gorst resumed his agitation to bring seamen
within the provisions of the 1875 Labour Laws,66 and had the satisfaction
of seeing his long campaign for the extension achieve fulfillment in the
Merchant Seamen (Payment of Wages and Rating) Act of 1880.67

The Conservative Government's defeat in the General Election of
1880 brought to a conclusion six years of repeated but none-too~successful
attempts on their part to deal with the problems of the merchant service.
The complexity of the issues involved, the pressures from vested interests
and frequently bigoted and cautious civil servants, combined with the
Government's own adherence to classical liberal doctrines of freedom and
individualism, had produced shipping legislation which had done little te
increase the seaman's safety or improve his general welfare.68 Although
they required an extension of government interference, the measures demanded

by Plimsoll and promoted by Gorst were essentially paternalistic involving

the kind of government regulation already conceded in the fields of public

64 gmith, p. 279.

'6522, 3rd Series, 244 (1879): 297-298.

661hid., 3rd Series, 252 (1880): 955-959; 253 (1880): 791-792, 798; 254 (1880):
596-599 .

6743 and 44 Vict., Chap. 16.

®8gmith, p. 280.
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health and factory legislation. Nevertheless, even this moderate advance
in state intervention went far beyond what the majority of Conservatives
were prepared to accept and Gorst's advocacy of these reforms placed him
amongst the very tiny majority withir the party willing to accept an
expansion of government responsibility in socio-economic affairs.

Another labour reform upon which Gorst diverged from the party's
cautious position, and for which he agitated in the House, was that of
employers' liability for injuries to workmen. Labour had for several
years been endeavouring to procure legislation which would ensble workmen
to obtain adequate compensation from their employers for industrial
injuries or death resulting from negligence. A Compensation Act: had been
called for by miners as early as 1863 and by the late 'seventies the demand
for an Employers' Liability Act was the most important proposal on the
agenda of the Trades Union Congress. Labour's main objective was the
reform of the existing law of "common employment'" which held that an
employer was not liable to an employee for the injuries caused by the
negligence of a fellow-worker, a rule felt to be particularly inequitable
when the fellow-employee was a manager or foreman acting with authority
invested in him by his employer.69

In 1876, Liberal M.P. Alexander Macdonald introduced a bill to
abolish common employment but was persuaded by the Govermment to submit it
to a Select Committee. The following year the Committee reported against
the ending of common employment, prompting Macdonald, in 1878, to bring in

another bill designed to abrogate the 1aw.70 The majoricy of Conservatives

69HDwell, 1: 226-227; 2: 303-304, 422-432; Henry Pelling, A History of British

Trade Unionism, 3rd ed. (1963. Pelican Paperback, 1976), p. 86; Smith, pp. 280-281.
70

Smith, pp. 280-281.
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remained firmly opposed to the measure but this did not deter Gorst from
rising to support the bill, the only Member to do so from the Government
benches.71 After issuing a vague promise to introduce its own measure to
deal with common employment, the Government spent almost twelve months
attempting to devise a draft bill which would strike a balance between the
demands of labour and the employers’' preference for a measure relieving
them entirely from liability for injuries incurred, except by themselves
personally. A compromise bill was finally brought forward in March 1879
but made little progress and eventually expired with the dissolution.72
Fellowing the election the incoming Liberal administration
assumed responsibility for the problem, introducing an Employers' Liability
Bill as one of its first measures in the new Parliament. The Bill, which
was identical in principle to that proposed by the Conservatives in 1879,73

met with sharp criticism in the Commons, leading the Government to promise

. . . 74
its amendment in Committee. Gorst, however, attacked the measure as a

7%22, 3rd Series, 239 (1878): 1053~1054. For entire debate see ibid.,
239 (1878): 1049-1071.

728mith, pp. 281-283. The compromise bill provided for the retention of

the employer's liability to the general public but made him liable to his
employees for the negligence of '"servants in authority".

73Howe11, 2: 428-429; Pelling, pp. 85-86. The measure extended the liability
of the employer for injuries caused by defect in machinery, by negligence

of a person in superintendence, or as a consequence of obedience to employers'
rules or by-laws, but did not abolish common employment.

7422, 3rd Series, 252 (1880): 1092.
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"dqummy Bill ... which the Government was hereafter at its leisure to
fill up" and moved that debate on second reading be adjourned until "the
Government might meet in Cabinet, and might be able to lay before the
House some definite and decisive proposal on which the House might express
an opinion".75 No division was taken on second reading but the debate
convinced the Ministers that the measure required revision, leading to a
re-committal of the B:‘Lll.76

The re-committed Bill, which retained its compromise character,
became the focus of a sustained attack by Gorst and his colleagues in the
newly-formed Fourth Party.77 This offensive was conducted not only with
the intention of forcing the Government into expanding the measure beyond
its designated limits for the benefit of the workers but, also, in the
hope that it might effect within their own party a revival of Tory
democracy, which it appeared to have abandoned following the election
fiasco of 1880 in the belief that new Conservatism had spawned their defeat.78
Instead of assailing the Bill's provisions in defence of employers' rights,
a line of attack which Liberal Ministers had anticipated would erupt from

the Tory Opposition, the Fourth Party carried out their assault on the

measure in support of working-class interests. In an effort to induce the

75pp, 3rd Series, 252 (1880): 1143-1145.

781414d., 3rd Series, 252 (1880): 1282; 253 (1880): 1399-1423, 1752-1787.
See also Winston S. Churchill, Lorxd Randolph Churchill, new ed. (London,
1952), p. lle.

77See,Churchi}.l, pp. 116-120; H.E. Gorst, Fourth Party, Chap. S.

78H.E. Gorst, Fourth Partv, pp. 77-82.
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Government to render the Bill more inclusive in its scope, they conducted
a prolonged campaign of harassment against them in the House. Whenever
the measure came up for debate in the Commons, the Fourth Party were in
attendance. "There was not a single sitting from which they were absent,
or a single clause which they did not ... seek to amend".79

When the Government remained firmly opposed to the removal of the
doctrine of common employment, Gorst urged them to accept amendments
designed to modify its application in order to "put an end to those unhappy
cases in which a man was killed, or injured, by the negligence of his
fellow~servants, with whom he had no more to do than the man in the moon,
but in which he was precluded for obtaining compensation because the man
was, technically his fellow servant".so He protested against the acceptance
of a clause which limited to three years' compensation the maximum rate
of damages for injuries sustained by an employee through the negligence
of a fellow servant. Gorst objected to the provision because it applied
exclusively to workmen and because, in his view, the restriction would
prove particularly perniciocus when administered in children's claims for
in many cases the average earnings of a child over such a period would
frequently be totally inadequate recompense for the injuries received.s1

Gorst also attempted to have the measure broadened ko cover the

many categories of workers excluded from the provisions of the Bill, the

7QChurch:‘.ll, p. 117. For Gorst's participation in the debates see PD, 3rd
Series, 255 (1880): 132-136, 145, 148, 151, 159, 187, 199, 225, 228-229,
267, 281, 295, 348, 378, 388, 486-490, 519, 570-571, 1106-1107, 1110, 1158,
1160, 1179, 1180, 1182, 1189, 1223, 1332-1333, 1478-1482; 256 (1880): 1110,
1114, -

80pp, 3rd Series, 255 (1880): 235-236, 1158-1159.

8lrpid., 3ra Series, 255 (1880): 378, 388-389, 1189.



120.

consequence, he claimed, of their having 'no votes".82 He sought to obtain
a re-committal of the Bill because, as introduced, it was restricted to
manual workers, 'domestic servants, clerks, time-keepers, watchmen and
other persons not actually engaged in manual labour, though associated
with manual labourers, being thrown over as a sop to employers of labour".
Their exclusion, he alleged, "arose from the fact of their not being
sufficiently powerful to induce the Government to include them in the
Bill". He proposed an amendment to extend the Bill to workmen in the
nation's dock-~yards and arsenals. He asserted that since the Government,
under the Merchant Shipping Act, "was liable to pay compensation to a
powerful and wealthy shipowner'" for injuries sustained as a result of the
negligence of Crown officials, they should be equally responsible to dock
workers for damages sustained in common employment. Hence, if the
Government excluded these workers from the Bill, "they would establish a
flagrant instance of applying ome principle to the rich and another
pfinciple to the poor., If the Dockyard labourer had been as powerful in
that House as the shipowner he would have received consideration', declared
Gorst.83

However, the efforts of Gorst and his fellow Tory democrats to
render the measure more comprehensive and equitable were largely ignored
by the Government and only in 1897 were their proposals finally translated

into legislation by the Workmen's Compensation Act of that year.84

82pp, 3rd Series, 255 (1880): 519.

83Ibid., 3rd Series, 255 (1880): 1478-1482.

8460 and 61 Vict., Chap. 37.
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Although the mexrchant shipping measures and employers' liability
had together provided frequent opportunities for Gorst to exercise his
reforming tendencies during the Disraeli Parliament of 1874-1880, other
labour issues had commanded his support in the House during those years.
One of his earliest efforts to improve labour conditions was made on
behalf of the dockyard workers in his constituency of Chatham. He appealed
to the Government to discontinue its inequitable hiring, promotion, and
wage policies among dockyard employees, which he reported to be a source
of considerable dissatisfaction among them.85 Later, during debate on the
Factories and Workshops Bill, he supported a Liberal Member's amendment
designed to guard against the exploitation of children in workshops.86
In the winter of 1878-79, when the depression was causing great hardships
among both the industrial working class and agricultural labourers and the

Government's commitment to laissez-faire principles apparently precluded

the adoption of measures to stimulate the economy and reduce unemployment,
Gorst was amongst a handful of Tories who urged the administration to
intervene to relieve the situation. He exhorted Northcote to postpone debt
extinction so as to evade having to increase the income tax and, consequently,
. . 87
withdraw investment funds.
Thereafter, the Gladstone Parliament of 1880-1885 provided little

opportunity for Gorst to prosecute social reform issues from the Opposition

benches beyond the agitation over Employers' Liability and Merchant Shipping

850D, 3rd Series, 226 (1875): 499-500.

86Ibid., 3rd Series, 238 (1878): 319.

87Ibid., 3rd Series, 239 (1878): 1239-1242, cited in Smith, p. 305.
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Bills, conducted during the early months of the new Liberal administration.
Afterwards, ongoing crises in Irish and Imperial affairs, together with

the Government's inadequate social policy formulation and co-ordination,
resulted in a dearth of social reform legislation during Gladstone's second
ministry.88 Thus, when, in the first session of 1884, the President of the
Board of Trade, Joseph Chamberlain, introduced a Merchant Shipping Bill
designed to render more effective the Act of 1876, Gorst immediately
fastened upon the issue and, with the support of his Fourth Party colleagues,
began a crusade in the House for its passage.

When opposition from the shipping interests threatened progress
of the Bi}.l,a9 Gorst repeatedly pressed the Government to proceed with the
measure.90 He urged that the seamen as well as the shipowners be given the
opportunity to present their views on the proposals to Chamberlain.gl He
suggested to Chamberlain that the Government might expedite the passage of
the proposed legislation by taking morning sittings92 but "Mr. Chamberlain

rather sharply conveyed to him that he had better mind his own business".93

88See D.A. Hamer, Liberal Politics in the Agse of Gladstone and Rosebery
(Oxford, 1972), Chap. 4.

89Annual Register, 126 (1884), pp. 167-169; Joseph Chamberlain, A Political
Memoir, ed. C.H.D. Howard (London, 1953), pp. 101-102.

9050 3rd Series, 285 (1884): 1354; 286 (1884): 312; 287 (1884): 143, 746.
911bid., 3rd Series, 286 (1884): 1166.

92 adstone Papers, B.L., Add. MS. 44126, £.15, Gorst to Chamberlain,
8 March, 1884.

93"Speech of Lord Randolph Churchill at Birmingham', The Times, 16 April,
1884, p. 7.
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When the Governéent finally proceeded with second reading, Gorst chastised
them for showing "a very culpable remissness in not pressing this measure

on the House of Commons at a much earlier period" given the growing evidence
of loss of life at sea, as reported by their own Minister at the Board of
Trade. He accused them, further, of weakening the provisions of the original

"extraordinary negotiations"

Bill in favour of the shipowners, the outcome of
conducted between ''the authorities and the Board of Trade, assisted by the
Solicitor General and the shipowners who had seats in the House, and many
who had not”.g4 However, despite Gorst's pleas to Chamberlain that he
"address himself to the Bill with the earnest and serious intention of
passing it into law this Session”,95 the debate on second reading was
adjourned never to be resumed, the Bill being withdrawn on July 7.
Chamberlain claimed pressure of public business forced its abandonment96
"hut it was obvious that the hostility it had produced among a large section
of the habitual supporters of the Government rendered it expedient to
withdraw the measure”.97
Notwithstanding the lack of opportunities to promote social
reform iq the Commons, resulting from Parliament's concentration upon Irish
and Imperial affairs, together with the demands made upon him by his second
term of office as Principal Agent and his involvement in the National Union

controversy beginning in 1883,98 one cause which he continued to pursue

%py  3rd Series, 288 (1884): 774-782.

951bid., 3rd Series, 288 (1884): 782.

9 1hid., 3rd Series, 290 (1884): 348-367.

97 pnnual Register, 126 (1884), p. 169.

985ee PP- 74-90 above.
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throughout the Conservatives' Opposition years of 1880-1885 was that of
improving the working conditions of employees in the State dockyards.99
Consequently, early in January 1887, Gorst was able to inform his
constituents in Chatham that "Representations which he had from time to time
made in Parliament and deputations to the Secretary of the Admiralty on his
visits to the dockyards had induced the Government to enter carefully into
the question of reserved pay, with the view of adjusting many of the points
in the relations of the Government and their dockyard employés" (sic)

and to take steps to remove other grievances.loo

Because of the pertinacity with which Gorst pursued Tory democratic
interests in Parliament, along with the independence he had displayed in
executing his duties as Principal Agent and his involvement in the National
Union contreoversy, by 1885 the Conservative hierarchy had come to regard
him with unconcealed mistrust. Thereafter, Gorst's tenure as Solicitor-
General in Salisbury's short-lived first ministry served to strengthen the
ieadershiﬁs doubts concerning his reliability as a "party man', the
consequence of his posture during the debates on the Maamtrasna murders.

In 1882, in Maamtrasna, County Galway, an Irish family had been
brutally murdered and three Irishmen had subsequently been executed for the
crime and five others sentenced to penal servitude for life for their part
in the murders., Later, doubts arose concerning the validity of the verdict

and it was alleged that the prosecution had intimidated a witness in order

99PD, 3rd Series, 253 (1880): 1045-1047; 273 (1882): 460-464; 281 (1883):
1608-1611; 286 (1884): 862-863; 290 (1884): 1144-1149; 294 (1885): 251;
298 (1885): 1299; 306 (1886): 1323-1339.

lOOThe Times, 14 January, 1887, p. 8.
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to obtain the death sentence for an innocent man, but an inquiry conducted
by Lord Spencer, Liberal Lord Lieutenant, upheld the justice of the verdict.
During a Commons debate on the question in 1884, the majority of Conservatives
had rejected an Irish motion of non-confidence in Lord Spencgr but Gorst,
along with Wolff and Churchill, had voted in the minority with the Irish
Nationalists. When the Salisbury Government assumed office in 1885,
Parnell moved a resolution impugning Lord Spencer's administration and
demanding a review of the case by the new ministry. The Cabinet decided
against a review and agreed to reject Parnell's motion. In the debate,
Chancellor of the Exchequer, Hicks-Beach, duly opposed the resolution on
behalf of the Government. However, he then went on to state that the
present lord Lieutenant, Lord Carnarven, would be willing to consider any
request for a judicial review presented on behalf of the presumably wronged
defendants. From the Opposition Front Bench, Sir William Harcourt opposed
Parnell's motion, supported by loud cheering from the Tory benches, and
the Ulster Conservatives were vehement in their denunciation of the
concession offered by Hicks-Beach.lOl

Gorst, now Solicitor-General, succeeded in inflaming not only
his party but also the Queen by openly attacking Lord Spencer's handling
of the question and by referring to his Ulster colleagues who opposed

n 102

Hicks-Beach's proposal as "reactionary Ulster Members'. In his speech

Gorst not only threw over the Cabinet's decision but expressed his opinions

10l oyurenill, pp. 335-337; A. Hardinge, Life of the Fourth Earl of

Carnarvon, 3 vols. (London, 1925), 3: 167-170.

102p 3rd Series, 299 (1885): 1120-1125.
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as though these represented ministerial opinion.103 Lord Salisbury
04

described Gorst's conduct as ''quite indefensible”l and told the Queen he
had "read with great regret the speech of the Solicitor-General' and assured

her Gorst would be reprimanded.los According to Lord Cranbreok, even

Churchill disavowed Gorst's actions.106
The Maamtrasna affair doomed Gorst's chances for re-appointment

to the Solicitor-Generalship following the Tory election victory of 1886,

which followed upon the Gladstone Government's defeat on the Home Rule Bill.

lord Salisbury later acknowledged to Gorst, "I was unable to recommend you

for the post of Solicitor-General again, because at a very critical time,

as Solicitor-General, you used publicly to the Ulster supporters of the

".107 However, Salisbury did offer

Government very offensive language ...
Gorst a Judgeship, perhaps as a device to remove his troublesome presence
from the Commons, but Gorst declined, intimating that his duty to his

. . . R . . 108
constituents precluded his resignation from Parliament at that time.

Having been informed by Salisbury that his decision as to Gorst's future

lOBHardinge, p. 170.

104Lord Salisbury to Lord Carnarvon, 22 July, 1885, quoted in Hardinge, p. 170.

1OSThe Letters of Queen Victoria, ed. George E. Buckle, 2nd Series, 3 vols.
(London, 1928), 3, p. 688.

loﬁCranbrook Diary, 18 July, 1885, cited in The Governing Passion: Cabinet
Government and Party Politics in Britain, 1885-1886, ed. A.B. Cooke and
J. Vincent (Brighton, 1974), p. 278.

107Salisbury Papers, 85, Salisbury to Gorst, 9 August, 1899. See also, ibid.,
710~711, Gorst to Churchill, 29 July, 1886.

loslbid., 54, Gorst to Salisbury, 29 July, 1886.



127.

appointment would depend upon Churchill's recornmendations,lo9 Gorst

requested Lord Randolph, "for old friendship's sake”, to intercede with
the Prime Minister on his behalf: "... a word from you will resolve Lord
Salisbury's doubts and secure me the position to which your influence
originally promoted me ... T am sure you will not at a crisis like this
fail an old comrade and sincere friend of your earlier career“.llo
Gorst's confidence in his former ally proved somewhat misplaced.
Apparently Churchill no longer felt obliged to promote Gorst despite the
risks taken earlier by the latter in supporting Churchill's bid for the
party leadership. Churchill responded to Gorst's appeal by complaining to
Salisbury that Gorst was "too impractical for anything. He ought to jump
at a Judgeship”.lll However, he subsequently suggested that Gorst be
appointed Education Minister, provided this did not create difficulties

in the placing of other candidates for Government office.112 The situation

was apparently complicated by Henry Chaplin'sll3 refusal to accept the

Pregsidency of the Local Government Board. In order to aveid the formation
of a coalition between two disgruntled former Government officers, Gorst
and Chaplin,l14 which Salisbury's secretary, Manners, warned the Prime
Minister "would be a very mischievous thing",ll5 a subordinate position was

found for CGorst.

lOgSalisbury Papers, 54, Gorst to Salisbury, 29 July, 1886.

llOIbid., 710-711, Gorst to Churchill, 29 July, 1886.

1lllbid., 708, Churchill to Salisbury, 29 July, 1886.

112Ibid., 712, Churchill to Salisbury, 30 July, 1886,

11
3Chancellor, Duchy of Lancaster, in Salisbury’s First Ministry.

114Salisbury Papers, 146, A.J. Balfour to Salisbury, 1 August, 1886.

lISSaliSbury MSS, Manners to Salisbury, 1 August, 1886, quoted in A.B. Cooke
and J. Vincent, p. 455.
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Thus, Gorst was appointed Under-Secretary of State for India,

"a much less lucrative and important post' than that of Solicitor-General

and one "which was hardly adequate to his Parliamentary repute".ll7

Although his relegation to a minor post was no doubt a source of considerable
chagrin for Gorst, "he showed entire forebearance and good humour, not
allowing any expression of vexation or disappointment to escape him. And

so he buckled down to his work at the India Office”.118 The department's
permanent under-secretary described Gorst as "one of the very ablest men"

in the party who, while at his post "was very industrious, and worked very

n 119

long hours ... Even more vivid testimony to Gorst's diligence is

provided by the contemporary observations of one of his parliamentary

colleagues:

Gorst soon ... evinced a remarkable aptitude for getting up any Indian
case, great or small, which had to be presented in the House of Commons,
and some of them were great indeed. He showed skill in parrying the
blows and fencing the questions that proceed from the regular Opposition
which is springing up in the House in reference to everything Indian.
And, certainly, as representative of the India Office in the Commons, he

116Arthur Godley (Lord Kilbracken), Reminiscences of Lord Kilbracken

(London, 1931), p. 186.

117Richard Temple, Letters and Character Sketches from the House of Commons,

ed. R.C. Temple (London, 1912), p. 465.

H81hid., p. 465.

lngilbracken, p. 186.
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discharged his considerable functions right well. Indeed, on many
occasions he made speeches so effective as materiall{ to influence the
division when Indian interests have been threatened. 20

By the time of his appointment to the India Office in 1886,
Gorst's parliamentary agitation for social legislation during the previous
decade had established him as one of the Conservatives' foremost reform
advocates. However, despite what his party colleagues may have feared,
Gorst's reforming instincts at this period remained essentially paterna-
listic rather than collectivist or socialist. His continuing adherence to
Tory paternalism was aptly demonstrated in one of his parliamentary speeches
delivered at the close of the'eighties. In June of 1889, during the
committee stage of the Cruelty to Children (Prevention)Bill, the Attorney~
General, Sir Richard Webster, moved an amendment exempting children

performing in a place licensed for public entertainments, from the

prohibition against the employment of children under ten years of age.121

120Temple, pp. 465-466. The India Office's permanent under-secretary, Arthur

Godley (later Lord Kilbracken) claimed that Gorst was given great freedom

to manoever in the department because his "hardly concealed contempt" for

his superior, Lord Cross, intimidated the latter causing him to allow Gorst
to do "pretty much as he liked", in order to preserve peace between them.
(See Kilbracken, p. 186.) However, this assessment of the relationship
between Gorst and Cross can, perhaps, be questioned in light of the sentiments
expressed by Gorst to Cross following the former's appointment as Under-
Secretary. Wrote Gorst to Cross, "I had no idea when we talked last Saturday
at the Carlton that I was to begin Official life under such a friend as vyou
have always been to me". (Cross Papers, Add. MS. 51275, Gorst to Cross,

4 August, 1886, quoted in Mitchell, p. 289, emphasis added.) The description
of the acrimonious relations which Godley purports to have existed between
Cross and Gorst would perhaps be more accurately applied to the situation
prevailing between Cross and Randolph Churchill., Buring the heyday of the
Fourth Party in the early 'eighties, Churchill's aversion to Cross had run
very deep, frequently provoking him to public scorn of the latter. This
aversion remained very much in evidence at the time of Salisbury's second
ministry. (See Mitchell, p. 285; pp. 288-289.)

121pp, 3rd Series, 337 (1889): 806-807.
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After a lively debate the amendment was rejected by a majority of 49.122

However, on the Bill being reported to the House for consideration as
amended, the Member for Stockport, L.J. Jennings, proposed an amendment
almost identical to that of Webster's, but limited to theatres and excluding
acrobatic and gymnastic performances. Jennings claimed that "the clause as
it stands was adopted somewhat suddenly by the Committee” and under a mis-
conception of the facts. The Bill, he stated, "js a Bill for the prevention
of cruelty to children, but it has never been alleged either out of doors
or in this House, that any cruelty to children has been practised in
theatres”.123
In the ensuing debate, which was conducted across party lines,
opponents of the amendment protested the relaxing of the prohibition against
the employment of children under ten; they argued that children engaged in
theatrical performances laboured under severe educational disadvantages
and painted a vivid picture of the evil influences exerted by the stage
upon young children. For their part, supporters of the measure denied
that children employed in theatres were physically, educationally, and
morally deprived. They quoted evidence, derived from inquiries into such
employment, to illustrate that the work itself was neither uncongenial nor
excessively strenuous, that facilities for training and educating children
were adequate, and that children who began their theatrical training at an
early age developed a business-like approach to their occupation and were

less likely to drift into an immoral life than those who entered the theatre

12232, 3rd Series, 337 (1889): 806-820.

123115d., 3rd Series, 338 (1889): 6.
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in their late teens. They pointed out, moreover, that theatrical children

were usually drawn from the poorest backgrounds and, thus, employment in

" the theatres, which provided them with the opportunity to develop habits

of cleanliness and order as well as much-needed remuneration, should not

be denied them. On the contrary, declared Jennings, "anything which takes

them, even for a time, from their misery and degradation should be welcomed

as an alleviation of the hardships of their lot".124
Gorst was drawn into the debate in response to the arguments of

the Member for Cirencester, A.B. Winterbotham. The latter, who protested

against the exemption proposed, based his opposition largely on moral

considerations:

I am not afraid of being told that I am in favour of grandmotherly
legislation when I advocate the protection of these children of tender
years from being brought up to this profession by special relaxation of the
law. What becomes of them? They grow up as ballet girls, and what becomes
of ballet girls? - I am sorry to say - that the majority of these poor

girls go on the streets; .. it is as a Christian I am going to vote; it
is in the cause of 'these little ones' so dear to Christ that we plead
for today ... it is because I believe the moral and spiritual welfare of

these dear little children of 6, 7 and 8 years old is involved that I am
going to vote against the Amendment.

Inherent in Winterbotham's statements was the intimation that the
poor were incapable of exercising suitable parental discretion in the matter
of their offspring's employment on account of their intrinsic moral turpitude,
an attitude compatible with Victorian society's widely-held assumption that

poverty was the outcome of individual weakness of character,126 and, thus,

1245y 3rd Series, 338 (1889): 12.

123144d., 3rd Series, 338 (1889): 25-28.

126Michael Rose, The Relief of Poverty, 1834-1914 (London, 1972), pp. 7-8.
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it was the duty of the state to act in_loco parentis. Winterbotham's

posture so infuriated Gorst, he rose to object to the former's "affectation
of moral superiority" in dealing with the amendment and to protest his
assumption that "he and those who agree with him ... have a right to tell
parents how their children should be brought up and to exercise through
this House in a vicarious way the duties which in reality belong to the
parents themselves”. 1In his view, opponents of the amendment had been
unable to substantiate their claims as to cruelties practised in the theatres
on the degenerative effects of theatrical life on young children and, thus,
he asserted, '"no case has been made out for State interference of this
character with the usual employment of children of the poor ...". On the
contrary argued Gorst, such interference, "in the name of Christianity and
benevolence", would increase rather than lessen the hardships suffered by
the poor by depriving them of the financial assistance derived from their
children's temporary employment during the winter months. 'There are
hundreds and thousands of children in the Metropolis whose employment in
this way helps to lighten the struggles of their parents with cold and
hunger and all the other difficulties which beset the lives of the poorer
classes', alleged Gorst, "and therefore it would be an act of tyranny ...
to shut the door to such employment, and determine that these children
shall be deprived of the opportunity of assisting their parents in obtaining
their daily bread". Consequently, Gorst urged - '"'upon the doctrine that
the hon. and learned Gentleman is disposed to sneer at'" - that the State
lJeave the responsibility of parents untouched unless a clear case for

interference could be made out.127 Although, as the Times conceded, '"there

127pp . 3rd Series, 338 (1889): 28-31.
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was manifestly a great deal to be said on either side" of the question,l28

the amendment was rejected by 188 to 134.129
Although while pursuing his reform campaign in the House Gorst
had pressed successive governments to adopt a more positive role in the
formulation of social policy, his response to Jennings' amendment shows
that his concept of that role continued to be influenced by Tory paternalism.

Though he eschewed the dogmatic non-interventionist principles of orthodox

laissez-faire ideology, arguing that it was the government's duty to

mitigate social and industrial misery through remedial legislation, it was
the removal of the worst abuses of the current socio-economic system -
rather than radical changes in its direction - which Gorst was advocating
in the 'seventies and 'eighties. However, shortly thereafter, his conception
of the government's role in socio-economic affairs was to undergo modification as
a consequence of his exposure to Continental thinking on social legislation.
In 1890, Salisbury appointed Gorst Plenipotentiary at the
130

International Labour Conference to be held in Berlin during that month.

As Prime Minister of a Conservative Government, Salisbury no doubt felt it

1281e Times, 11 July, 1889, p. 9.

lzggg, 3rd Series, 338 (1889): 38. During the Bill's passage through the
Lords, the prohibitory clause was amended to allow a court of summary
jurisdiction permission to sanction employment of children over seven in
theatres once the court was satisfied that provision had been made to
secure the health and solicitous care of the children. (Ibid., 3rd Series,
339 [18891: 273-302.)

130pp 1890, 81: 539. Salisbury to Gorst, 13 March, 1890.
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imperative that he include in the British delegation not only experienced
representatives of the British Labour Movement but, also, a prominent
member of his own administration who was known to be an active proponent
of working-class interests, as a measure of the Government's™ good faith
at a time when labour questions were assuming unprecedented importance

131 Thus, it is likely that these considerations

both in Britain and abroad.
prompted Salisbury's selection of Gorst to the British delegation to the
Conference. However, it is also likely that Salisbury was later to regret
this choice for it transpired that Gorst's attendance at the Conference
not only reinforced his commitment to Tory democracy but rendered him
more than ever determined to seek further advances in social legislation
on behalf of the working classes, a goal which would once again bring him

into conflict with the Tory leadership and estrange him even further from

the party.

lBlFor the situation in Britain see Bentley B. Gilbert, The Evolution of
National Insurance in Great Britain (London, 1966), Chap. 1; H.M. Lynd,
England in the Eighteen Eighties (Oxford, 1945), pp. 237-298; Donald Read,
England 1868-1914 (London, 1979), pp. 323-335.




CHAPTER IV

THE WORKINGMEN'S ADVOCATE

The International Labour Conference held in Berlin during March
1890 had been convened by the Emperor of Germany, Wilhelm II, in response
to the growing militancy of European labour movements. He intended to bring
together representatives of "all the Governments who evince the same interest
in the Labour question ... for the purpose of further discussing it in detail”
with a view to reaching mutual agreement upon possible measures to satisfy
workers' demands.l The extent to which Wilhelm's concern over rising working-
class agitation was shared by other Eurcpean governments was perhaps reflected
in their strong participation in the Conference; delegates from fourteen nations
assembled together in Berlin for the opening meeting March 15.2 However,
according to Gorst, the British Government's decision to attend the meeting

was prompted to some extent by econcmic considerations:

There was -~ an idea prevalent among manufacturers in this country that
‘they were handicapped in their competition with foreigners by the benevolent
provisions of our laws, and that if foreign states could be persuaded to
enact like protection for their people it would be beneficial to British
industry. This opinion, although no doubt errcneous, may have had scomething
to do with the readiness of the Government, which was £falling more and more
under capitalist influence, to take part in the Conference.3

1Correspondence respecting the Proposed Labour Conference at Berlin (Cmnd.
5914), PP, 1890, 81: 531.

2The countries participating were: Germany, Austria-Hungary, Belgium, Denmark,
Spain, France, Great Britain, Italy, Luxemburg, the Netherlands, Portugal,
Sweden, Norway and Switzerland. (See Further Correspondence respecting the
International Labour Conference at Berlin (Cmnd. 6042), PP, 1890, 81l: 545.)

3J.E. Gorst, "Introduction' to Frances E. Greville, Countess of Warwick,
A Nation's Youth. Physical Deterioration: Its Causes and Some Remedies
(London, 1906), p. X.
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The Government's optimism with regard to possible reciprocal social legisla-
tion arising out of the Conference had no doubt been kindled by the
pronouncements in Wilhelm's decrees inaugurating the gathering in which he
stated his desire to extend factory legislation in accordance with workers'
wishes, and by the proposed programme of subjects to be discussed at the
Conference which included the regulation of labour in mines, Sunday labour,
and the working conditions of children, youths and females,é'matters which
had already been subject to legislation in Britain.

Although eagerness to enhance its own trade position vis a vis its
foreign competitors, at a time of relative economic stagnation for British
industry5 apparently played a role in the British decision to participate
in the Conference, late nineteenth century political developments - which
required that governments display at the very least concern for working
class interests - no doubt contributed to Salisbury's willingness to send a
British contingent to Berlin. From the eighteen eighties politicians were
’faced with the reality of the growing political power of an increasingly
organized and enfranchised working class. The enfranchisement of urban
workers in 1867, and of agricultural labourers in 1884, increased the
political influence of the masses at the expense of '"men of property",

bringing parliamentary democracy one step closer. At the same time, economic

QCorrespondence respecting the Proposed labour Conference at Berlin (Cmnd.
5914), PP, 1890, 81: 534.

5See, Francois Crouzet, The Victorian Economy, trans. Anthony Foster (New
York, 1982), Chap. 12. S.B. Saul, The Myth of the Great Depression,
1873-1896 (London, 1969), pp. 36-52,
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and political developments within the labour movement indicated that the
working classes were learning the value of class solidarity in their struggle
for social and economic advancement. By 1890 the Trades Union Congress,
first formed in 1868, had achieved a mémbership of clogse to one-and-a-half
million6 and in the wake of the 1889 Dock Strike large numbers of unskilled,
and formerly unorganized workers, were incorporated into the trade-union
movement via the so-called "mew unionism”.7

The organization of labour as an economic interest group began
to be duplicated also in the political sphere. A resurgence of British
socialism during the eighteen eighties re-established the British socialist
movement, which had been in abeyance since the decline of Chargism in the
eighteen fifties. By the end of the decade the new wave of socialist activity
had succeeded in establishing several new socialist societies, most notably
the Social Democratic Federation8 and the Fabian Society.9 Thus, by the
final decades of the nineteenth century, working class political power,
whether expressed through socialist societies or the organized Labour
movement, appeared to pose a potentially dangerous threat to the ruling elite,
causing politicians to adopt a more sympathetic attitude towards workers'
interests. Although neither the Conservatives nor the Liberals were coerced

into introducing social legislation as a result of massive working-class

6B.C. Roberts, The Trades Union Congress (London, 1958), Appendix 2, p. 379.

7I-Ienry Pelling, A History of British Trade Unionism, 3rd ed. (Pelican ed.
1976), Chap. 16. Hereafter referred to as Pelling, British Trade Unionism.
See also, Keith Burgess, The Challenge of Tabour: Shaping British Society,
1850-1930 (London, 1980), pp.64=72.

8See: Eric Hobsbawm, "Hyndman and the S.D.F'", in Labouring Men (Weidenfeld
Goldback ed., London, 1968), pp. 231-238. Chuschichi Tsuzuki, H.H. Hyndman and
British Socialism (London, 1964).

9See: A.M. McBriar, Fabian Socialism and English Politics, 1884-1918 (London, 1962)
Stanley Pierson, "The Fabians", in Marxism and the Origins of British Socialism
{(Ithaca, 1973), pp. 106-139.
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pressure or the fear of revolutionlo - though the bogey of socialism remained
to haunt both parties throughout the Edwardian years - both contrived to
implement specific legislation as a means of obtaining tactical advantage
over rival parties. With the establishment of the popular vote, neither
party was prepared to be outbid in auctions on what a carefully ordered State
could obtain for its citizens.ll

It was this form of expediency which produced the pragmatic
collectivist welfare measures of Salisbury's second administration.12
Although he was not unsympathetic towards the plight of the poor, Salisbury
was a reluctant reformer. He was a staunch upholder of Smilesian orthodoxy,
believing that the aim of social legislation should be the promotion of self
help; he had little faith in the 'wholesale reformation of society through

. 13 . .
the operations of government". However, in order to retain an electoral

IOSee: Jose Harris, Unemployment and Politics: A Study in English Social
Politics, 1886-1914 (Oxford, 1972), pp. 54~56. For a contrasting view of the
effects of working-class activism on British social policy see: K.D. Brown,
"Conflict in Early British Welfare Policy: The Case of the Unemployed Workmen
Bill of 1905", in Journal of Modern History, 43 (1971): 615-629.

llSee, P.F, Clarke, Lancashire and the New Liberalism (Cambridge, 1971).
Eric J. Evans, Social Policv 1830-1914: Individualism, Collectivism and the
Origins of the Welfare State (London, 1978), p. l4. D.A. Hamer, Liberal
Politics in the Age of Gladstone and Rosebery (Oxford, 1972), pp. 219-220.

lzThe major reforms enacted were the Local Government Act of 1888; Housing of

the Working-Classes Act (1890); an education measure, the Fee Grant Act of
1891; and modest land reforms, the Allotments Act of 1887 and the Small-
holdings Act of 1892, See: Roy Douglas, Land People and Politics: A History
of the Iand Question jin the United Kipngdom, 1878-1952 (London, 1976), pp.
184-185. E. Gauldie, Cruel Habitations: A History of Working-Class Housing,
1780-1918 (London, 1974), pp. 293-294. H.M, Lynd, England in the Eighteen
Eighties (Oxford, 1945), pp. 165-174. H.J Perkins, "Land Reform and Class
Conflict in Victorian Britain'" in The Victorians and Social Protest, eds.

J., Butt and I.F., Clark (Newton Abbot, 1973), pp. 177-217.

13Lord Salisbury on Polities, ed. Paul Smith (Cambridge, 1972), pp. 47-53.
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edge over the Liberals, Salisbury, after 1886, was prepared to advance certain
measures even when he was opposed to them in principle.l4 Thus, the handful
of measures enacted between 1886-1892 were largely dictated by political
necessity.

It was probably with an eye to similar political advantage that
Salisbury sanctioned his government's participation at the International
Labour Conference. Thus, writing to Gorst on the eve of his departure for
Berlin, Salisbury noted that the Labour question was “one of deepest importance"
and enjoined that "every proposal which promises an improvement in the
condition of the factories and mines will naturally receive the most attentive
consideration at your hands" However, at the same time, he instructed Gorst
not to support proposals which transgressed traditional British government
social policy: '"... You are familiar with the efforts which have been made
in this direction for two generations back by the Parliament of this country,
and you will not be dispesed to readily accept benevolent projects which
fravel beyond the well-considered limits within which the legislation in this
country has uniformly confined its interference'. He urged Gorst to focus the
attention of his fellow delegates "upon such plans and suggestions as may give .
a hope of benefitting the labouring man without interfering with the freedom

of 1abour".15

14Paul Adelman, Gladstone, Disraeli and Later Victorian Politics (London, 1970),
pp. 71-72., Robert Blake, The Conservative Party from Peel to Churchill (London,
1970, Fontana Paperback ed., London, 1976), pp. 161-162. Desire for party
harmony was an additional factor prompting Salisbury's venture into social
legislation. Following the entry of the Liberal Unionists into the Conservative
Party, in 1886, he recognised that in order to retain their support some social
reform megsures would have to be enacted. At the same time, the demands of the
reformist elements within the party itself had to be satisfied.

15The Marquis of Salisbury to Sir J. Gorst, 13 March, 1890, Further Corres-
pondence respecting the International Labour Conference at Berlin {Cmnd. 6042),
PP, 1890, 81: 539-540.
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However, Salisbury's directives cautioning Gorst against accepting
imprudent resolutions was to prove largely redundant. Most of the proposals
which emerged from the deliberations of the two-week Conference were already
covered by the British Factory Acts}6 Compared with the language of the
original decrees from Wilhelm inaugurating the Conference,l7 the recommendations
which evolved from its meetings were relatively modest. For example, the
burning question of the limitation of the hours of adult male labour was
reduced to the proposal that the duration of shifts in mines, where labour
was considered to be injurious to health, be restricted by law or in accordance
with agreements made between employers and employed.}'8 4s one skeptic

", .. philanthropic rhetoric, however sincere its inspira-

afterwards observed,
tion, could not possibly alter the hard facts of economic science, and ...
the moment the delegates attempted to deal with the problem of how to mitigate
the fury of industrial competition" they recognized ''that to do so was the
very last thing they really Wanted".l9
In one area, however, that concerned with the protection afforded to
children, certain resolutions were in advance of British legislation. To one
such propesal, establishing 12 years as the minimum age at which children

might be employed in industrial occupations, the British delegation, with

Salisbury's endorsement, gave their full Support.20 However, a proposition

16Final Protocol of the International Conference on Labour in Factories and
Mines (Cmnd. 6042), PP, 1890, 81: 718-720.

17See, the Times, 6 February, 1890, p. 5.

18, .
Final Protocol of the International Conference on Labour in Factories

and Mines (Cmnd. 6042), PP, 1890, 81: 718.

Drhe Economist, 48 (April, 1890): 425-426.

0
2 Gorst to Salisbury, 19 March, 1890. Salisbury to Gorst, 20 March, 1890.

Further Correspondence respecting the Internationmal Labour Conference at
Berlin (Cmnd. 6042), PP, 1890, 81: 548~549.
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that children bé required to complete their elementary education up to a
prescribed standard before being allowed to work was firmly opposed by the
British, such a proposal being incompatible with the maintenance of England's
current "half-time" system.21 Consequently, when the Swiss proposed that the
Conference recommendations be enforced by international legislation, the
British delegation spearheaded opposition to the motion22 and succeeded in
obtaining adoption of a less drastic resolution, introduced by Germany, which
was incorporated into the Final Protocol along with the following directive:
"In case the Governments should give effect to the labours of the Conference,
the following provisions are recommended .5.".23 Thus, the British delegation
had succeeded in "reserving to the Parliament of Great Britain the right
ultimately to pronounce on this important question" of labour in factories.24
Following the conclusion of the Conference the Times rather smugly
observed that, because of Britain's relatively advanced state of factory
legislation, any subsequent enactment of the Conference resolutions "would
more affect the well-being of the working class on the Continent than in
Great Britain".25 However, the Government soon found themselves obliged to
take action on several proposals, albeit reluctantly, as a result of Gorst's

. . 26
determination to see them advanced. Moreover, the subsequent development of

2libid., pp. 550-551, p. 561.

2214id., p. 626.

231bid., pp. 620-621, p. 623, p. 720.

2%22, 3rd Series, 354 (1891): 863. Speech of Sir John Gorst.

25The Times, 31 March, 1890, p. 5.

26
See p. 154, pp. 158-159 below.
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British social policy was to be affected, in the long term, as a result of
the Conference's impact upon Gorst personally. Participation in the Conference
debates, where he was brought into contact with the proponents of the
"practical socialism" of the Continent, made a deep and lasting impression
on Gorst. This exposure to European socialists' ideas and aspirations served
to increase his awareness of the many areas of British social policy still
requiring development in order that a material improvement in the conditions
of the working classes might be effected and he returned to Britain determined
to do his utmost to initiate programmes through which Britain might move into
the vanguard of European social action for the benefit of the masses.27

An additional influence which no doubt served to strengthen Gorst's
commitment to social reform at this period was the University Settlement
movement with which he had become acquainted through his friendship with
Canon and Mrs. Samuel Barnett, founders of the first settlement ~ Toynbee
Hall.28 Whilst his wife was visiting New Zealand in 1890, Gorst made Toynbee
Hall his home when Parliament was in session and there gained "a close insight
into the life of a great industrial centre".29 Daily contact with London's
East~End slums, within which Toynbee Hall was situated, could not but increase
Gorstfs awareness of the realities of poverty and reinforce his determination
to further working-class welfare, Thereafter he maintained his close association

with the settlement, spending in residence tthere some portion of each week the

2 s
7Sallsbury Papers, 64, Gorst to Salisbury, 31 March, 1890. "Social Politics

in England: An Interview with Sir John Gorst', in Review of Reviews (New York),
3 (April, 1891): 266-270. Hereafter referred to as '"Social Politics in England".
28

For an account of the founding of Toynbee Hall see: S.A. and H.O. Barnett,
"The Beginning of Toynbee Hall" in Towards Social Reform (New York, 1909),
pp. 239-254.

29
H.0. Barnett, Cgnon Barnett: His Life. W and Friend
a Lhs Hi ife. Work ri s, 2 1s,
2, p.44. Hereafter referred to as H.O. Barnett, Canon Ba;netg? °+ (London, 1918),
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the Commons was sitting, a practice he continued up to 1903, and he became
an enthusiastic supporter of the Settlement movement in England and America.30
In addition to its philanthropic role, Toynbee Hall also functioned as a
forum for debate on social problems and for ideological and philosophical
interaction between resident and non-resident intellectuals of various
political creeds, particularly Liberals and moderate Socialists.Bl Gorst's
participation in these exchanges undoubtedly provided him with a wealth of
ideas which he conceivably found valuable when formulating his own social
policies.32

The stimulus to social action Gorst received from his attendance
at the Berlin Conference and his contact with Toynbee Hall was reinforced by
a growing conviction on his part that more positive government intervention
was required in order to effect an improvement in the social condition of the
people,33 a sentiment that was gaining increasing support by the final decade
of the century. The development of this new attitude towards the role of the
'State was generated by the mounting social and economic problems with which
Britajn was afflicted after 1880. By this period, social and economic crises

had begun to erode British confidence in laissez-faire, the principle which

301bid, pp. 44~50. See also: J.E. Gorst, "Settlements in England and America'
[Address delivered to the University of Glasgow, November 2, 1894] in
Universities and the Social Problem, ed. J.M. Knapp (Ilondon, 1895), pp. 3-29.
J.A.R. Pimlott, Toynbee Hall: Fifty Years of Social Progress. 1884-1934 (London,
1935), pp. 52-53.

3]'See: K.S. Inglis, Churches and the Working Classes in Victoriam Engiland
(London, 1963), pp. 163~164. Pimlott, pp. 51-71.

32Henrietta Barnett observed that, when at Toynbee Hall, Gorst "... hugely
enjoyed the youthfulness of the men, and the go and stir of the place and ...
rejoiced in being asked questions and in expounding his views, which did not
exactly fall into party lines or bear recognised labels'. [H.O. Barnett, Canon
Barnett, pp. 47-48.]

33,..
"Sir John Gorst on the Labour Question', Chatham and Rochester News, 14

Februarvy. 1891, p. 5.
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governed that State's policy of minimal intervention in national life.34 As

confidence waned the simple assumptions which had buttressed the laissez-faire

ideal began to be questioned and gradually came to be regarded as unacceptable.
The view that poverty was the result of perscnal failing - the consequence of
idleness or improvidence - and, thus, to be relieved only through charity

or moral upgrading, gradually fell into disrepute largely as a result of the
weight of evidence produced by social investigation.35 The first-hand

36 particularly the work of Charles

studies of poverty conducted after 1870,
Booth, were instrumental in discrediting the idea that poverty was the outcome
of moral failing and supplied the evidence from which a strong case for

government assistance could be made. Furthermore, the nineteenth-century

belief in the competitive ethic's ability to bring about automatic and ever-
p y

348@&, Derek Fraser, The Evolution of the British Welfare State (London, 1973),
Chap. 5.

33graser, Chap. 6. Michael Rose, The Relief of Poverty, 1834~1914 (London, 1972),
pp. 13-13, 20-30.

36The scale of the problem of poverty was initially brought to light as a result
of investigations conducted during the 'seventies by the Charity Organization
Society. [See: Judith Fido, "The Charity Organization Society and Social Casework
in London, 1869-1900", in Social Control in Nineteenth-Century Britain, ed.

A.P. Donajgrodzki (London, 1977), pp. 207-230.] Thereafter, public attention was
kept focussed upon the problem during the 'eighties by a succession of books and
surveys. These publications included: Henry George, Progress and Poverty (London,
1891); Andrew Mearns, The Bitter Cry of Qutcast London. An Enquiry into the
Condition of the Abject Poor (London, 1883); G.R. Sims, How the Poor Live and
Horrible London (London, 1889); William Booth, In Darkest England and the Way Out
(London, 1890); Charles Booth, "The Inhabitants of Tower Hamlets (School Board
Division}, Their Condition and QOccupations', Journal of the Roval Statistical
Society, 50 (1887): 375-376. Charles Booth, The Iife and Labour of the People

of london, 17 vols., (London, 1889-1902): 1. Poverty.
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increasing wealth and progress began to falter as prices fell, industry

stagnated and profits dwindled during the "Great Depression’ of the 'eighteen-
